
 

 
 

 
 

 
  Shropshire Council 

Legal and Democratic Services 
Guildhall, 
Frankwell Quay,  

Shrewsbury  
SY3 8HQ 

   
Date:   Tuesday, 3 March 2026 
 

 
Committee:  

Cabinet 
 
Date: Wednesday, 11 March 2026 

Time: 10.30 am 
Venue: The Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Frankwell Quay, Shrewsbury, SY3 8HQ 

 
You are requested to attend the above meeting. The Agenda is attached  
 

There will be some access to the meeting room for members of the press and public, but this will 
be limited. If you wish to attend the meeting please email democracy@shropshire.gov.uk to check 

that a seat will be available for you.  
 
Please click here to view the livestream of the meeting on the date and time stated on the agenda. 

(Please note that while we strive to live stream meetings, technical issues may occasionally occur. 
In the event of a technical disruption, the meeting will be paused to try to resolve the issue. Should 

it not be possible to resume the live stream, the meeting will proceed as scheduled, and a backup 
recording will be made available after the meeting. Any disruption to the live stream does not 
affect the legality of the meeting). 

 
The recording of the event will also be made available shortly after the meeting on the Shropshire 

Council Youtube Channel Here 
 
 

Tim Collard Service Director – Legal, Governance and Planning 
 

Members of Cabinet 

Heather Kidd 
Alex Wagner 

Bernie Bentick 
Roger Evans 

Andy Hall 
Ruth Houghton 
James Owen 

Rob Wilson 
David Vasmer 

David Walker 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democracy@shropshire.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/user/ShropshireCouncil/featured
https://www.youtube.com/user/ShropshireCouncil/streams


 

 

 
Your Committee Officer is:  

 
Ashley Kendrick  Democratic Services Officer 

Tel:   01743 250893 
Email:   ashley.kendrick@shropshire.gov.uk 



 

 

AGENDA 
 
1  Apologies for Absence  

 

 
2  Disclosable Interests  

 
Members are reminded that they must declare their disclosable pecuniary interests and 
other registrable or non-registrable interests in any matter being considered at the 

meeting as set out in Appendix B of the Members’ Code of Conduct and consider if they 
should leave the room prior to the item being considered. Further advice can be sought 

from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 

3  Minutes (Pages 1 - 12) 

 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2026. 

 
4  Public Question Time  

 

To receive any questions from members of the public, notice of which has been given in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 14. Deadline for notification is not later than 12 noon on 

Thursday 5 March 2026. 
 

5  Member Question Time  

 
To receive any questions from Members of the Council. Deadline for notification is not 

later than 12 noon on Thursday 5 March 2026. 
 

6  Scrutiny Items  

 
 

7  Financial Monitoring Period 10  

 
Lead Member: Councillor Roger Evans – Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
Lead Officer: Duncan Whitfield – Interim Executive Director (S151) 

 
REPORT TO FOLLOW 

 

8  Counter Fraud Options  

 

Lead Member: Councillor Roger Evans – Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Lead Officer: Duncan Whitfield – Interim Executive Director (S151) 

 
REPORT TO FOLLOW  

 
9  Local Nature Recovery Strategy (Pages 13 - 32) 

 

Lead Member: Councillor David Walker - Portfolio Holder for Planning 
 

Lead Officer: Matt Farmer - Public Health, Biodiversity and Emergency Planning Manager 
 



 

 

10  Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

(Pages 33 - 140) 

 
Lead Member: Councillor David Walker – Portfolio Holder for Planning 

 
Lead Officer: Eddie West - Planning Policy and Strategy Manager 
 

11  The Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Fund - Funding Opportunity  

 

Lead Member: David Vasmer - Portfolio Holder for Highways and Environment 
 
Lead Officer: Andy Wilde – Service Director – Infrastructure 

 
REPORT TO FOLLOW 

 
12  Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies (Pages 141 - 150) 

 

Lead Member: Councillor Rob Wilson - Portfolio Holder for Transport & Economic Growth 
 

Lead Officer: Hayleigh Deighton – Strategic Partnerships Manager 
 

13  Date of Next Meeting  

 
To note that the next meeting is scheduled to take place on Wednesday 15 April 2026. 

 



 

 

 Committee and Date 

 
Cabinet 
 

11 March 2026 

 
CABINET 

 
Minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2026 

In the  Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Frankwell Quay, Shrewsbury, SY3 8HQ 
10.00 am 
 

Responsible Officer:    Ashley Kendrick 

Email:  ashley.kendrick@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 250893 

 
Present  

Councillors Heather Kidd (Chair), Alex Wagner, Bernie Bentick, Roger Evans, Andy Hall, 

James Owen, Rob Wilson, David Vasmer, David Walker and Sarah Marston (substitute for 
Ruth Houghton) 

 
In attendance 

Councillors Brendan Mallon (Deputy Leader of Reform UK), Rosemary Dartnall (Group 

Leader – Labour), Duncan Kerr (Group Leader – Green & Progressive Independents – via 
Teams), Ed Potter. 

Tanya Miles – Interim Chief Executive, Rachel Robinson - Executive Director for Public 
Health, Tim Collard – Service Director for Legal, Governance & Planning, Mannie Ketley – 
Finance Director (via Teams), Clare Williams – Deputy S151 Officer (via Teams), Paul 

Clarke – Service Director for Strategy & Change (via Teams), Duncan Whitfield – Interim 
Director for Financial Improvement, Ashley Kendrick – Democratic Services Officer 
 
117 Apologies for Absence  

 

Apologies had been received from Councillors Ruth Houghton (substituted by Councillor 
Sarah Marston, Deputy Portfolio Holder for Social Care), Dawn Husemann (Group Leader 
– Reform UK) and Dan Thomas (Group Leader – Conservatives). 

 
118 Disclosable Interests  

 
With regard to Agenda Item 17 Councillor Rob Wilson declared an interest as he was the 
Leader of Shrewsbury Town Council and stated that although he had a dispensation he 

would leave the room and take no part in the debate or vote. 
 

With regard to Agenda item 17 Councillors David Vasmer and Bernie Bentick declared an 
interest as they were members of Shrewsbury Town council but stated that they had a 
dispensation which allowed them to participate in the discussion and vote 

 
With regard to Agenda item 17 Councillors James Owen and David Walker declared an 

interest as they were members of Oswestry Town council but stated that they had a 
dispensation which allowed them to participate in the discussion and vote 
 

With regard to Agenda Item 17 Councillor Alex Wagner declared an interest as he was a 
member of Shrewsbury town Council but stated that as he took no part in the decision 

making at the Town Council level he was able to vote. 
 Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 2 

 

Councillor Rosemary Dartnall also advised that she was a member of Shrewsbury Town 
Council 

 
With regard to Agenda item 19 Councillors James Owen and David Walker declared an 

interest as they were members of Oswestry Town Council and stated that would leave the 
room and take no part in the debate or vote. 
 
119 Minutes  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2026 be confirmed as an accurate 

record. 
 
120 Public Question Time  

 
One public question had been received: 

 
John Palmer, in relation to domestic abuse support. In response to a supplementary 

question, members confirmed their agreement that domestic abuse was a national 
emergency. 
 

The full question and response can be found here - Response to Public Questions - 
Cabinet 11.2.26.pdf 

 
121 Member Question Time  

 

One members’ question had been received: 
 

Councillor Rosemary Dartnall, in relation to the North West Relief Road. In response to 
concerns raised, the Portfolio Holder acknowledged that there had been insufficient 
historic oversight of the project and that there was a need for a full review of spending and 

improved contract management. A lessons learnt activity would be carried out through 
future scrutiny activity. 

 
The full question and response can be found here - Response to Members Questions - 
Cabinet 11.2.26.pdf 

 
122 Scrutiny Items  

 
a Scrutiny Item - Partnership Working Task and Finish Group Update  

 

In the absence of the Chair of the Task and Finish Group, Councillor Ed Potter presented 
the second report of the Partnership Working Task and Finish Group. Members were 

advised that Phase Two of the group’s work had focused on engagement with town and 
parish councils, particularly in relation to partnership working and the proposed devolution 
of certain services. Due to the distinct nature of this work, the devolution agenda would be 

progressed separately from the wider partnership review. 
 

Page 2

https://shropshire.gov.uk/committee-services/documents/s43696/Response%20to%20Public%20Questions%20-%20Cabinet%2011.2.26.pdf
https://shropshire.gov.uk/committee-services/documents/s43696/Response%20to%20Public%20Questions%20-%20Cabinet%2011.2.26.pdf
https://shropshire.gov.uk/committee-services/documents/s43695/Response%20to%20Members%20Questions%20-%20Cabinet%2011.2.26.pdf
https://shropshire.gov.uk/committee-services/documents/s43695/Response%20to%20Members%20Questions%20-%20Cabinet%2011.2.26.pdf


Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 3 

 

Feedback highlighted differing needs between rural and urban areas, concerns about 
capacity and resources within town and parish councils, and the importance of clear 

communication, trust and tangible benefits in any future partnership arrangements. It was 
emphasised that partnership models should avoid unnecessary bureaucracy and build on 

existing good practice. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

That Cabinet endorse the recommendations of the Task and Finish Group set out below: 

 
Recommendation 1 – A collaborative approach to a data audit between town and parish 
councils and Shropshire Council is essential to understanding expectations of one 

another. This needs to include clarity over what the statutory minimum is, a joint mapping 
of services and a clear understanding of service provision. 

 
Recommendation 2 - Ensure that work undertaken with town and parish councils is 
transparent and honest, with the aim of reaching a mutually beneficial arrangement that 

doesn’t risk erosion of any previous good will arrangements by imposing too much 
bureaucracy and oversight. 

 
Recommendation 3 – Allow Town and Parish Councils to be involved in the joint 
development of any proposed Partnership arrangements, working together to provide 

clear benefits for local communities, alleviating some of the town and parish concerns 
highlighted in this report. 

 
Recommendation 4 – Provide regular communication with town and parish councils and 
look to improve ways in which they can communicate more easily with Shropshire Council 

officers and service areas. 
 
123 Estimated Collection Fund Outturn For 2025/2026  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented the estimated collection fund outturn, 

highlighting a projected shortfall in council tax income due to increased bad debt provision.  
 

Members were advised that the council was adding capacity to the Revenues and Benefits 
team to clear old debts and improve collection rates, with plans to review and potentially 
write off unrecoverable debts by the end of the financial year. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

That Cabinet: 
 

1. Noted the overall Collection Fund estimated deficit of £4.022m for the year ending 
31st March 2026, comprised of an estimated deficit of £1.465m for Council Tax and 

an estimated deficit of £2.557m for Non-Domestic Rates (NDR).  
 

2. Noted the distribution of the Collection Fund estimated deficit for Council Tax and 

NDR to the major/relevant precepting authorities and the Secretary of State.  
 

Page 3



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 4 

 

3. Noted Shropshire Council’s share of the overall estimated deficit of £2.446m, 
comprised of an estimated deficit of £1.206m for Council Tax and an estimated 

deficit of £1.240m for NDR.  
 

4. Noted the inclusion of Shropshire Council’s share of the overall estimated deficit for 
Council Tax and NDR in the 2026/27 budget. 

 
124 Fees and Charges 2026/27  

 

The Portfolio Holder for Finance introduced the report which presented the budgeted 
income to be received and proposed the level of fees and charges to be applied by 
Shropshire Council in 2026/27. 

 
Concerns were raised about the competitiveness of planning pre-application fees 

compared to neighbouring authorities, with a commitment to review specific cases and 
consider the impact on economic growth and inward investment. 
 

Members noted that no increases to parking charges or home-to-school transport fees 
were included, with ongoing reviews to ensure fairness and cost-effectiveness, particularly 

for rural residents. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Culture and Leisure highlighted the freezing of wedding venue 

fees at council-owned cultural sites, encouraging their use to generate income and 
support local heritage. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That Cabinet members agreed and recommended to full Council the recommendations 
below.  

 
1. To note the breakdown of the total income for 2025/26 and 2026/27 and in 

particular that the proposed 2026/27 charges for discretionary services represent 

£50.868m of the £104.981m of income derived from Fees and Charges. 
 

2. To approve the charges for 2026/27 as detailed in Appendix 3 to be implemented 
from 1 April 2026.  

 

3. To note that as previously agreed, any changes to fees and charges proposed by 
Shropshire Community Leisure Trust Ltd. in relation to the outsourced leisure 

facilities will only be referred to Cabinet and Council for approval if the proposed 
increases exceed Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the preceding November.  
 

4. To note that the fees chargeable for hackney carriage, private hire vehicle and 
operator’s licences, and drivers’ licences are currently under consultation, with the 

proposed new charges to take effect from 9 February 2026.  
 

5. To note that the proposed new charges for Adult Social Care Deferred Payment 

Policy, are detailed in a separate report which is also being considered in this 
meeting.  

 

Page 4



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 5 

 

6. To revise housing rents as follows (subject to restrictions or exemptions identified in 
the Welfare Reform and Work Bill):  

 
6.1 Social Housing and Affordable rents for 2026/27 are increased by 4.8% 

from 6 th April 2026.  
 

6.2 Shared Ownership rents continue to be calculated at 2.75% of the 

landlord's share at the time of purchase. From the following April, rents 
are reviewed annually in line with the terms set out in the lease. As 

additional shares in the property ae purchased, rent will decrease 
proportionally, based on the original property value.  

 

6.3 Service charges will be calculated based on actual cost plus a 15% 
management and admin fee (excluding sewage), with changes in the way 

these are calculated following an in-depth service charge review. 
 
125 Treasury Strategy 2026/27  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented the Treasury Strategy for 2026/27, which sets 

out the arrangements for how the council will appropriately manage its arrangements for 
banking, cash flow management, investments, and borrowing, supporting the delivery of 
the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 
Members noted the current position on investments and borrowing, including that cash 

balances were lower than in previous years and that maintaining liquidity remained a 
priority. The role of the Treasury team in managing borrowing and investments in line with 
the approved Strategy was acknowledged. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

That Cabinet recommends that Council:-  
 

a) Approve, with any comments, the Treasury Strategy for 2026/27 set out in appendix 
1 (parts 1-3).  

b) Approve, with any comments, the Prudential Indicators, set out in Appendix 1 (parts 
4), in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003.  

c) Approve, with any comments, the Investment Strategy, set out in Appendix 1 (part 

5) in accordance with the DLUHC Guidance on Local Government Investments.  
d) Approve, with any comments, the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy 

Statement, set out in Appendix 1 (part 6). 
e) Authorise the Section 151 Officer to exercise the borrowing powers contained in 

Section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 and to manage the Council’s debt 

portfolio in accordance with the Treasury Strategy.  
f) Authorise the Section 151 Officer to use other Foreign Banks which meet MUFG 

Corporate Markets’ creditworthiness policy as required. 
 
126 Financial Strategy 2026/27 - 2030/31  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented the Financial Strategy, including updates 

following the final Local Government Finance Settlement. 

Page 5



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 6 

 

 
It was noted that the settlement confirmed a reduction in government funding compared to 

the current year, alongside the Government’s agreement to allow Shropshire Council to 
apply an additional council tax increase above the standard referendum limit. Members 

acknowledged the significant financial pressures facing the Council, particularly in relation 
to adult social care, SEND, and overall service sustainability. 
 

Cabinet noted that applying the additional council tax flexibility would reduce the level of 
borrowing required to set a balanced budget and help mitigate future interest costs. The 

importance of providing support and advice to residents most affected by the increase was 
emphasised. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Cabinet note that the final settlement has been received in line with the 
provisional statement and in particular the special permission for Shropshire to 
raise an additional 4% supplement above the Council Tax limit of 4.99%. 

 
2. That the S151 Officer be requested to make amendments to the budget report to be 

presented at Council on the 26th February to include a recommended supplement 
of 4% on Council Tax with a compensating reduction in the Exceptional Financial 
Support. 

 
3. That the S151 Officer be requested to ensure that appropriate officer support is 

available within the Council Tax team to provide advice and guidance to those who 
may be most impacted by this increase. This is to ensure they are receiving all 
financial support available to them through benefits and the Government Crisis 

Resilience scheme. 
 
127 Treasury Management Update Quarter 3 2025/26  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented the report which showed the return on 

investments over quarter 3, the economic outlook for the next 3 years and confirmed 
activities align with the Council approved Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That Cabinet reviewed the position as set out in the report –  
 

a) Noting the summary of the wider economic environment and the Council’s 
borrowings and investments set out in Appendix A  

b) Noting the performance within prudential indicators for quarter 3, 2025/26 

(Appendix B) 
 
128 Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 3  2025/26  

 
The Leader presented the performance monitoring report for quarter 3.  

 

Page 6



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 7 

 

Members noted that the majority of key performance indicators were performing at or 
above target, while a number of indicators remained below target and were being actively 

managed. 
 

The Cabinet welcomed improvements in several areas, including homelessness 
prevention and the reduction in the use of bed and breakfast accommodation, and 
acknowledged progress in social work assessment timeliness. Members also noted 

ongoing challenges, particularly in relation to Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) 
timescales, food safety inspections, recycling performance, and sickness absence. 

 
It was noted that improvement plans were in place for underperforming areas and that 
further work was underway to address capacity and demand pressures. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

That Cabinet: 
 

1) Noted progress to date in achieving the outcomes of The Shropshire Plan, utilising 
the interactive Shropshire Plan Performance Dashboard  

 
2) Collectively review and align Shropshire’s Performance Management Framework 

and the associated suite of KPIs with the new administration’s priorities, Corporate 

Plan and the Local Government Outcomes Framework metrics. 
 
129 Financial Monitoring Report Quarter 3 2025/26  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented the report which highlighted a marginal 

deterioration in the forecast outturn position to £53.261m, which can be managed within 
existing earmarked reserves. 

 
Members noted the current financial position, including significant pressures arising from 
demand-led services, particularly adult social care and SEND, and the impact of inflation 

and reduced government funding. It was noted that the Council continued to take action to 
manage expenditure, strengthen financial controls, and mitigate risks. 

 
Cabinet acknowledged the projected Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit and noted 
recent Government announcements regarding support for high needs funding. Members 

also noted ongoing work to address overspends and improve budget management across 
services. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That Cabinet Members:  
 

A. Ensured emergency action is continued by all Officers during the last quarter of the 
financial year to improve further the Council’s projected year end position. Such 
action should predominantly focus on reducing spend, increasing income, 

delivering remaining savings and significant mitigating actions to control in-year 
spending pressures. 

 

Page 7



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 8 

 

B. Supported the review of the Operations Boards, which have been in place from 
August 2025, to ensure these are delivering the greatest impact in terms of 

challenging spend across the Council. The impact of these boards will continue to 
inform future Finance Monitoring reports. 

 
C. Considered the projected spend over budget at Period 9 of £53.261m, adjusted to 

£50.745m following the release of £2.516m from the Financial Strategy Reserve. 

 
D. Considered the indicative level of savings delivery at Period 9 of £18.177m (30%).  

 
E. Considered the projected General Fund Balance of £5m if the Council secures 

Exceptional Financial Support in 2025/26.  

 
F. Cabinet Members noted the projected deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant and 

the approach to reviewing this 
 
130 Adult Social Care Deferred Payment Policy  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Social Care presented the report which set out the Council’s 

approach to deferred payment agreements for adult social care, enabling eligible 
individuals to defer payment of care costs until a later date, in line with statutory guidance. 
 

Members noted that the Policy had been reviewed to ensure compliance with current 
legislation and to provide clarity and consistency in its application. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Cabinet notes and recommends to Council the approval of the updated 
Deferred Payment Policy in appendix 1;  

 
2. Cabinet noted the following main proposed changes within the policy:  

 

 Increased one-off setup fee from £610 to £750;  

 The introduction of an annual administration charge to reflect the work 

undertaken during the lifetime of the DPA in notifying interest rate changes 
and supplying statements;  

 Introduce legal charges to reflect the work done in entering the DPA, 

registration at Land Registry and removing the charge once repaid.  

 Maintain the application of interest from contract signing.  

 Implement process improvements to reduce completion timelines and 
strengthen compliance.  

 The charges income is used to reinvest in critical staff roles to manage the 
increasing demand and complex process, this will ensure efficiencies and 

clear oversight, providing a more consistent approach and improved 
experience for clients. 

 
131 Determination of Admission Arrangements 2027/28  

 

Page 8



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 9 

 

The Portfolio Holder for Children & Education presented the report which sought Cabinet 
approval to determine admission arrangements 2027-28 for Shropshire Council’s 

community and voluntary controlled schools. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That Cabinet determined the proposed admission arrangements 2027 - 2028 for 

Shropshire’s community and voluntary controlled schools as set out in Appendix A to this 
report and further approved the publication of those arrangements in accordance with the 

School Admissions Code 2021 and to the notification of this to parties specified in the 
Code. 
 
132 Dedication of a Local Nature Reserve at Eardington  

 

The Portfolio Holder for Housing & Leisure presented the report which proposed 
Shropshire Council designate land at Eardington Nature Reserve as a Local Nature 
Reserve. 

 
Members noted the proposals set out in the report concerning the future management and 

use of the Nature Reserve, including the financial and environmental implications. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

That Cabinet:  

 

 Approved the declaration of Eardington Local Nature Reserve  

 Offered thanks to the work of John Box, the Friends of Eardington Nature Reserve 

and all other volunteers for their work on the consultation report and for managing 
this important site. 

 
133 Devolution of Local Services to Town & Parish Councils  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Communities presented the report on the first phase of devolution 
of local services, focusing on street scene and grounds maintenance. 

 
It was reported that four pilot areas – Shrewsbury, Broseley, Oswestry and Shifnal – had 
expressed interest in early participation, with varying models of full, partial or enhanced 

devolution. The approach aimed to support local choice, partnership working and financial 
sustainability, with funding set at 66% of current costs in year one and a reducing 

contribution in future years. 
 
Members discussed the nature of the pilot arrangements, the financial implications for 

both the Council and participating town councils, and the potential impact on staffing, 
contracts and service standards. Assurance was given that legal agreements were being 

progressed and that an Operations Board would be established to oversee delivery and 
partnership working. 
 

Cabinet also considered the position of smaller parish councils and noted that devolution 
would be voluntary, with different models developed to reflect local capacity and 

Page 9



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 10 

 

circumstances. It was acknowledged that the Council would not be able to guarantee the 
continuation of current discretionary service levels in the future. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 

That Cabinet approved:  
 

1. The delegation of full or part operational and managerial responsibility for Street 
Scene services to participating pilot areas  

- Broseley Town Council  
- Oswestry Town Council  
- Shifnal Town Council  

- Shrewsbury Town Council  
 

Delegation of the final terms of the individual arrangements, (to be agreed by the 
31st March 2026) to the Service Director for Infrastructure in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Communities and the 

Portfolio Holder for Highways and Environment. The commercial terms of the 
individual arrangements are detailed within section 5 of this report.  

 
2. That an Operations Board is established to meet a minimum of once a year to 

monitor the operation of the delegated services with joint membership from 

Shropshire Council and Town Council. 
 
134 Town and Parish Councils Asset Transfer Policy and Process  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented the report which set out a revised policy and 

process for the transfer of Council assets to town and parish councils as part of the 
Council’s wider devolution agenda. 

 
Members noted that the revised process would not replace an existing single procedure 
but would clarify and standardise how asset transfer requests would be considered and 

progressed.  
 

Discussion highlighted the potential for the policy to support local service delivery, 
community use of assets and financial sustainability, while recognising that individual 
transfers would continue to be assessed on a case-by-case basis. 

 
Cabinet welcomed the emphasis on partnership working and the flexibility to support 

different local circumstances. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

1. That Cabinet approved the Town and Parish Council Asset Transfer Policy, as it 

provides a transparent and structured framework for transferring suitable council 
owned assets to Town and Parish councils. (Please see appendix 1 – Town and 
Parish Council Asset Transfer policy)  

 

Page 10



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 11 

 

2. To delegate to Head of Property and Development, in consultation with the portfolio 
holders’ for Finance and Communities, to authorise the transfer of land and 

property, in accordance with the policy as set out in 1. 
 
135 Application by Oswestry Town Council for Oswestry Parish to be considered 

as a Neighbourhood Area  

 

The Portfolio Holder for Communities presented the report which sought approval for the 
application by Oswestry Town Council for the Parish area of Oswestry to be considered as 

a Neighbourhood Area for the purposes of preparing a Neighbourhood Development Plan. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

That Cabinet agreed the designation of the proposed Neighbourhood Area identified on 

the map in Appendix A, covering the Parish of Oswestry as an appropriate basis for the 
development of a Neighbourhood Development Plan and notifies Oswestry Town Council 
accordingly. 

 
136 Shropshire Schools Funding Formula 2026/27  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Children & Education presented the report which set out how the 
Schools Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant would be distributed to maintained schools 

and academies in Shropshire. 
 

Cabinet was advised that a briefing note had been circulated to Members providing 
additional context, including the current position on the Dedicated Schools Grant. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That Cabinet accepted the recommendation of Shropshire Schools Forum on the funding 
formula for Shropshire schools for the financial year 2026-27 for maintained schools, and 
the academic year 2026-27 for academies. 

 
137 Exclusion of Press and Public  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

that, in accordance with the provisions of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
and Paragraph 10.4 [3] of the Council’s Access to Information Rules, the public and press 

be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following items 
 
138 Exempt Minutes  

 
RESOLVED: 

 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2026 be confirmed as an 
accurate record. 

 
139 Date of Next Meeting  

 

Page 11



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 11 February 2026 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick on 01743 250893 12 

 

Members noted that the next meeting was scheduled for 11 March 2026. 
 

 
Signed  (Chairman) 

 
 

Date:  

  

 

 

Page 12



Cabinet 11th March 2026 - Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

Contact:  Matthew Farmer matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  1 

 

 

 Cabinet 11th March 
2026 

 Item 
 
 
 
 
 
Public 

 

  

 

 

 

Local Nature Recovery Strategy 

Responsible Officer: Matthew Farmer 

email: Matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel:  01743 258727 

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder): Cllr David Walker 

 

1. Synopsis 
  

 
Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS) are a statutory requirement for local 
authorities under the Environment Act 2021. LNRSs were specifically created to turn 
around the decline of nature and wildlife by establishing a structured, evidence‑led 
approach to identifying where action is most needed. Their purpose is to define local 
priorities and map the areas where habitat creation or improvement will deliver the 
greatest benefits. LNRSs are one component of a coherent national network of 
wildlife‑rich places across England.  
 
Shropshire Council has been appointed by Defra as the responsible authority to 
produce the Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) for the whole of Shropshire. The 
LNRS comprises a local habitat map showing current and potential areas for nature 
recovery and a written statement of nature priorities, outlining which actions, taken in 
which location, can have the most impact. It has been developed with Natural England, 
Telford & Wrekin Council, landowner groups, species experts and informed by public 
consultation responses. 
  
This report seeks Cabinet approval of the LNRS.  Approval is also being sought in 
parallel from Telford & Wrekin Council’s Cabinet (meeting on 26th March).  We are then 
required to notify the Secretary of State of those approvals and publish the LNRS. 
  
  

2.0 Executive Summary 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 9

mailto:matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk
mailto:Matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk


Cabinet 11th March 2026 - Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

Contact:  Matthew Farmer matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  2 

 

 
2.1 The Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS)        
  comprise two core components: a written strategy and a spatial map identifying 
both the existing nature network and the opportunity network.  Both components   
 identify priorities for the restoration of biodiversity across the historic county of   
 Salop. 

   
2.2 The LNRS is a requirement of the Environment Act 2021 and Shropshire Council 

was appointed the Responsible Authority by Defra to produce this. A Steering 
Group has guided its development and significant stakeholder engagement has 
shaped its formation and contents.  
  

2.3 The Steering Group comprises Shropshire Council, Telford & Wrekin Council, 
Natural England, Country Land and Business Association (CLA), Environment 
Agency, Forestry Commission, National Farmers Union, Shropshire Wildlife Trust, 
Shropshire Hills National Landscape. Many local species experts sat on the 
species sub-group. 
  

2.4   The purpose of the LNRS is to help focus funds and resources for nature recovery 
action. It is not obligating action, and it does not bring additional protections to 
land. Using ecological evidence, the LNRS identifies 16 local priorities and 51 
actions to restore habitats, enhance ecological connectivity, and safeguard 
species to achieve a “more, bigger, better and better connected” ecological 
network.  

  
2.5  The draft LNRS went to public consultation from the 6th August to 15th October 

2025.  This Pre-publication document presented at Appendix 3 has been informed 
by public consultation, which saw and 3,782 comments being received. 
  

2.6  Supporting authorities (Telford & Wrekin Council and Natural England) have the 
option to object to its publication on grounds of either not being justified by the 
consultation or being materially deficient. Natural England, wholeheartedly 
supports the LNRS and following examination by the Defra panel on the 17th 
December 2025, the panel approved the LNRS for publication subject to minor 
amendments (which have been made). The LNRS is being taken to Telford & 
Wrekin Cabinet on 26th March 2026 seeking approval and adoption from its 
members. 
  

2.7  The pre-publication LNRS strategy and map are presented to Shropshire Council 
Cabinet for adoption. Following parallel adoption by Telford and Wrekin Council, 
Shropshire Council, as lead body, will inform the Secretary of State of the date for 
its publication. 
  

2.8   Defra provided a grant to fund the development of the strategy. Another tranche 
of funding has provided to cover officer time to transition to the delivery of the 
strategy. 

  
  

3.0  Recommendations 
  

3.0 It is recommended that Cabinet Members: 
  

Page 14

mailto:matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk


Cabinet 11th March 2026 - Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

Contact:  Matthew Farmer matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  3 

 

a. Notes the work of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) Steering 
Group and stakeholders in supporting co-ordinated biodiversity action, to 
enable nature recovery across Shropshire. 

b. Approves the LNRS Strategy (subject to parallel approval by Telford and 
Wrekin Council) and delegates to the Service Director for Strategy & 
Change, the authority to make minor amendments to the Strategy, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning, prior to publication and 
notification to the Secretary of State as required. 

  

Report 
  

4.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 
 
 

4.1 Shropshire Council is required to produce and publish the LNRS in line with the 
Environment Act 2021 and Defra’s appointment of Shropshire Council as the 
Responsible Authority.  

  
4.2 The LNRS had to be produced in line with Defra guidance. Natural England has 

worked closely with Shropshire Council (bi-weekly meetings) throughout its 
development to ensure guidance was followed. 

  

4.3  Not publishing the LNRS in a timely fashion will delay publication and: 
• Move it out of Defra’s publication window 

• Absorb officer time 

• Postpone delivery of nature recovery potentially including successful 

resource acquisition by ourselves and partners. 

  

  

Risk  Mitigation  

LNRS not compliant with 
regulations and guidance 

Defra sign off for the LNRS was secured on 
22nd Dec 2025 confirming compliance and 
quality. Natural England provided ongoing 
bi‑weekly support throughout development to 
ensure alignment with all requirements. 
  

Cabinet do not give approval 
for the LNRS to be published 

Provide a clear information about how the LNRS 
has been developed to provide assurance that 
guidance has been followed and the strategy is 
as good as it can be. Portfolio holders have 
been kept up to date with regard progress and 
stages of consultation during the LNRS creating 
awareness across political groups. 

Failure to publish on time 
could move Shropshire 
outside Defra’s publication 
window, reduce access to 
national support, delay funding 
alignment opportunities, and 

Close coordination with Natural England and 
Telford & Wrekin Council, completion of all 
required amendments, and proactive forward 
planning for Cabinet timelines to ensure timely 
approval. 
  

Page 15

mailto:matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk


Cabinet 11th March 2026 - Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

Contact:  Matthew Farmer matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  4 

 

postpone nature recovery 
activity. 
  

Stakeholder concern or 
misunderstanding of LNRS 
implications - Landowners or 
partners may worry about new 
obligations, planning impacts 
or how mapped actions will be 
used. 
  

Extensive engagement; clear communications 
emphasising that the LNRS does not impose 
new obligations or designations, and exists to 
focus funding and support, not regulate land 
use. Consultation responses have been 
incorporated and supported by Natural England. 
  

  
  
  

5.0 Financial Implications 
  

 
5.1  Shropshire Council continues to manage unprecedented financial demands, and 

a financial emergency was declared by Cabinet on 10 September. Defra provided 
a grant which has covered the entire costs involved in the production of the LNRS. 
Another tranche of funding has provided to cover officer time to transition to the 
delivery of the strategy. Funding for delivery post LNRS publication has been 
announced as part of integrated settlements. Defra have communicated that 
funding will continue to be provided through Section 31 grants - we are awaiting 
further information from Defra. 

5.2  The purpose of the LNRS is to help focus funds and resources for nature action. It 
is therefore expected that the LNRS helps Shropshire businesses secure 
additional funds for nature-based activities which benefit nature and wider 
environmental benefits such as flood management and carbon sequestration. 
There are obvious links and opportunities with other Council initiatives such as the 
Marches Environmental Investment Platform and the Severn Valley Water 
Management Scheme.   

5.3  Direct funding for landowners to deliver LNRS actions is not available at the 
moment, however it is expected that it will be used by funders to align their future 
provision. This would enable landowners, including Shropshire Council, to deliver 
beneficial works to their estates. 
  
  
  

6.0 Climate Change Appraisal 
   

  
6.1 The primary benefit of this strategy is nature recovery, however, many of the 

actions set out will have wider environmental co-benefits. The LNRS creates 
opportunities to align nature recovery with other Council environmental initiatives, 
including; Severn Valley Water Management Scheme and the Marches 
Environmental Investment Platform. 
  

6.2  The LNRS will support Shropshire Council’s strategies for Climate Change and 
Carbon Reduction in a number of ways including, capture of carbon, local climate 
cooling, flood prevention, air pollution reduction, air pollution capture, water 
pollution reduction, water conservation. 

  

Page 16

mailto:matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk


Cabinet 11th March 2026 - Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

Contact:  Matthew Farmer matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  5 

 

  
  
  

7.0 Background 
  

7.1  The LNRS is one of 48 being completed across England to deliver the 
requirements of s104 of the Environment Act 2021. The boundaries of these often 
relate to ceremonial counties and were set by Government. 
  

7.2  The LNRS process is required to deliver a step-change in the conservation and 
recovery of biodiversity across England to meet our international and national 
obligations. 

  

7.3  Specific contents of the LNRS has been set out in s106 of the Environment Act, 
including a Statement of Biodiversity Priorities and a Local Habitat Map. 

  

1. The Statement must contain:  
  

• A description of the area and its biodiversity,  

• The opportunities and priorities for recovering or enhancing habitats & species, 
measures to deliver these. 

  

2. The map must identify: 
  

• National conservation sites 

• Local Nature Reserves 

• Areas which are, or could become, of particular importance for biodiversity 

• Areas where the recovery or enhancement of biodiversity could make a 
particular contribution to other environmental benefits. 

  

7.4   The Responsible Authority appointed by the Secretary of State was Shropshire 
Council. Under The Environment (Local Nature Recovery Strategies) (Procedure) 
Regulations 2023 Reg 3 Natural England and Telford & Wrekin Council were 
designated as Supporting Authorities. This core group has assembled a steering 
group and appropriate sub-groups to aid in the process of creating a robust and 
deliverable strategy. 
  

7.5   Along with those mentioned above, other active members of the steering group 
represent Country Land and Business Association (CLA), Environment Agency, 
Forestry Commission, National Farmers Union, Shropshire Wildlife Trust, 
Shropshire Hills National Landscape. Many local species experts sat on the 
species sub-group. 

  

7.6   It is hoped that central government funds, such as agricultural incentives, grants 
and other initiatives will become aligned with LNRS priorities over time. 

  

7.7   As the LNRS does not have any specific resource allocated for, or power to 
require delivery of actions, engagement with key stakeholders, including 
landowners, has been vital to identify key priorities and realistic actions. 

  

7.8   The mapping work has been carried out in partnership with Oxford University as 
part of a research initiative, called Agile. Their best practice setting methodology 
has been tested and improved through this work and the best available datasets 
have been acquired to feed into the map. 

Page 17

mailto:matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk


Cabinet 11th March 2026 - Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

Contact:  Matthew Farmer matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  6 

 

  

7.9   To generate this engagement and allow the right priorities and actions to be 
developed, numerous stakeholder and public consultation events have been held 
across Shropshire since September 2024. These have included stalls at large 
events, county shows, online consultations, in person presentations and 
workshops (including both SC officers and residents), and at the Nature Recovery 
conference hosted by Shropshire Association of Local Councils. The purpose of 
these have been to raise awareness, gather priorities and measures for nature 
recovery in the area and to promote the formal consultation on the draft LNRS 
which took place from 6th August to 15th October 2025. 

  

7.10   The public consultation was exceptionally successful, and it is thought we have 
had by far the largest response yet for any LNRS in England with 3,782 comments 
received. This feedback on both the Strategy and Map gives us reassurance that 
the community and landowners engaged constructively with the LNRS. 

  

7.11 An overview of the consultation on the Strategy is presented in Appendix 1. This 
includes summaries of the activities undertaken, responses provided and actions to 
address these in the final LNRS.The LNRS identifies 16 local priorities and 51 
actions to restore habitats, enhance ecological connectivity, and safeguard species. 
These actions include both mapped measures—where clear spatial opportunities 
exist—and non‑mapped actions applicable county‑wide. Together they aim to 
achieve a “more, bigger, better and better connected” ecological network, following 
established national ecological recovery principles. 

 
  

7.12 Following this the updated LNRS was presented to a Defra panel for assessment 
on 17th December 2025. This included a discussion with the Defra bodies (Natural 
England, Environment Agency and Forestry Commission) Shropshire Council and 
Telford & Wrekin Council. The result of this assessment is the 3 page letter from 
Natural England on 22nd December presented in Appendix 2. 

  

7.13 The panel stated that they; “would like to congratulate you and your team on 
preparing such a high-quality strategy. Panel members also remain impressed by 
the collaborative approach taken towards developing this strategy, and especially 
your drive to engage as widely as possible resulting in such a large response 
during public consultation.” 

  

7.14 They made a number of suggested technical amendments which have, been 
incorporated and amended into the final LNRS. However ,they “agree that the 
Shropshire, and Telford & Wrekin LNRS is already a sound, comprehensive and 
well-written document”. Subject to these minor amendments, the panel 
recommended the strategy is approved for publication. 

  

7.15 The formal adoption process for the LNRS is outlined in Regs 13 to 19. This 
includes the requirement in Reg 13 for Shropshire Council to provide a final 
version of the LNRS to Natural England and Telford & Wrekin Council. 

  

7.16 Reg 15 states that if a supporting authority (such as Telford & Wrekin Council or 
Natural England) believe the LNRS is not justified based on the consultation or it is 
materially deficient it can raise these concerns within 28 days of receipt of the 
LNRS. Any concern raised must be detailed in a written publication advisory notice 
and sent to Shropshire Council and a copy sent to the Secretary of State. Should 
these concerns not be resolved, the Secretary of State will adjudicate. Once 

Page 18

mailto:matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk


Cabinet 11th March 2026 - Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

Contact:  Matthew Farmer matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  7 

 

adopted, Shropshire Council—as the Responsible Authority—must notify the 
Secretary of State of the publication date. The pre-publication strategy can be 
seen in appendix 3 along the with the map in appendix 4.  

  
  

8.0 Additional Information 
  

  

8.1  Natural England, Telford & Wrekin Council and Shropshire Council remain in close 
coordination as the strategy proceeds towards publication which i. Adjustments to 
the strategy document and mapping have been implemented in line with pre-
publication panel feedback, ensuring that the LNRS is technically sound, compliant 
and reflective of local priorities.t. 
  

8.2 Upon publication, the LNRS enters its delivery phase, underpinned by Defra’s 
emerging national monitoring framework. Responsible Authorities will be required to 
collect, report and review delivery data through standardised templates and reporting 
tools, supporting national tracking of environmental outcomes. Successful delivery 
will depend on continued partnership working . Farmers, landowners, environmental 
organisations and communities all play a central role. The Steering Group will 
continue to guide the delivery of the LNRS and ensuring compliance with the 
Environment Act.   

  

9.0 Conclusions 
  

9.1 The Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) has 
been developed in line with the statutory requirements of the Environment Act 2021 
and shaped through extensive collaboration with Natural England, Telford & Wrekin 
Council and a wide range of local stakeholders. The strategy has undergone 
significant public engagement, receiving  3782 consultation responses—the largest 
response recorded for any LNRS area—demonstrating strong community interest 
and support for coordinated nature recovery across the county. 
  

9.2 Natural England’s assessment confirms that the LNRS is a high‑quality, compliant 
and well‑formed strategy, approved for publication subject to minor amendments, 
all of which have been made.  Adoption of the LNRS will enable Shropshire Council 
to fulfil its statutory duties while providing a clear, evidence‑based framework for 
targeting investment, coordinating delivery and supporting wider environmental 
benefits including climate resilience, carbon capture and community wellbeing.  
cabinet. 
  

9.4 Approval is therefore sought to publish the final LNRS, subject to parallel approval 
by Telford & Wrekin Council cabinet (meeting on 26th March), and to notify the 
Secretary of State. 

 
 
 
 
 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information) 

Page 19

mailto:matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk


Cabinet 11th March 2026 - Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

Contact:  Matthew Farmer matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk  8 

 

 

Local Member:  All 

Appendices [Please list the titles of Appendices] 

Appendix 1 - Overview of the consultation on the LNRS     

Appendix 2 - Defra panel assessment letter dated 22nd December 2025 

Appendix 3 – Pre-publication LNRS LNRS_Jan2026_FINAL v2.pdf 

Appendix 4 – Pre-publication Map here 

 
 

Page 20

mailto:matthew.farmer@shropshire.gov.uk
https://shropshirecouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthew_farmer_shropshire_gov_uk/IQD1WAyYOOgNRatlE9mV_07kAed4ps0HNL5xjt2teDR_T6k
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fshropshire.maps.arcgis.com%2Fapps%2Finstant%2Fsidebar%2Findex.html%3Fappid%3D106f855302bd4b688e259210f9df75bd&data=05%7C02%7CL.Parker%40shropshire.gov.uk%7C825162d0a2844231367b08de38ef9dbf%7Cb6c13011372d438bbc8267e4c7966e89%7C0%7C0%7C639010799382904701%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=qZVsbxQ1mha6VC74%2BoiyqtoGIPCGDvGm2LQTMWOJgm0%3D&reserved=0


 

1 
 

 

Local Nature Recovery Strategy Report - Consultation 
feedback and changes to strategy  

1. LNRS Consultation Feedback 

1.1 Introduction 
The LNRS consultation, led by Shropshire Council in partnership with Telford & Wrekin Council, 
ran from 6th August to 15th October 2025. The aim of this 10 week consultation was to gather 
public and stakeholder feedback on the draft strategy and interactive opportunity map, which 
together set out plans for nature recovery, habitat restoration, and biodiversity enhancement 
across the region. The consultation was widely promoted and resulted in 3,782 comments being 
received from 843 different respondents (55% were from landowners / agents). The LNRS team 
were pleased with the number of responses received which resulted from a large amount of 
promotion both during the development of the LNRS and the consultation period (Appendix 1). 

 

1.2 Use and Value of the LNRS 
Respondents anticipated using the LNRS for: 

• Land management decisions 
• Making homes and gardens more nature-friendly 
• Planning community projects 
• As an evidence base for grants and research 

While some were unsure of its application, others saw potential for broad use, provided further 
work was done to address concerns.  

 

1.3 Satisfaction and Concerns 
1.31 Positive Feedback 

• The strategy was praised for its comprehensive approach, clear presentation, and 
ambition. 

• The interactive map and detailed habitat priorities were seen as valuable tools for 
guiding future work. 

• Many respondents appreciated the recognition of the need for action across all 
landscapes and the collaborative development process. 
 

1.32 Key Concerns 

• Map Accuracy: The most frequent concern was about the accuracy of the interactive 
map, particularly land boundaries and habitat classifications. Landowners felt they 
should have been consulted directly about which actions were mapped on their land. 

• Impact on Farming: Many landowners worried about the implications for farming 
practices and food production, and felt insufficiently consulted. 

Page 21



 

2 
 

• Funding and Implementation: Respondents highlighted the need for robust monitoring, 
clear delivery plans, and adequate funding. 

• Engagement: Calls for stronger engagement with landowners and practical support 
were frequent. 

• Public Education: The importance of public education and further engagement was 
emphasised. 

• Historic Environment: Some felt the strategy should better integrate historic 
environment concerns.  

 

1.4 Species and Habitats 
• The species list and prioritisation received generally positive feedback, though some 

respondents suggested additions (e.g. barn owls, butterflies, moths, salmon) and called 
for more detail on climate change impacts and underrepresented taxa. 

• Concerns about habitat priorities reflected dissatisfaction with actions for farmed land, 
hedgerows, and grasslands, and highlighted the need for funding and support for 
farmers.  

1.5 Map and Landowner Engagement 
• The interactive map was a focal point for feedback, with many comments about its 

accuracy, accessibility, and the process for submitting comments. 
• Landowners expressed frustration over how the actions had been mapped, lack of direct 

consultation, and the potential impact on their livelihoods. 
• Suggestions included improving map usability, providing clearer guidance, and 

requesting landowner consent for how land is mapped.  
 

1.6 Overall Views and Suggestions 

1.61 Identified Gaps 

• Food Security: Concerns about the impact on agriculture and food production. 
• Funding and Monitoring: Requests for more detail on how delivery will be resourced and 

monitored. 
• Wildlife Corridors: Emphasis on the importance of connecting habitats and promoting 

biodiversity. 
• Historic Environment: Calls for better integration of heritage assets and historic 

landscape character. 
• Landowner Consent: Requests for more direct engagement and that consent should be 

sought from landowners. 
 

1.62 Suggestions for Improvement 

• More attention to resilience, flooding, and land alongside waterways. 
• Stronger support for species recovery and targeted invasive species control. 
• Practical support and funding for landowners. 
• Additional engagement with landowners and local communities. 
• Improved map accuracy and accessibility.  

Page 22



 

3 
 

 

1.7 Conclusion 

The LNRS Draft Strategy Consultation Report reveals a community deeply invested in nature 
recovery, with a wide range of perspectives and expertise. The consultation process 
successfully engaged a diverse cross-section of stakeholders, though it also highlighted areas 
for improvement in outreach, engagement, and communication—especially with landowners 
and those directly affected by how the land is mapped. 

1.71 Key strengths of the draft LNRS include its comprehensive vision, clear presentation, and 
recognition of the need for action across all landscapes. The interactive map and detailed 
habitat priorities are valuable tools for guiding future work. 

1.72 Key areas for improvement include: 

• Greater accuracy and transparency in mapping  

• Robust, well-resourced implementation and monitoring frameworks 

• Clearer integration of food security, farming, and historic environment concerns 

• Stronger engagement and support for landowners, farmers, and local communities 

• Practical, achievable actions with defined funding and delivery mechanisms 

With further refinement and deeper stakeholder engagement, the LNRS can provide a strong 
foundation for nature recovery in Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin. Addressing the concerns and 
suggestions raised in the consultation will ensure the strategy is both effective and widely 
supported.  

 

1.8 Acknowledgements 
Special thanks to all organisations, parish councils, and individuals who participated in the 
consultation and contributed feedback to inform the finalisation of the LNRS. 

 

2. What’s Changed After the Consultation? 
2.1 Opportunity Map Updates 

• Clearer wording on map that it is an opportunity map and not mapping what habitats are 
currently there. 

• Clearer wording on the map to make it clear that there is no obligation to carry out the 
mapped action. 

• Clearer wording on the map that Shropshire Council has been required to produce the 
map and strategy by law. 

• Land has been removed from the map at the request of some landowners. 
• Land has been added to the map where it has been demonstrated that it would be make 

a valuable addition to the LNRS network. 

Page 23



 

4 
 

• The mapped action was changed, informed by feedback on land condition / habitat and 
landowner intent 

• Historic Environment checks have been applied to ensure nature recovery proposals are 
appropriate for this dataset.  

 
 

2.2 Strategy document updates 

• The concerns of the Historic Environment have been more effectively incorporated into 
the strategy document. 

• Three species added as individual priorities: silver-studded blue, small pearl bordered 
fritillary and Kentish glory moth.  

• Increased clarity that the LNRS is not obligating action and is not bringing in new 
protections 

• Increased clarity on requirement for permissions, permits, survey etc for habitat works 
• Soil pollution included a key pressure 
• Links within the strategy document have been included to information produced by 

Defra for how the LNRS is to be used now and in the future. 
 

2.3 Limitations of the LNRS to address concerns 

• Food security: Concerns about the LNRS affecting food security are understandable but 
unlikely to materialise. The LNRS does not oblige any landowner to take action—
implementation is entirely voluntary. 
Although around 50% of the county is shown on the LNRS opportunity map, the intention is 
for nature recovery to be integrated with food production where appropriate. Landowners 
are simply asked to consider actions that support nature without negatively affecting their 
business—and potentially improving it, for example by planting hedgerows or trees for 
shade, or creating ponds to increase water availability during dry periods. 

• Engagement with landowners: Significant efforts were made to engage landowners during 
both LNRS development and consultation (see Appendix 1). We had hoped to write directly 
to all landowners, but access to the farm business dataset was not permitted. Instead, we 
promoted the LNRS widely through known networks and other channels. 
The consultation period was fixed at 10 weeks due to external Defra deadlines, meaning we 
could not extend it. Awareness-raising will continue, and we aim to broaden engagement 
significantly during the LNRS review (expected within 3–10 years, as determined by the 
Secretary of State). 

• Landowner consent: Because we could not contact all landowners directly, it was not 
feasible to seek prior consent before mapping land within the LNRS. The map is an 
opportunity map only—it identifies where action for nature could deliver the greatest 
benefit. It does not require action, nor does it impose any new land protections. As such, 
the impact on businesses is expected to be minimal. 

• Funding: Development of the LNRS was funded by Defra, which has also provided 
additional funding for the transition to delivery. This includes a coordinator role hosted by 
Shropshire Council. Part of this role is likely to involve seeking further funding to support 
county-wide delivery. 

Page 24



 

5 
 

• Monitoring: Defra is developing a national monitoring framework for LNRS delivery. 
Monitoring will rely on information provided by those carrying out work on the ground. We 
are considering ways to make this reporting process as simple and accessible as possible. 

 
 

 

Appendix 1: Summary of promotional activity relating to the 
development and consultation on the Shropshire and Telford & 
Wrekin Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
The LNRS team wanted to send a letter to all landowners directly to let them know that the LNRS was 

being developed and then contact everyone again to inform them of the consultation launch. 

However, the team was unsuccessful in acquiring the farm business data set (approx. 3,600) and had 

insufficient funds to contact all households (approx. 216,000) across the area. It therefore had to rely 

on promoting the LNRS through the media, existing networks and groups etc. 

 

The following information sets out the promotional activity and engagement events during the 

development of the LNRS and during the consultation. 

 

Engagement during LNRS development: 

• Bi-weekly meetings between Responsible Authority and Supportive Authorities 

• Cross sector membership of Steering Group to help guide its development – members engaged 

and supportive. Meetings held monthly 

• Public survey in Summer 2024 including specific surveys for landowners and town & parish 

councils 

• Attendance at Burwarton and Minsterley Shows Summer 2024 

• Steering Group and wider key partner workshop August 2024 

• Parish and town council nature recovery conference Dec 2024 

• Series of public workshops and a separate series of landowner focused workshops in January 

2025 to share draft priorities and maps, promoted through networks and via a press release. 

Events were well attended and some over subscribed. An additional online workshop aimed at 

land agents and farm advisors. Agricultural advisors appointed to help promote the LNRS and 

events within the farming community 

• Council officer workshops 

• Councillor briefings 

• Co-ordinator has engaged with all the known interested parties across the county including 

facilitated farming  groups, catchment based groups, Telford Green Spaces Partnership, 

Community Wildlife Groups, CLA, NFU, National Trust, Harper Adams, Severn Valley Water 

Management Scheme, peatland partnership – attending meetings, providing information, 

sharing progress. 

 

Engagement during LNRS public consultation: 

• Direct email list of those who have registered interest (450 recipients) 

• Commissioned Agri PR company to help raise awareness  

• Press releases 

Page 25



 

6 
 

• Attendance at Burwarton and Minsterley Shows August 2025 

• Briefed agents at shows and gave them promotional postcards to share with clients 

• Email pack to land agents and consultants 

• Catchment Sensitive Farming sent a direct email sent to 3,848 landowners across the Shropshire 

catchments 

• Comms pack and social media posts for councils and project partners. Newsletter wording and 

social media posts shared with those who had registered their interest 

• Promotional postcards - given to agents, farm advisors, NFU, handed out at Shows 

• Councillor briefings 

• Email pack to MPs 

• Comms pack for internal councillors/council colleagues 

• Comms to Young Farmers Clubs 

• Social media posts for council and partners  

• Shropshire Association of Local Councils sent numerous emails, newsletter wording was shared 

in an aim to get pieces into parish magazines.  

• Parish and town council nature recovery conference 3 Oct 2025. 

• CLA and NFU networks, farmer groups, catchment partnerships. 

• In an attempt to achieve a broader reach the CofE Diocese, the Women’s Institute and local 

breweries were also contacted to request assistance in spreading word of the consultation. 

 

Drop-In Clinic Dates and Locations: 

• Wednesday 24 September: Oswestry Livestock Market, 9am – 12pm 

• Friday 26 September: Ludlow Livestock Market, 8am – 12pm 

• Monday 29 September: NFU Agriculture House, Telford, 10am – 4pm 

• Tuesday 30 September: Shrewsbury Livestock Market, 8am – 12pm 

• Wednesday 1 October: Market Drayton Livestock Market, 9.30am – 1.30pm 

• Wednesday 1 October: Newcastle Community Centre, 7pm – 9pm 

• Thursday 2 October: Online event, 1pm – 2pm 

• Friday 3 October: Bridgnorth Livestock Market, 8am – 12pm 

• Saturday 4 October: Bishop’s Castle Ewe Sale, 8am – 12pm 

• Wednesday 8 October: Clun Fire Station, 12pm – 4pm 

• Friday 10 October: The Guildhall, Shrewsbury, 10:30am – 4pm 

Additional meetings: 

• Shropshire Councillors briefing session Wednesday 3 September, 10am – 11am 

• Conference – biodiversity and highways, Saturday 5 September, 10am – 1pm 

• Telford and Wrekin Councillor briefing session Monday 8 September, 6pm – 7pm 

• Clun farmer meeting, Tuesday 9 September, 7pm – 9pm 

• CLA AGM, Thursday 11 September, 10am – 2pm 

• Telford Green Spaces Partnership, Wednesday 17 September, 7pm – 9pm 

• Teme Catchment Based meeting, Thursday 18 September, 10am – 12pm 

• Welshampton Parish Council farmer meeting, Thursday 18 September, 7pm – 9pm 

• Town and parish council nature recovery conference, Ellesmere, 3 October, 10am – 4pm 

 

 

Shropshire LNRS consultation launch coverage  

Page 26



 

7 
 

Please note: list not exhaustive  

 

Media  

 

Outlet  Link 

Shropshire 
Live 

https://www.shropshirelive.com/news/2025/08/08/consultation-opens-on-
nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-wrekin/ 

Ludlow 
Advertiser 

https://www.ludlowadvertiser.co.uk/news/25371972.residents-encouraged-
help-shape-new-nature-strategy/ 

Shropshire 
Star 

https://www.shropshirestar.com/news/environment/2025/08/07/public-invited-
to-shape-new-local-nature-recovery-strategy-across-shropshire-telford-and-
wrekin/ 

Shropshire 
Star Facebook 

https://www.facebook.com/ShropshireStar/posts/residents-landowners-
businesses-and-environmental-groups-across-shropshire-are-
b/1313527954111622/ 

Public Now  https://www.publicnow.com/view/B7504D9748BECB48C6C959B085F22D174430
FB95?1754498865 

 

Partners 

 

Org Link 

Telford & Wrekin 
Council  

https://newsroom.telford.gov.uk/news/public-consultation-opens-on-new-
nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-and-wrekin 

Shropshire 
Council  

https://newsroom.shropshire.gov.uk/2025/08/public-consultation-opens-on-
new-nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-wrekin/ 

Shropshire Hills  https://www.shropshirehills-nl.org.uk/news/have-your-say-new-nature-
recovery-map-now-open-for-consultation 

Edgmond Wildlife 
Group 

https://www.facebook.com/groups/edgmondwildlifegroup/posts/427415091
9508971/ 

Albrighton and 
Donnington 
Parish 

https://www.facebook.com/AlbrightonandDoningtonParishCouncilandLibrary
/posts/-have-your-say-on-natures-future-the-shropshire-telford-wrekin-local-
nature-reco/761205499763073/ 

Pontesbury Parish https://www.pontesbury-pc.gov.uk/news/2025 

CPRE Shropshire https://www.instagram.com/p/DN5UFE3DBId/ 

Stuart Anderson 
MP 

https://www.facebook.com/StuartAndersonMP/posts/pfbid0Aku9zkm8G2Y7
G1PrpDQKcLeAu2g2KAA9iu4sSixSyegZ8Jn2fSjtRaH4MCB3BeZBl 

 

 

Drop-in clinics coverage  

 

Org Link 

NFU x 2 https://www.nfuonline.com/updates-and-information/shropshire-local-
nature-recovery-strategy-drop-in-session/  
https://www.nfuonline.com/updates-and-information/shropshire-local-
nature-recovery-strategy-events/  

Carolyn Healy 
Facebook 

https://www.facebook.com/cllrcarolynhealy/posts/1220068366829187/  

Page 27

https://www.shropshirelive.com/news/2025/08/08/consultation-opens-on-nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-wrekin/
https://www.shropshirelive.com/news/2025/08/08/consultation-opens-on-nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-wrekin/
https://www.ludlowadvertiser.co.uk/news/25371972.residents-encouraged-help-shape-new-nature-strategy/
https://www.ludlowadvertiser.co.uk/news/25371972.residents-encouraged-help-shape-new-nature-strategy/
https://www.shropshirestar.com/news/environment/2025/08/07/public-invited-to-shape-new-local-nature-recovery-strategy-across-shropshire-telford-and-wrekin/
https://www.shropshirestar.com/news/environment/2025/08/07/public-invited-to-shape-new-local-nature-recovery-strategy-across-shropshire-telford-and-wrekin/
https://www.shropshirestar.com/news/environment/2025/08/07/public-invited-to-shape-new-local-nature-recovery-strategy-across-shropshire-telford-and-wrekin/
https://www.facebook.com/ShropshireStar/posts/residents-landowners-businesses-and-environmental-groups-across-shropshire-are-b/1313527954111622/
https://www.facebook.com/ShropshireStar/posts/residents-landowners-businesses-and-environmental-groups-across-shropshire-are-b/1313527954111622/
https://www.facebook.com/ShropshireStar/posts/residents-landowners-businesses-and-environmental-groups-across-shropshire-are-b/1313527954111622/
https://www.publicnow.com/view/B7504D9748BECB48C6C959B085F22D174430FB95?1754498865
https://www.publicnow.com/view/B7504D9748BECB48C6C959B085F22D174430FB95?1754498865
https://newsroom.telford.gov.uk/news/public-consultation-opens-on-new-nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-and-wrekin
https://newsroom.telford.gov.uk/news/public-consultation-opens-on-new-nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-and-wrekin
https://newsroom.shropshire.gov.uk/2025/08/public-consultation-opens-on-new-nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-wrekin/
https://newsroom.shropshire.gov.uk/2025/08/public-consultation-opens-on-new-nature-recovery-map-for-shropshire-and-telford-wrekin/
https://www.shropshirehills-nl.org.uk/news/have-your-say-new-nature-recovery-map-now-open-for-consultation
https://www.shropshirehills-nl.org.uk/news/have-your-say-new-nature-recovery-map-now-open-for-consultation
https://www.facebook.com/groups/edgmondwildlifegroup/posts/4274150919508971/
https://www.facebook.com/groups/edgmondwildlifegroup/posts/4274150919508971/
https://www.facebook.com/AlbrightonandDoningtonParishCouncilandLibrary/posts/-have-your-say-on-natures-future-the-shropshire-telford-wrekin-local-nature-reco/761205499763073/
https://www.facebook.com/AlbrightonandDoningtonParishCouncilandLibrary/posts/-have-your-say-on-natures-future-the-shropshire-telford-wrekin-local-nature-reco/761205499763073/
https://www.facebook.com/AlbrightonandDoningtonParishCouncilandLibrary/posts/-have-your-say-on-natures-future-the-shropshire-telford-wrekin-local-nature-reco/761205499763073/
https://www.pontesbury-pc.gov.uk/news/2025
https://www.instagram.com/p/DN5UFE3DBId/
https://www.facebook.com/StuartAndersonMP/posts/pfbid0Aku9zkm8G2Y7G1PrpDQKcLeAu2g2KAA9iu4sSixSyegZ8Jn2fSjtRaH4MCB3BeZBl
https://www.facebook.com/StuartAndersonMP/posts/pfbid0Aku9zkm8G2Y7G1PrpDQKcLeAu2g2KAA9iu4sSixSyegZ8Jn2fSjtRaH4MCB3BeZBl
https://www.nfuonline.com/updates-and-information/shropshire-local-nature-recovery-strategy-drop-in-session/
https://www.nfuonline.com/updates-and-information/shropshire-local-nature-recovery-strategy-drop-in-session/
https://www.nfuonline.com/updates-and-information/shropshire-local-nature-recovery-strategy-events/
https://www.nfuonline.com/updates-and-information/shropshire-local-nature-recovery-strategy-events/
https://www.facebook.com/cllrcarolynhealy/posts/1220068366829187/


 

8 
 

Shropshire Hills 
newsletter 

https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKSHROPSHIRE/bulletins/3f1
084d#link_7  

Wem Parish Council https://www.wemrural-pc.gov.uk/shropshire-and-telford-wrekin-local-
nature-recovery-strategy/  

Telford & Wrekin 
Council Facebook 

https://www.facebook.com/TelfordWrekin/posts/-are-you-a-farmer-or-
landowner-have-your-say-on-the-local-nature-recovery-
strate/1200430088785222/  

Oswestry Town 
Council Facebook  

https://www.facebook.com/OswestryTownCouncil/posts/draft-local-
nature-recovery-strategy-out-for-consultation-still-time-to-have-
you/1096964242613120/  

 

Page 28

https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKSHROPSHIRE/bulletins/3f1084d#link_7
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKSHROPSHIRE/bulletins/3f1084d#link_7
https://www.wemrural-pc.gov.uk/shropshire-and-telford-wrekin-local-nature-recovery-strategy/
https://www.wemrural-pc.gov.uk/shropshire-and-telford-wrekin-local-nature-recovery-strategy/
https://www.facebook.com/TelfordWrekin/posts/-are-you-a-farmer-or-landowner-have-your-say-on-the-local-nature-recovery-strate/1200430088785222/
https://www.facebook.com/TelfordWrekin/posts/-are-you-a-farmer-or-landowner-have-your-say-on-the-local-nature-recovery-strate/1200430088785222/
https://www.facebook.com/TelfordWrekin/posts/-are-you-a-farmer-or-landowner-have-your-say-on-the-local-nature-recovery-strate/1200430088785222/
https://www.facebook.com/OswestryTownCouncil/posts/draft-local-nature-recovery-strategy-out-for-consultation-still-time-to-have-you/1096964242613120/
https://www.facebook.com/OswestryTownCouncil/posts/draft-local-nature-recovery-strategy-out-for-consultation-still-time-to-have-you/1096964242613120/
https://www.facebook.com/OswestryTownCouncil/posts/draft-local-nature-recovery-strategy-out-for-consultation-still-time-to-have-you/1096964242613120/


 

 

www.gov.uk/natural-england 

     Date:  22 December 2025 
 
     Our ref:  ST&W/LNRS  

     Your ref:        
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BY EMAIL ONLY:  
 
l.parker@shropshire.gov.uk  
 

Hafren House 

Welshpool Road, 
Shelton, 

Shrewsbury,  

SY3 8BB 

 

   

   

Dear Lynn, 
 
Shropshire, and Telford & Wrekin Local Nature Recovery Strategy – Pre-publication Panel Response.  
 
Thank you for providing Natural England with the draft Shropshire, and Telford & Wrekin Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy on 11th December 2025, for consideration under pre-publication requirements set out in Regulation 13 
of The Environment (Local Nature Recovery Strategies) (Procedure) Regulations 2023.   
 
Thank you also for your presentation to the LNRS pre-publication panel on 17th December 2025. The panel 
would like to congratulate you and your team on preparing such a high-quality strategy. Panel members also 
remain impressed by the collaborative approach taken towards developing this strategy, and especially your 
drive to engage as widely as possible resulting in such a large response during public consultation.  
 

 
The panel welcomed changes to the strategy made in response to comments from the pre-consultation panel 
meeting on 6th June 2025. Whilst acknowledging work is still needed to incorporate all remaining consultation 
comments, the panel did not feel a further meeting prior to publication would be needed. However, this does 
assume the outcome on completion of outstanding work is as you anticipate, and that the following comments 
arising from the pre-publication panel meeting are addressed. 

Mapping 

1) The panel returned to a point from the pre-consultation meeting, included in the written response as follows: 

We like the fact that any user can simply click on a field and the applicable actions will appear. However, some 
users are potentially interested in one particular action (e.g. natural flood management) throughout the county. 
Currently, it is not easy to click on a single action and see where it is proposed at a county scale, it is suggested 
that the map can be searched by action.  

Summary response of the pre-publication panel to Shropshire, and Telford & Wrekin LNRS. 

Based on the draft strategy provided for the pre-publication panel, the panel recommendation is that the 
document is APPROVED for publication, with minor amendments as listed. 

Page 29

mailto:l.parker@shropshire.gov.uk


 

 

Although this is a mutually desirable function it hasn’t yet been possible to add, so this original suggestion 
above remains. Your further preference to insert a link to connect people directly to the relevant section of the 
document (for further information) would also be a helpful addition, acknowledging there are constraints on 
time and the technology. 

2)  When viewing the APIB layer separately (with Opportunity layers turned off), the APIB layer disappears when 
zoomed in to the 1km square level. The details of the APIB also cannot be viewed. The panel suggests exploring 
a means to allow this larger scale view, whilst recognising the information is not itself missing. 

3) Given the veteran tree layer is not Open Government Licence data, the panel suggests ensuring this cannot 
be downloaded, in contravention with its licence. 

4) It is recommended that names for mapping are brought more into alignment with other LNRSs. If retaining 
the NRN title is preferable, it needs to be clear what is an APIB and what is a mapped measure. 

Strategy Document 

1) At page 18, regarding the ancient woodland measure A8.1: “Restore and expand nature rich ancient semi-
natural woodland”. 

To note, it isn’t possible to expand ancient woodland, so please consider changing this word to “buffer and 
connect”. Also, nature-rich ASNW is probably unnecessary – generally it is all nature rich and if it isn’t we still 
want to restore it. Leaving the wording nature-rich in relation to other woodlands is fine.  

Also, consider including PAWS within this measure and have just a single one, unless these are split out for 
purposes of mapping differently. 

Recommended wording: “Restore, buffer and connect ancient semi-natural woodland” or “Restore, buffer 
and connect ancient woodland”. 

2) At page 58 there is a discrepancy in targets. 

First paragraph “woodland creation targets have been set out by Natural England and the Forestry Commission 
at….16.5% by 2050”  

The target is correct. But the target is actually set by the UK government in the EIP and the footnote links to a 
blog by FC and NE policy heads. The footnote should ideally link to the regulations that mandate the target:   

Recommended wording: “Trees are an important part of the UK Government’s Environmental 
Improvement Plan (EIP) and woodland and tree targets have been set out in the EIP and associated 
regulations. To achieve these targets, England needs to increase tree cover to 16.5% by 2050”. 

Recommended link: The Environmental Targets (Woodland and Trees Outside Woodland) (England) 
Regulations 2023. 

Second paragraph: “positioning it well to exceed the UK Government’s aspiration of 19% tree cover by 2050. 

This differing figure is confusing. It is the figure proposed by the Committee for Climate Change in order to 
meet future carbon budgets, but is not the target settled on by the UK government for the EIP in England.  

Recommended wording: “positioning it well to exceed the UK Government’s aspiration of 16.5% tree cover 
by 2050”. 

Recommended footnote: The Environmental Targets (Woodland and Trees Outside Woodland) (England) 
Regulations 2023. 

Page 30

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fuksi%2F2023%2F90%2Fregulation%2F3%2Fmade&data=05%7C02%7Cdave.cragg%40naturalengland.org.uk%7C43473d9c5cd846998a1d08de4153c029%7C770a245002274c6290c74e38537f1102%7C0%7C0%7C639020025151682860%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=2ka%2F%2BMoiHkM67laHdSU2s1%2FnPq3y%2FDd84mNmfRg1rxw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fuksi%2F2023%2F90%2Fregulation%2F3%2Fmade&data=05%7C02%7Cdave.cragg%40naturalengland.org.uk%7C43473d9c5cd846998a1d08de4153c029%7C770a245002274c6290c74e38537f1102%7C0%7C0%7C639020025151682860%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=2ka%2F%2BMoiHkM67laHdSU2s1%2FnPq3y%2FDd84mNmfRg1rxw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fuksi%2F2023%2F90%2Fregulation%2F3%2Fmade&data=05%7C02%7Cdave.cragg%40naturalengland.org.uk%7C43473d9c5cd846998a1d08de4153c029%7C770a245002274c6290c74e38537f1102%7C0%7C0%7C639020025151715450%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=FP6Bcpn1R%2FoP%2BQBhvVR0WtRDJBhK6bUJW3FBaTqVqzA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fuksi%2F2023%2F90%2Fregulation%2F3%2Fmade&data=05%7C02%7Cdave.cragg%40naturalengland.org.uk%7C43473d9c5cd846998a1d08de4153c029%7C770a245002274c6290c74e38537f1102%7C0%7C0%7C639020025151715450%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=FP6Bcpn1R%2FoP%2BQBhvVR0WtRDJBhK6bUJW3FBaTqVqzA%3D&reserved=0


 

 

Two other points to note on page 58:  

Ash dieback: Recommend a different form of words, since although ash dieback is a threat in woodland 
settings, in general the woodland cover will not reduce but the species composition will shift dramatically 
away from the ash component as other species are planted or naturally regenerate under the thinning ash 
canopy, impacting dependent species; in the wider countryside, there is more likelihood of impacting canopy 
cover since replacement is less likely.  

Recommend: “Ash dieback is likely to impact canopy cover targets, especially in the wider countryside 
where lone trees may not be replaced, and to influence nature recovery by shifting the species 
composition of ash-dominated woodlands such as those on Wenlock Edge and Ironbridge Gorge.”  

Also note that the link is broken to the Shropshire Council’s Trees Outside Woodlands programme. 

3) At page 70 where the strategy reads “Endorsement from government agencies reassures stakeholders that 
the LNRS is robust, fair, and aligned with national priorities” the panel prefers that “endorsement” is replaced 
with “support” to avoid confusion with organisational responsibility for permitted actions. 

Further Suggestions  

1) On page 20, there is reference to afforestation as one of the three main land use pressures on nature, now or 
historically. Has afforestation been such a significant pressure in Shropshire? It could be seen that way in 
various other counties, but it doesn’t seem quite such a significant feature here.  

2) On page 25, “Woodland creation is a priority action for achieving carbon net-zero targets – but the ‘right tree, 
right place’ principle should be applied” 

Recommended wording: change “but” to “and” as being much more positive. 

3) On page 35, “Conifer plantations in the landscape area, which are generally considered to be of low 
biodiversity value, could transition into more diverse habitats, such as mixed woodlands” 

Recommended wording: “Conifer plantations in the landscape area, which are generally considered to be 
of low biodiversity value, compared to native deciduous woodland, could transition into more diverse 
habitats”. 

The panel look forward to receiving the final draft strategy and a response to these comments (with your 
intention to publish within a pre-publication period early next year) but also agree that the Shropshire, and 
Telford & Wrekin LNRS is already a sound, comprehensive and well-written document. 

I commend you and your team for the work undertaken to reach this point and I’m encouraged to learn that 
discussion amongst yourselves and your steering group has already begun to shift towards delivery. Defra’s 
Arm’s Length Bodies look forward to continuing their work with you and wider partners to further nature 
recovery through this strategy.  

Yours sincerely, 
 

 
Claire Minett (with delegated authority from Emma Johnson Deputy Director) 
Principal Manager, 
 West Midlands Area Team 
 claire.minett@naturalengland.org.uk 

 Page 31

mailto:claire.minett@naturalengland.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



March 11th | Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Contact:  Eddie West | Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk  1 

 

 

 Cabinet  
March 11th 2026 

 Item 
 
 
 
 
 
Public 

 

 

 

  

 
 

Shropshire Council response to draft National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Responsible Officer: Eddie West 

email: Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk Tel:  01743 254 617 

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder): Councillor David Walker 

 
 

1. Synopsis 
Government has published a consultation seeking views on their proposals to change 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  Appendix 1 to this report sets out the 
Council’s proposed response, which this report seeks approval to from Cabinet. 

 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is an important national document, 

which sets out Government’s planning policies for England. The Government is 
seeking consultation responses on a new draft version of the NPPF by March 10th, 
although due to Cabinet dates, MHCLG have agreed that Shropshire submit their 
response by 12th March. 

 
2.2 The stated aims of MHCLG for the proposed changes to the NPPF are to:  

 

• Ensure national planning policy is accessible and understandable for everyone 
who uses it; 

 

• Establish a comprehensive suite of national policies on general planning 
matters which will apply across the country, to avoid these matters being 
repeated or deviated from in locally-produced plans; and  

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk


March 11th | Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Contact:  Eddie West | Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk  2 

 

• Make the policy which it contains more ‘rules-based’ and certain, and so more 
capable of supporting timely and consistent planning. 

 

2.3 The Council’s proposed response to this Consultation is included in Appendix 1 to 
this report.  Whilst largely positive of many of the proposed changes to the NPPF, 
the Council’s response does highlight a number of areas where we are seeking 
changes and/or points of clarification.   

 
 

 
 

 
 

3. Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet 
 

3.1. approve the submission of the response to the Government’s consultation on 
reforms to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and associated 
reforms to the planning system, as set out in Appendix 1 to this report. 
 

3.2. delegate authority to the Service Director for Legal, Governance and Planning in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning to agree any minor additional 
changes to the Council’s response to the consultation ahead of its submission to 
the Government before 12th March 2026. 
 

 
 

Report 
 

4. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 
 
 

4.1. It is considered that the recommendations within this report do not pose a 
significant risk to the Council, as they relate to seeking approval to submit a 
response to Government’s consultation on proposed reforms to the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and associated reforms to the planning 
system. Rather these recommendations provide an opportunity to contribute to 
positively shaping proposed reform of the NPPF and associated reform of the 
planning system 
 

4.2. However, it is important to note that the proposed reforms to the NPPF and 
associated reforms to the planning system, if implemented in their current form, 
will likely have a very significant impact on Shropshire Council’s Planning 
Services. 

 
4.3. With regard to the Development Management service, a key issue is proposals 

would likely to lead to an increase in the number and complexity of speculative 
planning applications and planning appeals, which has resource and cost 
implications. If changes are introduced in their current form, it will be important to 

Page 34

mailto:Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk


March 11th | Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Contact:  Eddie West | Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk  3 

 

progress the new Local Plan towards adoption as early as possible in order to 
mitigate the impact of speculative development.  

 

  
 

5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1. Shropshire Council continues to manage unprecedented financial demands and a 
financial emergency was declared by Cabinet on 10 September 2025. The overall 
financial position of the Council is set out in the monitoring position presented to 
Cabinet on a monthly basis.  Significant management action has been instigated 
at all levels of the Council reducing spend to ensure the Council's financial 
survival. While all reports to Members provide the financial implications of 
decisions being taken, this may change as officers and/or Portfolio Holders review 
the overall financial situation and make decisions aligned to financial survivability. 
All non-essential spend will be stopped and all essential spend challenged. These 
actions may involve (this is not exhaustive):   
 •  scaling down initiatives,   
 •  changing the scope of activities,   
 •  delaying implementation of agreed plans, or   
 •  extending delivery timescales. 
 

5.2. It is considered that the recommendations within this report do not have a 
significant financial implication for the Council, as they relate to seeking approval 
to submit a response to Government’s consultation on proposed reforms to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and associated reforms of the 
planning system. Rather these recommendations provide an opportunity to 
contribute to positively shaping proposed reform of the NPPF and associated 
reform to the planning system. 
 

5.3. However, it is considered that the proposed reforms to the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) and associated reforms to the planning system, if 
enacted in line with the draft proposals, are likely to have an impact on both the 
number of planning applications received and the type and frequency of reviews to 
the development plan. Both these are likely to have financial implications on the 
Council in how they seek to respond effectively to these demands. 

 

5.4. From a Plan making perspective, the draft NPPF formally introduces the concept 
of the shorter, more efficient ’30 month’ plan making process.  Policies PM2 and 
PM15 of the Draft NPPF establish the expectations on LPA’s in preparing and 
being subject to independent examination on Local Plans.   

 

5.5. Whilst the statutory nature and related financial implications of Local Plan making 
is already well established, the draft NPPF (alongside the recently enacted 
Planning and Infrastructure Act) does introduce the new statutory provision on 
‘strategic planning authorities’ (such as Shropshire Council) to formally prepare a 
Spatial Development Strategy (SDS).  This new statutory element of the 
Development Plan will inevitably require additional resource.  Whilst it is 
considered these two complementary plan making processes will share aspects of 
evidence, it should also be recognised an SDS is subject to a separate 
Independent Examination process, which will be an additional financial burden.   

 

Page 35

mailto:Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk


March 11th | Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Contact:  Eddie West | Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk  4 

 

5.6. The Government are currently consulting on the geographic scope of SDS’s, in a 
separate consultation process. As there remains a lot of uncertainty about the 
scope of an SDS for Shropshire, the degree of financial risk remains unclear.  
Indeed, it should also be recognised a key objective of an SDS is to support 
economic growth and to support inward investment.  At this stage therefore the 
Council’s proposed response to the role and content of SDS’s is largely positive, 
whilst also raising the issue of resourcing such a process.       
 
 

6. Climate Change Appraisal 
 

 
 

6.1. The draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) reaffirm the purpose of the 
planning system, by managing the use and development of land in the long term 
public interest.  In doing this the draft NPPF includes Chapter 5 - meeting the 
challenge of climate change, with the stated objective to support the transition to 
net zero by 2050, and establishing national policies to shape places in ways that 
contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and adapt to the full 
range of current and potential impacts of climate change.  
 

6.2. Most notably, draft Policy CC1 – Planning for Climate Change – would require 
Local Planning Authorities in their Development Plans (such as Local Plans and 
Spatial Development Strategies) to take a proactive approach to adapting to 
climate change through the development patterns they promote in their spatial 
strategy and site allocations; addressing any site specific risks from climate 
change in their site allocations; setting water efficiency standards for new 
development where justified by evidence; and identifying opportunities for green 
infrastructure provision and nature based solutions which can safeguard and 
improve carbon storage, support nature recovery and resilience, and which take 
account of Local Nature Recovery Strategies.    

 
 

6.3. The Council’s proposed response to Policy CC1 is included at Q42 in Appendix 1 
to this report.  It is largely positive, although it does highlight the additional 
resource burden on the Council in fulfilling these requirements, most notably the 
expectation that Councils undertake baseline assessments of carbon emissions 
and the potential effect of development options on future emissions and mitigation.  
In addition, national decision making policies CC2 – mitigation of Climate Change -  
and CC3 – Adaptation to Climate Change are both positively supported.  
 

 
 

7. Background 
 

7.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is an important national 
document, which sets out Government’s planning policies for England. These 
establish requirements for plan making and form an important material 
consideration when determining planning applications. The Government is seeking 
consultation responses on a new draft version of the NPPF by March 10th, 
although due to Cabinet dates, MHCLG have agreed that Shropshire submit their 
response by 12th March.   
 

Page 36

mailto:Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk


March 11th | Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Contact:  Eddie West | Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk  5 

 

7.2. The NPPF was last amended by MHCLG in December 2024.  This introduced a 
number of significant changes to national planning policy such as the concept of 
grey belt and the principal of areas meeting their own nationally defined housing 
needs.  This current consultation provides additional changes to both the layout 
and content of the NPPF.    

 

7.3. It remains the government’s stated mission to support economic growth and to 
tackle the Country’s housing crisis. The recognition of the continued importance of 
planning in meeting these missions is welcomed.  In responding to these 
proposals it is important to remember that the role of planning is ultimately to 
benefit local communities.  
 

7.4. The stated aims of MHCLG for the proposed changes to the NPPF are to:  
 

• Ensure national planning policy is accessible and understandable for everyone 
who uses it; 

 

• Establish a comprehensive suite of national policies on general planning 
matters which will apply across the country, to avoid these matters being 
repeated or deviated from in locally-produced plans – in so doing helping to 
speed up their preparation and preventing an unnecessary increase of different 
standards that can complicate development; and 

 

• Make the policy which it contains more ‘rules-based’ and certain, and so more 
capable of supporting timely and consistent planning – especially in those 
places where development is most desirable, where national policy should 
provide for a default “yes” to the principle of development. 

  
 

7.5. MHCLG have specifically asked for responses to an extensive and significant 
range of questions, covering all areas of the document.  Given the extensive 
number of questions, it has been necessary for priority to be given to areas of 
most direct importance to Shropshire.    
 

7.6. Of most significance, the draft NPPF is proposing the following: 
  

• The continuation of a plan-led approach to Planning, with the preparation and 
maintenance of up-to-date development plans being a priority in order to 
provide housing and other development in a sustainable manner;  

• The maintenance of non-statutory national development management policies 
(i.e. not part of the formal Development Plan for the area);  

• However, the intention that where current development plan policies 
established by Local Planning Authorities conflict with the new national 
development management policies, these local policies should carry only 
limited weight in planning decisions;  

• That national development management policies should not be replicated by 
emerging Development Plans, which is likely to lead to a more limited scope of 
local plan policies being developed by LPAs; 

• A clear separation between national plan making policies and decision-making 
policies in the layout of the document;  

• Further to the Planning and Infrastructure Act (Dec 2025) that the preparation 
of Spatial Development Strategies (SDSs) by strategic planning authorities is 

Page 37

mailto:Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk


March 11th | Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Contact:  Eddie West | Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk  6 

 

now a formal part of the statutory development plan for an area.  The new style 
SDSs should be ‘genuinely strategic in nature’ and would therefore supplement 
and not replace the role and purpose of Local Plan prepared by the Local 
Planning Authority as a statutory requirement;  

• Confirmation of a 30 month preparation process for Local Plans to be prepared 
under the new system, to be commenced upon the agreement of national 
secondary legislation;  

• Seeking a more focussed Local Plan process with defined outputs, a 
proportionate evidence base, and a clear focus on areas meeting their own 
development needs;  

• An amended version of the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ 
which introduces greater locational policies to guide and manage new 
development within and outside settlements.  This would include a presumption 
in favour of sustainable development for proposals within reasonable walking 
distance of a railway station which meets defined criteria.   
 

 
7.7. In addition, and of importance, the draft NPPF continues to require Local 

Authorities, through the preparation of both Spatial Development Strategies and 
Local Plans, to establish a minimum housing need in line with the Government’s 
Standard Methodology.  It is also clear that to ensure the preparation of ‘sound’ 
Spatial Development Strategies and Local Plans, there is an expectation that both 
these documents positively set out strategies which meet defined local needs.   
   

7.8. Appendix 1 to this report provides the Council’s proposed comprehensive 
response to this report.  Whilst there is general agreement with many of the 
changes proposed, a number of areas have been highlighted where changes 
and/or clarifications are being sought. 

 

7.9. The following are key points from the proposed Council response:  
 

7.9.1. Support is given to the principle of new style Spatial Development Strategies 
(SDSs), although in Shropshire’s case the geographic area for where this 
would apply and the partner authorities this would include, are yet to be 
determined.  More clarity is also needed on the resourcing of the SDS, as this 
should not distract from the core importance of preparing the Local Plan.   
 

7.9.2.   The principle of separating ‘plan making policies’ and ‘national decision 
making policies’ is supported, although the intention not to make these national 
decision making policies statutory is curious, and seems to be in conflict with 
wider planning law regarding the process of taking a decisions on planning 
applications.   
 

7.9.3. The introduction of the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ to 
all decisions is partly agreed, but amendments for clarification are sought, 
including the incorporation of greater emphasis on the need for this principle to 
support sustainably designed and located development more explicitly;  
 

7.9.4. It is strongly considered there is a need for the draft NPPF to confirm that the 
definition of ‘settlement’ should relate to those locations defined in a 
development plan; 
  

Page 38

mailto:Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk


March 11th | Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Contact:  Eddie West | Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk  7 

 

7.9.5. There are strong concerns relating to the proposals related to the principal of 
development outside settlements, and that there should be a greater emphasis 
on the development plan being the primary consideration to guide the location, 
scale and type of development in these locations.   

7.9.6. Whilst it is recognised the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
outside settlements is proposed to be expanded to include the development of 
housing and mixed use development within reasonable walking distance of a 
railway station, it is acknowledged that in applying the criteria included in 
footnote 26 of the draft NPPF, this would not currently relate to any train 
stations located in the Shropshire Council area.   
 

7.9.7. That the NPPF should provide more flexibility to Local Authorities in setting 
policies for appropriate mix of tenures in new development, especially in large 
rural areas where many sites are likely to be under the proposed 150 dwelling 
threshold;  
 

7.9.8. The specific reference to supporting the needs of rural business 
development is welcomed, but that clarifications are required to enable more 
positive considerations of such proposals.  
 

 
7.10. Subject to agreement by Cabinet, the Council’s full response (Appendix 1) 

will be submitted to MHCLG by the 12th March.  MHCLG will consider all responses 
before publishing a final version of the NPPF; likely to be late Spring or early 
Summer 2026.    

   

 
 

 
 

8. Conclusions 
 

8.1. The Council’s proposed response to the Government’s draft NPPF is included in 
Appendix 1 to this report.   
 

8.2. Whilst there is broad support for elements of the new NPPF, the Council’s 
response highlights some areas of concern and / or need for further clarification, 
especially regarding the Government’s proposed new approach to the application 
of the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’.    

 
 
 
 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information) 

 

Local Member:   

Page 39

mailto:Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk


March 11th | Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Contact:  Eddie West | Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk  8 

 

All 

Appendices [Please list the titles of Appendices] 

Appendix 1 – Shropshire Council Proposed Response to the National Planning 
Policy Framework and other changes to the planning system  

 
 

Page 40

mailto:Edward.West@shropshire.gov.uk


 

OFFICIAL 

 

Shropshire Council Response 
 

 

 

Proposed reforms to the National 

Planning Policy Framework and other 

changes to the planning system 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respondent: Shropshire Council 

Respondent Address: The Guildhall, Frankwell Quay, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND 

Respondent Email Address: planningpolicy@shropshire.gov.uk 

Respondent Phone Number (Planning): 0345 678 9004 

 

 

Page 41

mailto:planningpolicy@shropshire.gov.uk


 

1 | P a g e  

 

1) Do you have any views on how statutory National Development 

Management Policies could be introduced in the most effective manner, 

should a future decision be made to progress these? 

Shropshire Council considers that to provide certainty on the status of National 

Development Management Policies they should be statutory rather than non-

statutory as currently proposed. 

If they remain non-statutory, the ‘soundness’ test for Development Plan 

documents regarding consistency with national policy (including stating these 

documents must not duplicate, substantively restate or modify national policy) 

is inappropriate and must be subject to change.  

One or other of these changes is necessary as failing to have statutory policies 

addressing critical matters (such as heritage and ecology assets) poses a risk 

for compliance with other statutory requirements; will provide insufficient 

certainty of approach; and will reduce confidence amongst communities, 

decision-makers and applicants. It is also considered contrary to the intended 

purpose of the planning system. 

Failing to enact one of these changes would present a significant challenge to 

Local Planning Authorities when undertaking Strategic Environmental 

Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of Development 

Plan Documents. Policies on key matters addressed in the National 

Development Management Policies are often relied on when considering 

management or mitigation of adverse effects, but if non-statutory (either 

nationally or locally) there is likely to be insufficient certainty to rely on them. 

It is understood that one of the perceived advantages of the non-statutory 

status of National Development Management Policies is the ability to rapidly 

review them. In actuality this is a weakness, as it increases the risk of a policy 

vacuum on key issues that the Development Plan relies on; further reduces the 

confidence of communities, decision-makers and applicants; and enhances the 

challenge when undertaking SEA and HRA. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the continued commitment to a plan-led system, 

as specified in paragraph 2 of the new draft National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF). This is considered essential in order to achieve the overriding purpose 

of the planning system - achievement of sustainable development, by 

managing the use and development of land in the long-term public interest. 

However, the Council is concerned about the legality of the phraseology in 

paragraph 3 of the NPPF, which specifies the document should be “read 

alongside the policies in the development plan.” This implies that the NPPF 

would be considered as part of the Development Plan for an area rather than as 

a material consideration. This is contrary to paragraph 1 of the NPPF which 

specifically recognises the NPPF is a material consideration and planning law 

which requires decision to be made in accordance with the development plan – 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Page 42



 

2 | P a g e  

 

2) Do you agree with the new format and structure of the draft 

Framework which comprises separate plan-making policies and 

national decision-making policies? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly agree.  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council supports the proposed layout of the NPPF, which provides a 

clearer distinction between those policies that address plan-making and those 

which address decision-making. 

It is noted that paragraph 8 of the NPPF specifies that plan-making policies 

should not be used when making decisions, but it does not specify whether 

decision-making policies should be used when preparing Development Plans. 

Clarity on this matter is required. 

 

3) Do you agree with the proposed set of annexes to be incorporated into 

the draft Framework? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council agrees with the principle of including annexes, which 

provide further detail of specific matters, within the NPPF. The Council is also 

generally supportive of the proposal in paragraph 9 of the NPPF that these 

annexes would constitute national policy. 

Furthermore, the scope of the issues addressed within the proposed annexes is 

considered generally appropriate, providing valuable clarity/status to key 

issues. However, the Council does have specific comments on the content of 

certain annexes. These are addressed in responding to other questions within 

this consultation. 

 

4) Do you agree with incorporating Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 

within the draft Framework?  Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree 

nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers, subject to the wording of relevant policies and 

tailored provision for the very specific accommodation needs of the GRT 

community that this may facilitate greater consistency and clarity of approach.  

Page 43



 

3 | P a g e  

 

5) Do you agree with the proposed approach to simplifying the 

terminology in the Framework where weight is intended to be applied? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree 

Partly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree  

Shropshire Council supports the clearer distinction between plan making polices 

and national decision making policies and the clarity for decision makers to the 

approach to weighting. 

With decision making policies proposed to be non-statutory, Shropshire Council 

has reservations as to the potential for their weight to be interpreted 

differently. This could lead to a lack of consistency contrary to the aims of their 

introduction.   

 

6) Do you agree with the role, purpose and content of spatial 

development strategies set out in policy PM1? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

The introduction of this strategic level of plan making, combined with the 

revisions proposed to the duty to cooperate process, is likely to enable more 

constructive cross boundary discussions and agreed outcomes. However, for 

Local Planning Authorities outside existing Combined Authority areas, there 

remains substantial uncertainty about the spatial geography involved in plan-

making, and these fundamental matters must be resolved before full support 

can be provided to this approach.  

In addition, there are significant concerns regarding the resource burden this 

new layer of plan-making will inevitably create. Without additional national 

financial support, it is unclear how areas without an existing Combined 

Authority function will be able to successfully navigate a dual approach to plan-

making at the strategic and local levels. Without confirmation of additional 

financial support, we are unable to offer full support to the role and purpose of 

spatial development strategies (SDS).    

It would also be helpful if the NPPF could provide clarity to Local Planning 

Authorities on the hierarchy and timing of the interconnecting parts of the 

Development Plan, most notably that there remains an expectation that Local 

Plan progress should not be delayed even if an SDS is still early in its 

development. This reassurance is required to reduce risk to Local Planning 

Authorities and to mitigate any potential challenge to a Local Plan process at 

Examination. 

Page 44



 

4 | P a g e  

 

In addition, it is noted that in the current consultation by MHCLG ‘areas for 

producing spatial development strategies’ (published 12th Feb 2026), it is 

stressed that SDS’s “are not big local plans”. This seems to be predicated on 

the fact SDS’s cannot be site specific or allocate/designate particular sites.  

Whilst this ‘hierarchy’ is supported, it is considered this important principal is 

potentially at odds with some of the expectations placed upon the SDS 

regarding their proposed remit and burden of evidence (policy PM1) and their 

examination (policy PM14).   

For instance, policy PM1(d) indicates that in order to set a sustainable pattern 

of growth and in order to identify broad locations for strategic development, 

the SDS should identify the “general extent” of where Green Belt boundary 

changes may be needed through the Local Plan preparation. Whilst logical, this 

places a high evidence base burden on Strategic Planning Authorities. This is 

emphasised in policy PM14(2)(c) which requires an examiner to be satisfied 

that Local Plans will be capable of identifying sites allocations to implement the 

SDS spatial strategy, which would indicate that the evidence base requirements 

of an SDS cannot be dissimilar to that of a Local Plan.   

It is important that the role and context of an SDS is clear from the outset, 

especially for areas without a history of joint working in the past on Local Plans. 

As written, there is concern policy PM1 does not achieve this. It is strongly 

suggested that additional guidance is required for an SDS, akin to the Local 

Plan making guidance, to allow Strategic Planning Authorities to move forward 

with confidence.     

    

7) Do you agree that alterations should be made to spatial development 

strategies at least every 5 years to reflect any changes to housing 

requirements for the local planning authorities in the strategy area? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree. 

Partly agree.   

It is clearly good practice for parts of the Development Plan to be reviewed 

when required. However, given the ‘genuinely strategic nature’ of the SDS (as 

detailed in policy PM1(1)), it is doubtful a full review will be required any earlier 

than every five years.   

The reference in policy PM1(3) to limited alterations is therefore welcomed, 

although it is considered this should be expanded to reference the 

circumstances where an examination of a review would be required, i.e. would 

an examination be required of an SDS where only partially reviewed, but did 

not alter the core strategic components? Additional guidance on the role and 

content and an SDS would help clarify these procedural matters.    

Page 45



 

5 | P a g e  

 

Ultimately, to ensure resources are utilised on the most appropriate areas, and 

to ensure delivery of site allocations within a sustainable pattern of 

development, it is perhaps more important to ensure than in time the SDS and 

their ‘sister’ Local Plan documents are in sync with each other. It is therefore 

considered more likely for there to be a need to review Local Plans rather than 

SDS’s, even if this does not alter the overall strategic direction of growth.    

a) If not, do you think there should be a different approach, for example, 

that alterations should only be made to spatial development strategies 

every five years where there are significant changes to housing need in 

the strategy area? 

See response to question 7. 

 

8) If spatial development strategies are not altered every five years, 

should related policy on the requirements used in five year housing 

land supply and housing delivery test policies, set out in Annex D of the 

draft Framework, be updated to allow housing requirement figures 

from spatial development strategies to continue to be applied after 5 

years, so long as there has not been a significant change in that area’s 

local housing need? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Neither agree nor disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

To avoid unhelpful and unnecessary reviews to a “genuinely strategic 

document”, it is generally considered helpful for as much weight to be applied 

to an SDS beyond 5 years.    

 

9) Do you agree with the role, purpose and content of local plans set out 

in policy PM2? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the role, purpose and content of 

local plans set out in policy PM2. 

However, the Council would again raise the concern about the proposed 

limitation on the scope of Development Management policies to not duplicate, 

substantively restate or modify national policy. This is because they are not 

statutory policies and failing to address critical matters (such as heritage and 

ecology assets) through statutory policy poses a risk for compliance with other 

statutory requirements; will provide insufficient certainty of approach; and will 

Page 46



 

6 | P a g e  

 

reduce confidence amongst communities, decision-makers and applicants. It is 

also considered contrary to the intended purpose of the planning system. 

Shropshire Council supports the principle that Local Plan policies can address 

“particular local issues”. However, linked to the above concern, the Council has 

a specific concern that in preparing such policy, it could be perceived that 

national policy on associated issues is being modified – which is contrary to 

policy PM15.  

As such, it is recommended that to avoid potential risk of internal conflict 

within the NPPF and to ensure that Local Planning Authorities are able to 

introduce Local Plan policy to address genuine ‘local issues’, further 

consideration is given to the wording of the restriction on Local Plan policy to 

modify national policy in PM15 and related policies. 

Paragraph 3 of policy PM2 details the circumstances within which a review of 

the Local Plan should commence. It includes where the housing requirement 

has significantly increased. To provide certainty for all, Shropshire Council 

considers this increase should be quantified. It is suggested a 20% increase is 

appropriate, reflecting the transitional arrangement in the current NPPF 

regarding circumstances in which an immediate review of emerging Local Plans 

is required. 

Shropshire Council notes footnote 7 outlines requirements for site allocations. 

These principles are generally supported, but it would suggest an example 

template may be of value. It must also be noted that this process is extensive 

and in combination with increased expectations for levels of development has 

resource implications for Local Planning Authorities. 

 

10) Do you think that local plans should cover a period of at least 15 years 

from the point of adoption of the plan? Yes/No 

Yes. 

a) If not, do you think they should cover a period of at least 10 years, or a 

different period of time. Please explain why.  

Shropshire Council recognises that the expectation that Local Plans ‘look 

forward’ a period of at least 15 years is well established and provides 

opportunities to consider the longer terms needs and opportunities of an area. 

It is also recognised that the forthcoming amendments to the plan-making 

process are intended to speed-up plan-making thereby reducing the risk of the 

need to amend the end of the plan period during it. 

However, Local Planning Authorities have only limited control of the 

examination process and the timescales associated with it. As such, it is 

suggested that it may be more appropriate to align the 15 year period with the 

point of submission for examination, rather than adoption. This avoids the risk 

Page 47



 

7 | P a g e  

 

that a protracted examination (potentially resulting from parties that wish to 

delay the examination for this very reason) results in the need to extend the 

plan-period. 

One conclusion from the question about the most suitable time period for a 

Local Plan is: that the period for delivering a Plan Strategy, whatever the 

number of years may be, should commence from the formal adoption date for a 

Local Plan.  In this way, delays during a Local Plan Examination or issues 

encountered through the preparation of a Local Plan, will not result in an 

otherwise ‘sound’ Local Plan being withdrawn because the time remaining to 

deliver the Plan Strategy has fallen below the prescribed number of years.   

A Local Planning Authority will also not be left without a Local Plan because a 

currently adopted Plan expired before a new Local Plan could be adopted. 

In advocating this conclusion, it is considered that most new Local Plans will be 

adopted nearly 8 years after the adoption of a preceding Local Plan.  Adopted 

Local Plans should be implemented for 5 years and a new Local Plan will take 

nearly 3 years to adopt.  The effects of an extended Examination possibly with 

preceding delays at Gateways 2 and 3 could extend this time period between 

adoption dates, up to or beyond 10 years in some instances. 

 

11) Do you agree with the principles set out in policy PM6(1c), including its 

provisions for preventing duplication of national decision-making 

policies?  Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly disagree. 

 a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers that to provide certainty on the status of National 

Development Management Policies, they should be statutory rather than non-

statutory as currently proposed. 

If they remain non-statutory, the ‘soundness’ test for Development Plan 

documents regarding consistency with national policy (including stating these 

documents must not duplicate, substantively restate or modify national policy) 

is inappropriate and must be subject to change.  

One or other of these changes is necessary as failing to have statutory policies 

addressing critical matters (such as heritage and ecology assets) poses a risk 

for compliance with other statutory requirements; will provide insufficient 

certainty of approach; and will reduce confidence amongst communities, 

decision-makers and applicants. It is also considered contrary to the intended 

purpose of the planning system. 

Failing to enact one of these changes would present a significant challenge to 

Local Planning Authorities when undertaking Strategic Environmental 

Page 48



 

8 | P a g e  

 

Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of Development 

Plan Documents. Policies on key matters addressed in the National 

Development Management Policies are often relied on when considering 

management or mitigation of adverse effects, but if non-statutory (either 

nationally or locally) there is likely to be insufficient certainty to rely on them. 

It is understood that one of the perceived advantages of the non-statutory 

status of National Development Management Policies is the ability to rapidly 

review them. In actuality this is a weakness, as it increases the risk of a policy 

vacuum on key issues that the Development Plan relies on; further reduces the 

confidence of communities, decision-makers and applicants; and enhances the 

challenge when undertaking SEA and HRA. 

 

12) Do you agree with the approach to initiating plan-making in PM7? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree. 

Neither agree nor disagree. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree  

Shropshire Council considers the outlined approach is generally appropriate and 

aligns with its understanding of the process garnered from previously published 

guidance on the new plan-making process. 

It is noted that footnote 13 refers to relevant tools and templates to support 

the initiation of plan-making. Such tools would be welcome, but do not 

currently appear to be available. The Council would encourage their provision 

at the earliest opportunity. 

 

13) Do you agree with the approach to the preparation of plan evidence set 

out in policy PM8? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes recognition that evidence should be relevant to 

the matters being considered in the Development Plan, proportionate and 

focused/not unnecessarily extensive. The Council also welcomes the specific 

recognition in PM8(2) that it is often proportionate to rely on existing evidence 

(updated where appropriate).  

Whilst the Council also agrees that evidence draw from suitable and up-to-date 

sources, further recognition of what constitutes up-to-date varies dependent on 

subject would be welcome. As an example, mineral safeguarding is a factual 

assessment of minerals present and as such is unlikely to be subject to change 

Page 49



 

9 | P a g e  

 

and therefore remains up-to-date irrespective of when the assessment was 

undertaken. 

PM8(4) specifies “evidence on development needs established early in plan 

preparation should not require reviewing and updating unless there are strong 

reasons to do so”. Whilst the Council welcomes this principle, it is considered 

greater certainty on what constitutes a ‘strong reason’ is required. In its 

absence there is a real risk that this could lead to unnecessary delays to plan-

making and examination. 

 

14) Do you agree with the approach to identifying land for development in 

PM9? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the clear expectations on site assessment 

identified in PM9 and associated guidance. 

 

15) Do you agree with the policies on maintaining and demonstrating cross-

boundary cooperation set out in policy PM10 and policy PM11? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council supports the principle that cross-boundary cooperation is a 

soundness test rather than a legal test. 

The Council is also generally supportive of the principles for cross-boundary 

cooperation detailed in policies PM10 and PM11. However, it considers that 

further clarification is required on a number of matters. This includes: 

a. Policy PM10(1) references the need to engage proactively with “other 

relevant plan-making authorities (where there are strategic 

interdependencies across boundaries)”. It is considered that greater 

certainty is required on what constitutes ‘strategic interdependencies’. In its 

absence there is a real risk that this could lead to a precautionary approach 

which may be disproportionate and result in unnecessary delays to plan-

making and examination.  

b. Policy PM11(b) references distributing unmet needs across neighbouring 

and/or nearby areas. Shropshire Council would advocate removal of the 

reference to ‘nearby areas’ so as to ensure clarity, consistency with the 

Page 50



 

10 | P a g e  

 

wider NPPF and the achievement of the needs of communities (recognising 

that the further removed such locations are from where the need originates 

the less likely they are to meet the actual needs of communities). If this 

reference is retained, then greater certainty is required on what constitutes 

a ‘nearby area’, in its absence there is a real risk that this could lead to 

unnecessary delays to plan-making and examination.  

c. Policy PM11 should include clear reference to evidence of cooperation being 

proportionate. Too often previous examinations have spent copious 

amounts of time debating whether cooperation has been undertaken 

despite the presence of Statements of Common Ground and 

representatives of relevant bodies confirming this to be the case. 

 

16) Do you agree that policy PM12 increases certainty at plan-making stage 

regarding the contributions expected from development proposals? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council agrees that Local Plans should outline the approach to 

developer contributions. However, it is critical that policy PM12 includes 

recognition that infrastructure needs evolve over the course of the plan 

implementation period and as further evidence becomes available in support of 

a development proposal. The Council is very much concerned that in its current 

format, this policy could undermine the ability to ensure that the infrastructure 

necessary to support development is provided. 

 

17) Do you agree that plans should set out the circumstances in which 

review mechanisms will be used, or should national policy set clearer 

expectations? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council recognises the need to detail the circumstances in which a 

review mechanism to reduce policy requirements is appropriate. However, the 

Council suggests in outlining this expectation, the policy should: 

a. Include the general expectation that the majority of development should 

achieve policy compliance, given these requirements will be informed by 

viability assessment. 

Page 51



 

11 | P a g e  

 

b. Clearly specify that it is only in limited and exceptional circumstances 

where a review mechanism would be utilised and detail what such 

circumstances entail – for instance where the form of development 

proposed is not comparable to those assessed within the Local Plan viability 

assessment. 

 

18) Do you agree with policy PM13 on setting local standards, including the 

proposal to commence s.43 of the Deregulation Act 2015? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers that policy PM13 is overly-restrictive regarding 

the scope of local standards. As an example, PM13(1)(c) specifies such 

standards should not relate to the construction or internal layout of a building, 

but this is considered contradictory to PM13(1) which specifies quantitative 

standards can address design and placemaking (which can influence internal 

layout of a building) and PM13(1)(b) which confirms the ability to address 

accessibility standards (which again influence internal layout of a building). It 

also seems contrary to policy CC1. 

 

19) Do you agree that the tests of soundness set out in policies PM14 and 

PM15 will allow for a proportionate assessment of spatial development 

strategies, local plans and minerals and waste plans at examination? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a)If not, please explain how this could be improved to ensure a 

proportionate assessment, making it clear which type of plan you are 

commenting on? 

Shropshire Council considers that the test of soundness for SDS’s, as outlined 

in policy PM14, are largely appropriate - subject to the concern, explained more 

fully in response to question 1, that if Development Management Policies 

remain non-statutory, the ‘soundness’ test for Development Plan documents 

regarding consistency with national policy (including stating these documents 

must not duplicate, substantively restate or modify national policy) is 

inappropriate and must be subject to change.  

 

Page 52



 

12 | P a g e  

 

However, the Council has concerns regarding the scope of the examination of 

SDS’s outlined in policy PM14. Specifically, whilst the expectation that in 

examining SDS’s the Inspector considers compliance with relevant procedural 

requirements and soundness is entirely appropriate, Shropshire Council is 

concerned about inclusion of an unambiguous ability for examiners to consider 

“other matters” they consider to be appropriate. It is strongly considered that 

to ensure certainty and transparency the remit of the Inspector is that of 

ensuring compliance with relevant procedural requirements and soundness. 

Furthermore, the Council has concerns regarding the process in circumstances 

where an Inspector does not consider an SDS to be sound - suggesting 

modification or recommend withdrawal. To support Government ambitions it is 

considered this should be expressed as a hierarchy, with the clear preference 

being suggesting modifications where at all possible, before determining the 

need to recommend withdrawal. 

Shropshire Council considers that the test of soundness for Local Plans as 

outlined in policy PM15 are largely appropriate - subject to the concern, 

explained more fully in response to question 1, that if Development 

Management Policies remain non-statutory, the ‘soundness’ test for 

Development Plan documents regarding consistency with national policy 

(including stating these documents must not duplicate, substantively restate or 

modify national policy) 

 However, it is considered that policy PM15(1)(e) would benefit from revision to 

provide greater certainty and confidence for Local Planning Authorities to 

progress the next round of Local Plans in advance of SDS’s – currently there is 

a real risk that this test could result in unhelpful delays to plan-making and 

subsequent soundness challenges during examination.  

Furthermore, the need for pragmatism should be recognised in circumstances 

where plan-making has significantly advanced before an SDS is sufficiently 

progressed to allow for its consideration. This will ensure timely plan-making 

and avoid unnecessary soundness challenge that can delay examination. 

The Council is also supportive of the expectation, detailed in policy PM15(2), 

that these tests of soundness are applied in a proportionate way. 

However, the Council has concerns regarding the use of ‘panel of Inspectors’ 

during examination of Local Plans. Whilst it is understood that in circumstances 

where there are complex Local Plans this may be required, this inevitably adds 

costs to the process despite best efforts of the Planning Inspectorate to avoid 

duplication. Furthermore, Local Planning Authorities, which are responsible for 

meeting these costs, have no control over decisions on the number of 

Inspectors appointed, the approach to examination, or the timescales for 

examination – in effect there is currently a need to write a ‘blank cheque’.  

As such, Shropshire Council would strongly recommend the total Inspector cost 

of an examination is preferably met by Government in a manner consistent 

Page 53



 

13 | P a g e  

 

with S78 appeals. Alternatively, this total cost should be ‘capped’ so as to 

provide certainty to Local Planning Authorities and the Planning Inspectorate. 

Such an approach also aligns with the principles of universal Local Plan 

coverage and ensuring timely examination. 

 

20) Do you have any specific comments on the content of the plan-making 

chapter which are not already captured by the other questions in this 

section? 

Shropshire Council has concerns regarding policy PM6(1)(d) which outlines 

expectations for positive engagement with communities and other stakeholders 

“as early as possible during the plan-making process”. Whilst the principle of 

effective community engagement is supported, given the timescales for plan-

making and the specified scope of the informal scoping consultation and two 

statutory consultations outlined in guidance on the new plan-making process, it 

is concerned that this statement raises unrealistic expectations regarding 

consultation. 

Shropshire Council would also suggest that referenced to Habitats Regulations 

Assessment is included in policy PM6(1)(e). 

The Council also notes that policy PM6(1)(f) requires Development Plans to be 

published in a digital format. Whilst this expectation is understood, to ensure 

consistency and respond to resource availability it would welcome Government 

committing to providing Local Planning Authorities with free to use software to 

support achievement of this requirement. 

Policy PM16 addresses the examination of Supplementary Plans. Shropshire 

Council would welcome the inclusion of clarity on which bodies are able to 

undertake this examination being included within the NPPF. 

 

21) Do you agree with the principles set out in policy DM1? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the principles set out in policy 

DM1. However, it considers that reference to this being undertaken ‘where 

appropriate’ is overly ambiguous. It is recommended that this is either 

removed from the policy or clarity is provided on circumstances where it is 

considered appropriate to undertake early engagement on proposals for major 

development. 

Furthermore, policy DM1(1)(a) includes reference to both early engagement 

and pre-application engagement. Shropshire Council is unclear if this is 

Page 54



 

14 | P a g e  

 

intended to refer to the same or two different processes. As such, it is 

recommended that clear distinction is made between early engagement with 

communities and statutory consultees and pre-application processes with Local 

Planning Authorities. 

Policy DM1(2) specifies that other types of development should be supported 

by the “minimum necessary information requirements to enable a decision”. 

Whilst Shropshire Council recognises the intention is to ensure that 

unnecessary information burdens are not placed on applicants, it is concerned 

that this wording could lead to unnecessary debate about what information 

constitutes the minimum necessary and, in any event has negative 

connotations. As such, it is recommended that this is instead phrased as 

‘sufficient information to enable a decision’. 

 

22) Do you agree with the policy DM2 on information requirements for 

planning applications? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Policy DM2(2) specifies local validation lists should only include additional 

requirements to those in Annex C of the NPPF where there is a policy in the 

Development Plan requiring a specific further assessment.  

Whilst Shropshire Council supports the ability to include additional 

requirements to those in Annex C of the NPPF, it considers the circumstances in 

which these are allowed is overly restrictive. Specifically, it is considered that 

this approach reduces the ability to proactively respond to changing local 

circumstances that emerge following adoption of a Development Plan and 

raises concerns about the ability to comply with other legislation that may 

result in the need for a local validation list requirement – such as the 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). As such, Shropshire Council recommend 

greater flexibility is provided regarding local validation list requirements. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the inclusion of Heritage Impacts Assessments 

within the list of information requirements in Annex C. However, the wording in 

the third column does not explicitly mention archaeological interest and 

potential. It is therefore considered that for clarity this should be included as 

follows (insert the underlined text): Assessment of the significance of the 

asset(s) affected (including any contribution made by their setting and where 

there is known or potential archaeological interest) and of the potential 

effect(s) of the proposal(s) on their significance. 

Annex C also makes no reference to the requirement for the essential 

arboriculture information (in line with the relevant British Standard currently in 

BS 5837: 2012). This information is needed to assess arboriculture matters as 

Page 55



 

15 | P a g e  

 

a relevant material consideration across a range of planning applications and 

should not be dependent on inclusion of the required detail in local plan policy.   

 

23) Do you have any views on whether such a policy could be better 

implemented through regulations? 

N/A 

 

24) Do you agree with the principles set out in DM3? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Whilst Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the principles outlined in 

policy DM3, it has concerns about certain aspects. Specifically: 

a. Paragraph (1)(a) specifies Local Planning Authorities should seek “solutions 

to problems arising from initial proposals”. Whilst this principle is not 

unreasonable, there is a real risk that it is exploited - encouraging ‘rushed’, 

‘poor’ or ‘unevidenced’ planning applications. This risks direct conflict with 

the expectation of a “timely decision”. As such, it is recommended that this 

expectation is amended to reflect the fact it is the responsibility of the 

applicant to ensure that Local Planning Authorities have the information 

required to reach a decision at the point that a planning application is 

submitted and that proposals positively respond to this information. Further 

it should reflect that whilst Local Planning Authorities should of course seek 

to positively support applicants to resolve problems with their planning 

application, it is not the role of Local Planning Authority to resolve the 

problem. Finally, it is essential that this paragraph recognises that in 

circumstances where significant work will be required to resolve problems, 

in order to enable a timely decision it may be necessary to refuse the 

planning application. 

b. Paragraph (1)(c) specifies that decisions should not be delayed to secure 

advice from statutory or internal consultee beyond their statutory deadlines 

unless there is insufficient information to make the decision. Whilst 

Shropshire Council is supportive of this principle, it is essential that this 

paragraph recognises that this is often exactly the situation in 

circumstances where such responses are awaited. 

 

25) Do you agree that policy DM5 would prevent unnecessary negotiation 

of developer contributions, whilst also providing sufficient flexibility 

for development to proceed? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

Page 56



 

16 | P a g e  

 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council supports the principle in policy DM5(1) that policy compliant 

development should be assumed to be viable, reducing the potential for delays 

in granting planning permission for such development. 

The Council is also supportive of the position in policy DM5(3) and DM5(6) - 

that the price paid/intended to be paid for land should not be a justification for 

failing to comply with policy requirements and that in circumstances where 

developer contributions are reduced the potential for them to be increased 

should be monitored over the lifetime of the development. 

However, Shropshire Council has concerns about unintended consequences of 

policy DM5(2) and DM5(4). These include: 

a. Through the introduction of specific circumstances where viability 

assessment can be utilised to seek to reduce developer contributions, there 

is a real risk that developments will be structured so as to align with these 

circumstances with the intention of eroding developer contributions. 

b. The current wording of the policy is too broad, and an argument can be 

made for many developments that one or more of the example 

circumstances could apply. This poses the very realistic risk of delays to the 

determination of planning applications and increased costs to Local Planning 

Authorities as they review wholly unnecessary viability assessments.  

c. The current wording of the policy is considered too vague, with the 

circumstances where viability assessment may be required examples only. 

If this approach is to be retained, then Shropshire Council considers the 

circumstances where viability assessment could be appropriate should be 

expressed as a closed list. Failing to address this has the very realistic 

potential for delays on the determination of planning applications and 

increased costs to Local Planning Authorities as they review wholly 

unnecessary viability assessments.  

d. Policy DM5(4) does not align with DM5(2), as it does not require applicants 

submitting viability assessments to justify how the proposal complies with 

the circumstances outlined in DM5(2). 

For these reasons, Shropshire Council would recommend that the policy is 

amended to make it clear that the use of viability assessments in the context of 

planning applications is very much the exception and applicable in only very 

limited and specific circumstances. Such an approach adds weight to the 

principle of a plan-led planning system, will support timely decisions on 

planning applications, and ensures that development balances the 

considerations of viability and delivering community benefit. 

If this approach is retained, then the circumstances where viability assessment 

is appropriate should be very specific, clearly the exception rather than the 

rule, and the need for such an approach fully justified by the applicant. 

 

Page 57



 

17 | P a g e  

 

26) Do you have any further comments on the likely impact of policy DM5: 

Development viability? 

Recognising the commitment to a plan-led planning system, Shropshire Council 

considers that the general expectation in national policy must be that 

development should comply with the requirements of Local Plans. Local Plans 

constitute the statutory starting point for decision making and the requirements 

within them are informed by viability assessment and examination. 

Recognising the commitment to timely decisions on planning applications, 

Shropshire Council considers that national policy must avoid introducing 

mechanisms that create unnecessary challenge and delay to the determination 

of planning applications. 

For these reasons, the Council considers that the approach to viability in the 

NPPF must be clear that viability assessment in the context of planning 

applications is the exception rather than the rule. 

 

27) Do you have any views on how the process of modifying planning 

obligations under S106A, where needed once a section 106 agreement 

has been entered into, could be improved?  

Yes 

a) If so, please provide views on specific changes that may improve the 

efficacy of S106A and the main obstacles that result in delay when 

seeking modification of planning obligations. 

Shropshire Council considers delays frequently arise from the legal stages of 

the process and would welcome measures to streamline the legal processes, 

together with additional resourcing and targeted support for Local Authority 

legal teams to help enhance capacity, improve efficiency and support timely 

decision making.     

 

28) Do you have any views on how the process of modifying planning 

obligations could be improved in advance of any legislative change, 

noting the government’s commitment to boosting the supply of 

affordable housing.  

No comment. 

a) If so, please provide views on the current use of s73 and, if any, the 

impact on affordable housing obligations. 

N/A 

 

 

Page 58



 

18 | P a g e  

 

29) Do you agree with the approach for planning conditions and obligations 

set out in policy DM6, especially the use of model conditions and 

obligations? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly agree. 

Shropshire Council supports the alignment of the tests for planning conditions 

and clarification of the circumstances in which planning conditions should not 

be used, as this will assist with managing the expectations of those parties 

involved in the planning process. Shropshire Council also supports 

standardisation with model conditions to help with consistency and assist at 

appeal.  

 

30) Do you agree that policy DM7 clarifies the relationship between 

planning decisions and other regulatory regimes? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is very much supportive of the principles within policy DM7 

and the clarity it provides regarding the inter-relationship between the planning 

application process and other regulatory regimes. 

However, to ensure the operability of this policy, the Council would ask that 

careful consideration is given to the outcome of a recent judgement of a 

judicial review in Shropshire which addressed this specific issue and is of 

national importance. This Judgement: The King (on the application of Alison 

Caffyn) v Shropshire Council regarding Planning Application 17/05151/EIA. 

Within this decision the Court adopted a narrower interpretation of the Local 

Planning Authority’s ability to rely on regulatory regimes – specifically 

concluding it could not rely on the permitting regime or guidance. This has 

resulted in ambiguity over whether Local Planning Authorities can assume 

effective operation of Environment Agency / Natural England permitting 

regimes. 

As a result, it raises a real risk that the planning process will be forced to 

duplicate other regulatory controls, contrary to long standing principles and the 

intentions of policy DM7 – which directly address the issues raised within this 

judgement.  

The decision also poses a challenge under the Habitat Regulations, which is of 

course separate legislation to that governing the planning policy. 

 

Page 59



 

19 | P a g e  

 

31) Do you agree with the new intentional unauthorised development 

policy in policy DM8? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Policy DM8(2) addresses retrospective planning permissions for unauthorised 

development. It includes the requirement that “evidence that the unauthorised 

development was intentional…should be given substantial weight”. Shropshire 

Council considers that further clarity on this expectation is required. Guidance 

would be welcome as to how to evidence proving intent. Training for local 

authorities would be required if the intention is to interview on cases to 

determine intent.  

  Shropshire Council has reservations as to how successful this aspect of the 

policy will be based on experience of using the existing powers set out in the 

Written Ministerial Statement Green Belt Protection and Intentional 

Unauthorised Development. In cases where Shropshire Council gave weight to 

the intentional nature of the development, the issue was not addressed in the 

Inspector’s decision letter. To support consistent application additional training 

and clearer national guidance for Planning Inspectorate would be welcomed.   

 

32) Are there any specific types of harm arising from intentional 

unauthorised development, and any specific impacts from the proposed 

policy, which we should consider?  

No comment  

a) If so, are there any particular additions or mitigations which we should 

consider? 

N/A 

 

33) Do you agree with the new Article 4 direction policy in policy DM10? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the intention of DM 10 providing a more flexible 

policy in relation to in relation to the use of Article 4 Directions.  However, we 

would observe that, as currently worded, the policy actually implies that their 

use should be more restricted because of the limited range of examples given.  

In particular, we recommend that reference to their use within Conservation 

Areas and World Heritage sites, to conserve their character and appearance 

and Outstanding Universal Value, needs to be included. 

Page 60



 

20 | P a g e  

 

34) Do you agree with the proposed approach to setting a spatial strategy 

in development plans? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the proposed approach to setting 

a spatial strategy in development plans outlined in policy S2. 

However, whilst policy S2(1)(a) specifies that the Development Plan should 

identify “settlements within the development plan area”, which seems entirely 

logical given our plan-led system and the intention to achieve a sustainable 

pattern of development, the definition of a settlement in Annex B: Glossary 

specifies that it “includes areas defined as a settlement in the development 

plan”.  

Shropshire Council is concerned that this represents an unintended conflict 

within the NPPF. To remove this conflict and given the clear commitment to a 

plan-led system and achievement of a sustainable pattern of development 

within the NPPF, Shropshire Council would strongly encourage the definition of 

a settlement to be amended making it clear that settlements will be identified 

through the Development Plan. The examination of Development Plans will 

ensure that the approach to doing so is robust and avoids subsequent 

unnecessary debate on this matter. 

In addition to resolving the unintended conflict within the NPPF, this change 

also reduces the potential for unnecessary delays during plan-making, 

examination and resultant decision-making. 

Furthermore, policy S2(1)(c) specifies the Development Plan should identified 

land that is “protected or proposed to be enhanced for specific purposes”. 

Shropshire Council supports this principle, but would wish to avoid the risk that 

Development Plans become quickly out of date – particularly relevant given the 

pace of change to the planning system at this time. As such, it is recommended 

that this paragraph is amended to allow for such changing circumstances. 

 

35) Do you agree with the proposed definition of settlements in the 

glossary? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Policy S2(1)(a) specifies that the Development Plan should identify 

“settlements within the development plan area”, which seems entirely logical 

given the approach proposed in policies S4 and S5.  

Page 61



 

21 | P a g e  

 

However, within Annex B: Glossary the definition of a settlement specifies that 

it “includes areas defined as a settlement in the development plan”. Shropshire 

Council is concerned that this represents an unintended conflict within the 

NPPF. To remove this conflict and given the clear commitment to a plan-led 

system and achievement of a sustainable pattern of development within the 

NPPF, Shropshire Council would strongly encourage the definition of a 

settlement to be amended making it clear that settlements will be identified 

through the Development Plan. The examination of Development Plans will 

ensure that the approach to doing so is robust and avoids subsequent 

unnecessary debate on this matter. 

In addition to resolving the unintended conflict within the NPPF, this change 

also reduces the potential for unnecessary delays during plan-making, 

examination and resultant decision-making. 

 

36) Do you agree with the revised approach to the presumption in favour 

of sustainable development? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council has specific comments on policies S4 and S5, as addressed 

in response to questions 37 and 38. 

It is noted that policy S3 is titled the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. Given the intentions of the planning system, Shropshire Council 

would recommend this and all subsequent references are adjusted to a 

presumption in favour of sustainably designed and located development. 

Policy S3 deals with the sustainability of development in relation to its location 

within or outside defined settlements and appears to imply that defined 

settlements will be isolated and self-contained locations.  The aim of Draft 

NPPF: Chapter 4 is to achieve sustainable development and consequently, the 

‘presumption in favour’ must also include a ‘primary objective’ for 

communication, travel, transport, accessibility or connectivity with other 

locations.  This ‘primary objective’ might reasonably be taken from or reflect 

Policy TR3 – Locating Development in Sustainable Locations.  This amendment 

to Policy S3 would more properly apply the ‘presumption in favour’ test in the 

assessment of development proposals.  This policy provision will also help to 

achieve the aim of Draft NPPF: Chapter 15 Promoting Sustainable Transport 

and the objective of promoting the Connectivity Tool. 

The failure to include a ‘primary objective’ for communication, travel, transport, 

accessibility or connectivity overlooks the significant contribution that transport 

considerations make to achieving sustainable development, to moving towards 

Page 62



 

22 | P a g e  

 

Net Zero Carbon lifestyles and economic processes and adapting to the impacts 

of, or directly addressing the causes of, climate change. 

The concept of a ‘simpler’ presumption in favour test is challenging within the 

broader policy framework of the Draft NPPF.  Two of reasons for this conclusion 

are outlined below.  It is considered these reasons, with matters that may be 

raised by other respondents, suggest that a ‘simpler’ presumption in favour 

test will be difficult to implement effectively.  As a result, many decisions that 

fall to this ‘simpler’ presumption in favour test may need to be determined by 

the Inspectorate and even by the Courts.  Consequently, the presumption in 

favour test should be more sophisticated and more detailed than currently 

drafted, to best serve the NPPF objectives within a modern planning system. 

The Draft NPPF pursues broader policy objectives with greater effect and 

includes many instances where, it is expected that development proposals 

should be refused for reasons that are not ‘high level’ policy objectives.  This 

includes making effective use of land (Policy L3(4)); delivering well designed 

places (DP3(2)); protecting the health of young people (HC5(1)) and improving 

broadscale biodiversity (N2(2)). 

A number of ‘high level’ policy objectives also identify circumstances where 

development should be refused along with the instances above.  Where an 

NPPF Policy requires the impacts of a development to be assessed ‘against the 

national decision-making policies in this Framework’, a detailed and careful 

assessment of the planning balance will be required in decision making whereas 

the proposed presumption in favour test indicates this would be an 

uncomplicated and rather simplistic decision.  Policy S3 therefore presents a 

misleading policy position for developers and other applicants who propose 

development schemes to the local authorities. 

 

37) Do you agree to the proposed approach to development within 

settlements? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Whilst Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the principles in policy S4, 

it has concerns about specific details within the policy.  

These concerns include: 

a. Reflecting the principles of Policy S2, it is considered reference to 

settlements in this policy should be clear that this constitutes 

settlements identified within the Development Plan. Examination of 

Development Plans will ensure that the approach to identifying settlements 

is robust and this approach reflects the intended plan-led planning system 

and avoids subsequent unnecessary debate on this matter. 

Page 63



 

23 | P a g e  

 

b. Policy S4(1) includes an expectation that development is assessed against 

the national decision-making policies of the NPPF. Consistent with the 

continued commitment to a plan-led system and the requirements of policy 

S3(1)(c), Shropshire Council considers it is critical that this also includes an 

expectation that development is in conformity with the Development Plan. 

c. Policy S4(2) addresses the circumstances where proposals within 

settlements could have unacceptable impacts. Whilst it is noted that these 

considerations are not a ‘closed list’, it is concerning that specific reference 

is not included in policy S4(2)(a)(ii) to such considerations as public 

protection (noise, dust, odour, air pollution, contamination etc) and 

heritage assets. It is considered that it is critical that this is addressed to 

ensure that development achieves sustainable outcomes for new and 

existing communities and businesses.   

d. Policy S4 includes no reference to efficient use of land and design quality 

(including responding to the characteristics of the site and surroundings). 

The Council considers specific reference to these considerations is critical 

for sites within settlements. 

 

38) Do you agree to the proposed approach to development outside 

settlements? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council has concerns about the potential for conflict between this 

policy and Local Plans. On reflection, the Council considers Development Plans 

are a more effective mechanism for identifying forms of development 

appropriate outside of settlements than a national policy. This is because the 

approach to such development in Development Plans is informed by 

consideration of the wider spatial strategy and local circumstances, neither of 

which can be considered in national policy. For this reason, the Council would 

recommend the scope of this policy is significantly reduced. 

With regard to the detail of the policy, Shropshire Council has the following 

comments: 

a. Policy S5(1) includes an expectation that development is assessed against 

the national decision-making policies of the NPPF. Consistent with the 

continued commitment to a plan-led system and the requirements of policy 

S3(1)(c), Shropshire Council considers it is critical that this also includes an 

expectation that development is assessed for conformity with the 

Development Plan (other than in circumstances where development is to 

address an evidenced unmet need). 

Page 64



 

24 | P a g e  

 

b. Policy S5(2) addresses the circumstances where proposals within 

settlements could have unacceptable impacts. Whilst it is noted that these 

considerations are not a ‘closed list’, it is concerning that specific reference 

is not included in policy S4(2)(a)(ii) to such considerations as public 

protection (noise, dust, odour, air pollution, contamination etc) and 

heritage assets. It is considered that it is critical that this is addressed to 

ensure that development achieves sustainable outcomes for new and 

existing communities and businesses.   

c. Policy S5 includes no reference to efficient use of land and design quality 

(including responding to the characteristics of the site and surroundings). 

The Council considers specific reference to these considerations is critical 

for all sites either within or outside settlements. 

d. Footnote 24 provides a definition of an existing building. This is not 

consistent with the definition provided in footnote 49 of the draft NPPF, the 

existing definition of an original building in the current NPPF or as 

established through case law, which is ‘as constructed or at 1 July 1948’. To 

avoid unintended consequences Shropshire Council strongly recommends 

this definition aligns with that utilised elsewhere. 

e. Policy S5(5) clarifies the application of policy S5 in the Green Belt. 

Shropshire Council supports provision of this clarification, but considers the 

qualification regarding where development is not inappropriate in the Green 

Belt should also reference conformity with the Development Plan as well as 

the NPPF – consistent with the continued commitment to a plan-led system. 

f. The Council has a number of concerns about the specific categories of 

development addressed in policy S5 – this is addressed in response to 

question 39. 

 

39) Do you have any views on the specific categories of development which 

the policy would allow to take place outside settlements, and the 

associated criteria? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons. 

Minerals extraction in policy S5(1)(a): Whilst Shropshire Council recognises the 

importance of ensuring minerals supply, it is concerned about lack of explicit 

reference in this presumption to meeting identified needs or consideration of 

potential impacts. It is strongly recommended that mineral extraction is 

addressed as a separate entry in policy S5 so as to allow for reference to these 

two important issues. Furthermore, there is currently no reference to policies 

M3-M6 of the NPPF within any of the subsequent requirements of policy S5. 

Shropshire Council considers it is critical for such a reference to be included to 

ensure consistency of approach between policy S5 and policies M3-M6 of the 

NPPF.  

Page 65



 

25 | P a g e  

 

Rural businesses and services, including tourism in policy S5(1)(b): Whilst 

Shropshire Council is supportive of rural tourism, such provision must be 

sustainable. As such, it is recommended that a clear distinction is made 

between visitor accommodation and other forms of tourism provision. Visitor 

accommodation should be directed towards settlements (addressed in policy 

S4) unless directly associated with wider tourism provision that requires 

accommodation and is of an appropriate scale and character to their 

surroundings. Other forms of tourism may be appropriate to be addressed in 

policy S5, subject to inclusion of further criteria regarding provision of evidence 

that it enhances the role of the tourism sector, benefits the local community, is 

sensitive to the natural and built environment, and is of an appropriate scale 

and character to their surroundings. 

Limited infilling with groups of houses in policy S5(1)(e): Shropshire Council 

has significant concerns that this will result in development in unsustainable 

locations. This is because groups of houses are scattered across the 

countryside and perpetuating this pattern of development is directly contrary to 

the principles of sustainable development and will inherently contradict spatial 

strategies in Local Plans for the rural area. If the intention is to allow for 

development within sustainably located groups of housing, it is unnecessary in 

policy S5, as such development is already addressed in policy S4. As such, it is 

strongly recommended that this form of development is removed from policy 

S5. If it is retained, then clear definitions of what constitutes ‘limited infilling’ 

and ‘groups of housing’ is required, as is reference to sustainable locations and 

what this constitutes, as this is currently entirely ambiguous.  

 

40) Do you agree with the proposed approach to development around 

stations, including that it applies only to housing and mixed-use 

development capable of meeting the density requirements in chapter 

12? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons. 

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the definition of a qualifying 

railway station - which provides a high level of connectivity to jobs and 

services, within footnote 26. However, further clarity on what constitutes 

reasonable prospect that planned upgrades / agreement with a rail operator 

that service provision will increase is considered necessary to avoid 

unnecessary delays regarding interpretation.  

The Council is also supportive of the requirement for such development to be 

within a reasonable walking distance of a qualifying railway station. However, it 

is considered that a clear definition of what constitutes a reasonable walking 

distance is required to avoid unnecessary debate on this matter. 

Page 66



 

26 | P a g e  

 

Furthermore, the Council is supportive of the requirement for such 

development to be physically well related to a qualifying railway station, 

although this is somewhat contradicted by its extension to ‘the settlement 

within which the railway station is located’. If this extension of suitable 

locations is retained, it further increases the importance of specifying what 

constitutes a reasonable walking distance to a station. 

 

41) Do you agree that neighbourhood plans should contain allocations to 

meet their identified housing requirement in order to qualify for this 

policy? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree or disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) If not, please provide your reasons 

Shropshire Council is very supportive of neighbourhood planning and on this 

basis is supportive of the continuation of the approach to them within the 

context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. However, it is 

important to note the pertinence of the words ‘where it is appropriate to do so’ 

in PM5 1a, as allocations for housing within neighbourhood plans must respond 

to the needs and context of their locality, with the caveat that PM5 2 must also 

apply.  

 

42) Do you agree with the approach to planning for climate change in 

policy CC1? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

The principles in policy CC1 are generally supported by Shropshire Council. 

However the Council: 

a. Would highlight that, as policy CC1 contains several new specific duties for 

Local Planning Authorities, additional resources to support their 

implementation will be required. A particular example is the expectation 

that Local Planning Authorities undertake baseline assessments of carbon 

emissions and the potential effect of development options on future 

emissions and their mitigation.  

b. Is concerned that there is potential conflict between the intention of this 

policy of achieving a sustainable pattern of development and policy S5 

(particularly with regard to the approach in policy S5 to infilling of groups of 

houses which are often unsustainably located). 

Page 67



 

27 | P a g e  

 

c. Considers there is conflict between the requirements of this policy and 

policy PM13 which addresses setting standards (which states policies should 

not relate to the construction or internal layout of a building). 

d. Suggests the principles of adaptation in policy CC3 could also be addressed 

in policy CC1. 

e. Supports consideration of the LNRS (in accordance with N1). However, it 

should be noted that the LNRS is opportunities map and landowners can 

add or remove their land from the LNRS when it is updated. Therefore, any 

opportunities identified may not be available for the life of a Local Plan. 

 

43) Do you agree with the approach to mitigating climate change through 

planning decisions in policy CC2? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) If not, what additional measures could be taken to ensure climate 

change mitigation is given appropriate consideration? 

Policy CC2 is strongly supported by Shropshire Council, it is considered 

fundamental to achieving sustainable patterns of development. As a result, 

Shropshire Council would suggest that this policy is specifically referenced in 

policy S5 – to ensure the location of development is appropriately considered.  

Shropshire Council is concerned that policy S5 is currently in conflict with 

CC2(1)(a&b), particularly with regard to the infill of groups of houses which are 

often unsustainably located, particularly given that where such groups of 

houses form part of a settlement they are already addressed in policy S4. 

 

44) Do you agree with the approach to climate change adaptation through 

planning decisions in policy CC3? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) What additional measures could be taken to ensure climate change 

adaptation is given appropriate consideration? 

Policy CC3 is strongly supported by Shropshire Council, addressing many of the 

key considerations to ensure new development is responsive to our changing 

climate. However, the Council considers that: 

a. The scope of this policy could be expanded to address such issues as urban 

heat islands, nature-based solutions, building retrofits, use of permeable 

parking / integration of nature into parking areas, and the role of green 

infrastructure in climate change adaptation. 

Page 68



 

28 | P a g e  

 

b. The principles of adaptation in CC3 could be integrated into wider NPPF 

policy chapters to ensure it is not viewed as just a technical requirement. 

c. The policy could be supported by further guidance on adaptation measures, 

and importantly approaches to monitoring and maintenance – including 

responsibilities. 

 

45) Does the policy on wildfire adaptation clearly explain when such risks 

should be considered and how these risks should be mitigated? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons 

The Council considers the reference to wildfire adaptation would benefit from 

greater explanation of the risks, how they are exacerbated by climate change, 

and adaptation/mitigation measures and opportunities. This may be best 

achieved through accompanying guidance.  

 

46) How should wildfire adaptation measures be integrated with wider 

principles for good design, and what additional guidance would be 

helpful? 

In summary, Shropshire Council would suggest integration of wildfire 

adaptation measures in site analysis, building layout, materials, movement 

networks and green infrastructure design. 

The Council would welcome clearer technical guidance on issues such as the 

definitions and recommended methods of wildfire risk assessment; defensible 

space (dimensions, gradients, maintenance); accepted standards for fire 

resistant landscapes, materials and construction details; and maintenance and 

stewardship to ensure wildfire adaptation is not a one-off design feature. 

Shropshire Council would also encourage integration of this issue into Building 

Regulations with clear signposting between planning and building control. This 

could help address ember resistant detailing (vents, roof junctions, eaves), 

resistance to radiant heat through glazing and materials and requirements for 

external water supply or firefighting infrastructure. 

 

47) Do you have any other comments on actions that could be taken 

through national planning policy to address climate change?  

The Council would welcome details on how the climate change policies are 

intended to ‘link’ together and inform decisions on the circular economy.  

Page 69



 

29 | P a g e  

 

 

48) Do you agree the requirements for spatial development strategies and 

local plans in policy HO1 and policy HO2 are appropriate? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Policy HO1 is generally supported by Shropshire Council.  

However, the Council considers HO1(1)(c) should be qualified to recognise that 

the progression of SDS’s/Local Plans across different geographies often do not 

align. There is also concern that discussions regarding adjoining areas unmet 

needs are inevitably changeable, and have unhelpfully been used as a means 

to derail Local Plans at Examination.  For this reason it is specifically suggested 

H01(1)(c) should include the sentence “before the point at which a Local Plan 

reaches Gateway 2 during the plan making process, but before the examination 

stages” after “within neighbouring areas” .   

Notably, this approach is not dissimilar to that proposed regarding a Local 

Planning Authorities own local housing need in policy PM8(3). 

Policy HO2 is also generally supported by Shropshire Council. 

However, the Council considers that where policy HO2(1) references 

circumstances where a housing or pitch/plot requirement established in an SDS 

may need to be re-tested within a subsequent Local Plan, greater specificity is 

required to provide certainty for all.  

To achieve this, the Council would suggest that what constitutes a ‘significant 

change’ should be quantified – with a 20% increase/decrease considered 

appropriate, to reflect the transitional arrangement in the current NPPF 

regarding circumstances when a review of emerging Local Plans is required. 

Shropshire Council would also suggest that policy HO2(2) would benefit from a 

cross-reference to policy PM8(3) to ensure consistency of approach regarding 

evidence of local housing need. 

Furthermore, the Council considers policy HO2(3)(b) should include a cross-

reference to policy S1 (similar to HO2(4)) to ensure consistency of approach to 

unmet need arising in neighbouring Local Planning Authorities. 

An understanding of any Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs that 

cannot be met within neighbouring areas is best understood by joint evidence 

preparation and working to ensure appropriate apportionment of need which 

considers density and mix of established existing GRT population. 

 

Page 70



 

30 | P a g e  

 

49) Is further guidance required on assessing the needs of different 

groups, including older people, disabled people, and those who require 

social and affordable housing? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree 

nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree 

a) If so, what elements should this guidance cover? 

Shropshire Council considers existing guidance and best practice an appropriate 

balance between ensuring consistency of approach and allowing response to 

any specific local circumstances.  

The Council is also concerned that if such guidance were provided then it could 

result in the need to re-assess these needs, contrary to the intentions of policy 

PM8.  

 

50) Do you agree with the approach to incorporating relevant policies of 

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites within this chapter? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers, that as pitches and plots are types of residential 

accommodation, this Chapter is the most appropriate location for the inclusion 

of policy for Gypsy and Traveller sites and allows for greater consistency of 

approach.  

Specific policies will nevertheless need to acknowledge that securing 

appropriate pitch provision needs to be approached in a different way to 

delivering homes for the settled population. Specific comments, including in 

respect of the scarcity of promoted land and different development models to 

that for ‘bricks and mortar’ accommodation, are made in this regard in 

response to other questions.   

 

51) Is further guidance needed on how authorities should assess the need 

for traveller sites and set requirement figures? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Nether agree nor disagree 

a) If so, what are the key principles this guidance should establish? 

Whilst a standard methodology could reduce debate (including at appeal) 

regarding the appropriateness of a methodology for assessing accommodation 

need, the Council is concerned about the availability/ability to achieve a 

consistent dataset to support such a standard methodology and the risk that a 

Page 71



 

31 | P a g e  

 

standard methodology would not be sufficiently responsive to local 

circumstances – particularly relevant given the relatively small but diverse 

Gypsy and Traveller population, their differing requirements to the settled 

population, and difficulties in achieving effective engagement. The suitability of 

a standard methodology for assessing accommodation needs would therefore 

depend on whether these concerns can be suitably addressed.  

As referenced in respect of policy HO2, an understanding of any 

accommodation needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas is best 

understood by joint evidence preparation and working to ensure appropriate 

apportionment of need. 

 

52) Do you agree the new Annex D to the draft Framework is sufficiently 

clear on how local planning authorities should set the appropriate 

buffer for their local plan 5-year housing land supply? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers the approach to the buffer of the five year 

housing land supply is sufficiently clear in Annexe D. 

However, the Council would note that it continues to have significant 

reservations regarding the interplay between the housing delivery test and the 

extent of the buffer of the five year housing land supply. This is because whilst 

supply can be a factor that influences delivery, this is very unlikely to be the 

determinative factor in circumstances where a robust five year housing land 

supply is demonstrated.  

Therefore, linking the housing delivery test to the buffer of the five year 

housing land supply is not only likely to be ineffective, but more critically is an 

action that ‘masks’ the real problem – capacity and demand within the housing 

market. 

Notably, whilst Local Planning Authorities have a key role to play in ensuring 

sufficient supply of land, it has very limited ability to influence the housing 

market – which is the role of central Government and the development industry 

as a whole. 

 

53) Do you agree the new Annex D to the draft Framework is sufficiently 

clear on the wider procedural elements of 5-year housing land supply, 

the Housing Delivery Test and how they relate to decision-making? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Page 72



 

32 | P a g e  

 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers the approach to the wider procedural elements of 

5-year housing land supply, the Housing Delivery Test and how they relate to 

decision-making is sufficiently clear in Annexe D. 

However, the Council would note that it continues to have significant 

reservations regarding the interplay between the housing delivery test and the 

extent of the buffer of the five year housing land supply as whilst supply can be 

a factor that influences delivery, this is very unlikely to be the determinative 

factor in circumstances where a robust five year housing land supply is 

demonstrated.  

 

54) Do you agree the requirements to establish a 5 year supply of 

deliverable traveller sites and monitor delivery are sufficiently clear? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree.  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers there is insufficient recognition of the complexity 

of undertaking an annual assessment of the five year supply of deliverable 

traveller sites and insufficient guidance on this matter.  

Also, given the relatively small extent of pitch and plot need and development 

(compared to dwellings) any variations have a disproportionate impact on 

expected delivery. As such, forecasting an accurate trajectory over the Plan 

period is a significant challenge. 

Shropshire Council welcomes explicit reference in policy HO3 to potential 

inclusion of a windfall allowance in achieving pitch and plot supply. This reflects 

the Authority’s experience that delivery of suitable private traveller sites is 

facilitated by an enabling development management policy. 

The general development pattern, and understood GRT community preference 

in Shropshire, is towards smaller rural sites (mainly less than 5 pitches and 

many constituting family sites). Enough suitable small sites would thus need to 

be promoted to the Council for potential allocation. The Council continues to 

have significant reservations regarding the achievability of a sufficient number 

and mix of sites for allocation given the scarcity of land promoted for this 

purpose. 

 

55) Do you agree the plan-making requirements, for both local plans and 

spatial development strategies, in relation to large scale residential 

Page 73



 

33 | P a g e  

 

and mixed-use development are sufficiently clear? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Whilst Shropshire Council considers the requirements for large-scale residential 

and mixed-use development is sufficiently clear in policy HO4, the Council 

considers that there is specific tension between this and the requirements of 

policy HO6 (they are not complementary). 

 

56) Do you agree our proposed changes to the definition of designated 

rural areas will better support rural social and affordable housing? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree.  

Shropshire Council welcomes the provision of a definition of designated rural 

areas and supports the ability to set lower thresholds at which affordable 

housing contributions are required in such geographies. 

 

57) Do you agree with our proposals to ask authorities to set out the 

proportion of new housing that should be delivered to M4(2) and 

M4(3) standards? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the recognition of the importance of accessible 

and adaptable housing in meeting the future needs of communities, particularly 

given current and future demographics both locally and nationally.  

However, Shropshire Council remains of the view that a more effective and 

immediate approach would be through a specific change to the national 

building regulations – mandating a specific quantity of properties achieving 

M4(3) and M4(3) standards. This could then be complemented by raising this 

quantum where local circumstances and demographics justify. 

The Council remains unclear on why a different approach is proposed to this 

and energy efficiency/generation matters. Both are nationally significant issues 

and both would benefit from the economies of scale achieved through a more 

consistent approach nationally. 

 

Page 74



 

34 | P a g e  

 

58) Do you agree 40% of new housing delivered to M4(2) standards over 

the plan period is the right minimum proportion? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a)    Please provide your reasons, and would you support an alternative 

minimum percentage requirement? 

Shropshire Council welcomes the recognition of the importance of accessible 

and adaptable housing in meeting the future needs of communities, particularly 

given current and future demographics both locally and nationally.  

However, Shropshire Council remains of the view that a more effective and 

immediate approach would be through a specific change to the national 

building regulations – mandating a specific quantity of properties achieving 

M4(3) and M4(3) standards. This could then be complemented by raising this 

quantum where local circumstances and demographics justify. 

The Council remains unclear on why a different approach is proposed to this 

and energy efficiency/generation matters. Both are nationally significant issues 

and both would benefit from the economies of scale achieved through a more 

consistent approach nationally. 

 

59) Do you agree the proposals to support the needs of different groups, 

through requiring authorities to identify sites or set requirements for 

parts of allocated sites are proportionate? Strongly agree, partly agree, 

neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the principle of identifying sites or 

setting requirements for parts of allocated sites to meet the housing needs of 

specific groups in our communities so as to provide greater certainty that these 

needs are met.  

However, the Council would suggest that policy HO5(1)(c), which introduces 

this requirement, includes specific recognition that this is only one way to 

achieve this principle and is intended to be complementary to other such 

mechanisms. 

This is because, dependent on the extent and type of need, other such 

mechanisms (such as a policy for an entire settlement or Local Planning 

Authority administrative area) can avoid unnecessary duplication and also 

addresses windfall development – which can constitute a significant proportion 

of total development. 

 

Page 75



 

35 | P a g e  

 

60) Do you agree with our proposals to ask authorities to set out 

requirements for a broader mix of tenures to be provided on sites of 

150 homes or more? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons and indicate if an alternative site size 

threshold would be preferable?  

Shropshire Council would strongly recommend the threshold of 150 dwellings at 

which policies should set out “the mix of tenures to be provided” in policy 

HO5(d) is more flexible so as to respond to the diverse characteristics of Local 

Planning Authorities.  

Specifically, the Council would suggest that the existing threshold is retained as 

a back-stop, but that flexibility is included for a lower threshold (between 50 

dwellings (as the new threshold for major development) and 149 dwellings) 

depending on local circumstances such as the characteristics of development 

that occurs.  

Such an approach will through increased numbers of outlets support the timely 

delivery of such sites and ensure resultant development best aligns with local 

needs. 

 

61) Do you agree with proposals for authorities to allocate land to 

accommodate 10% of the housing requirement on sites of between 1 

and 2.5 hectares? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons 

Shropshire Council recognises the important role that small and medium sized 

developments and small and medium sized developers can play in the delivery 

of housing and achievement of the housing needs of our local communities. 

Furthermore, such development represents a significant component of new 

residential development in Shropshire, responding to the characteristics of our 

settlements. However, Shropshire Council has a number of concerns about the 

requirements outlined in policy HO6, including: 

a. They potentially result in the pre-determination of the outcomes of the site 

assessment process, with Local Planning Authorities being required to 

‘favour’ smaller sites over larger sites.  

b. They unnecessarily complicate the site assessment and allocation 

processes. 

c. They unnecessarily complicate and lengthen the examination process. 

Page 76



 

36 | P a g e  

 

d. They disregard all components of a housing land supply beyond allocations, 

such as sites with planning permission, exception sites and other forms of 

windfall development, which is inconsistent with the approach in Policy 

HO3.  

e. They may result in limited potential for larger scale allocations, dependent 

on the proportion of the housing requirement achieved from other sources 

of supply. 

f. They may not be achievable. Using Shropshire as an example, local housing 

need over the 20 year period likely addressed by the next Local Plan is 

some 40,000 dwellings. Achieving 10% of this need on small sites would 

require a minimum of around 135 allocations (assuming sites of 1ha and a 

minimum density of 30 dwellings per hectare, which may not be 

appropriate in our rural communities). Achieving 10% of this requirement 

on medium sized sites would require a minimum of around 55 allocations 

(assuming sites of 2.5ha and a minimum density of 30 dwellings per 

hectare, which may not be appropriate in our rural communities).  

As such, Shropshire Council’s clear preference would be for these requirements 

to instead be expressed as aspirations, thereby providing greater flexibility. 

However, whether expressed an aspiration or requirement, the Council strongly 

considers they should relate to the wider supply rather than only allocations.  

 

62) Are any changes to policy HO7 needed in order to ensure that 

substantial weight is given to meeting relevant needs? 

No. 

However, Shropshire Council is concerned about the potential for confusion in 

the application of policy HO8 following the introduction of the new medium 

development category (despite the definition of major development remaining 

the same). For this reason and the avoidance of doubt, it is considered that 

policy HO8 should specifically reference medium development (from which it is 

critical to secure contributions to affordable housing) in addition to major 

development. 

 

63) Do you agree that proposals to add military affordable housing to the 

definition of affordable housing, and allow military housing to be 

delivered as part of affordable housing requirements, will successfully 

enable the provision of military homes? Strongly agree, partly agree, 

neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Page 77



 

37 | P a g e  

 

Shropshire Council supports the appropriate provision of military affordable 

housing. 

 

64) Do you agree flexibility relating to the size of market homes provided 

will better enable developments providing affordable housing? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Strongly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council has significant concerns about the unintended consequences 

of policy HO8(3). Whilst it is agreed that achieving an effective affordable 

housing quantity and tenure mix is essential to meeting local needs, so is 

achieving an appropriate mix of market housing types. In its current format, 

this policy would significantly undermine the ability of Local Planning 

Authorities to meet the identified needs of its communities.  

Furthermore, given the affordable housing quantity and tenure mix and market 

housing type mix will have both been informed by viability assessment at the 

plan stage, this clause is considered unnecessary.  

The Council would note that this proposal is also likely to reduce density of 

development, contrary to wider aspirations of the NPPF. 

 

65) Would requiring a minimum proportion of social rent, unless otherwise 

specified in development plans, support the delivery of greater number 

of social rent homes? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly disagree  

a) If so, what would be an appropriate minimum proportion and 

development size threshold taking into account development viability? 

Shropshire Council considers that affordable housing tenure mix should reflect 

evidenced local housing need.  Affordable housing need historically has been 

significantly higher for social rented need and as such reflected in local 

planning policy. 

 

66) Are changes to planning policy needed to ensure that affordable 

temporary accommodation, such as stepping stone housing, is 

appropriately supported, including flexibilities around space 

standards? 

Strongly agree 

Page 78



 

38 | P a g e  

 

a) If so, what changes would be beneficial? 

Shropshire Council considers that specific reference to affordable temporary 

accommodation should be incorporated into HO9. Criteria 1. C.(i)(ii) and (iii) 

are considered to adequately reflect requirements including that of space, 

thereby allowing necessary flexibility 

 

67) Do you agree that applicants should have discretion to deliver social 

and affordable housing requirements via cash payments in lieu of on-

site delivery on medium sites? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree 

nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly disagree 

a)  If so, would it be desirable to limit the circumstances in which cash 

contributions in lieu of on-site delivery can be provided – for example, 

should it not be permitted on land released from the Green Belt where 

the Golden Rules apply? Please explain your answer. 

Shropshire Council considers that such a mechanism raises very real concerns 

about ensuring the achievement of sustainable and inclusive communities, 

particularly within smaller and/or rural settlements where this would represent 

the vast majority, if not the entirety of development.  

Such a mechanism would also reduce the number of outlets on a site, which 

has the potential to delay rather than speed-up development. 

As such, irrespective of the scale of development, in order to create inclusive 

communities Shropshire Council considers affordable housing contributions 

should be provided on site unless an off-site delivery on an alternative nearby 

site would optimise the quality or quantity of homes built or an enhanced cash 

payment in lieu of on or off-site provision can be justified robustly. 

Financial contributions in lieu of site delivery could compromise the delivery of 

affordable provision within the DRAs due lack of forthcoming developments 

within the same geography as the originating development. Any spend criteria 

of the off-site contributions should be ring fenced to DRAs. 

Such robust justification could include where it is evidenced that on-site 

delivery would prevent a scheme from being delivered, however with the 

exception of some flatted developments, the Council does not foresee many 

circumstances where this is the case.  

As such, on reflection it is considered that the Local Planning Authority is better 

placed to determine when such discretion is appropriate and not the applicants. 

b)  If you do not believe applicants should have blanket discretion to 

discharge social and affordable housing requirements through 

commuted sums, do you think cash contributions in lieu of on-site 

Page 79



 

39 | P a g e  

 

delivery should be permitted in certain circumstances – for example 

where it could be evidenced that onsite delivery would prevent a 

scheme from being delivered? Please explain your answer 

Shropshire Council considers that such a mechanism raises very real concerns 

about ensuring the achievement of sustainable and inclusive communities, 

particularly within smaller and/or rural settlements where this would represent 

the vast majority, if not the entirety of development.   

Such a mechanism would also reduce the number of outlets on a site, which 

has the potential to delay rather than speed-up development. 

As such, irrespective of the scale of development, in order to create inclusive 

communities Shropshire Council considers affordable housing contributions 

should be provided on site unless an off-site delivery on an alternative nearby 

site would optimise the quality or quantity of homes built or a cash payment in 

lieu of on or off-site provision can be justified robustly. 

Such robust justification could include where it is evidenced that on-site 

delivery would prevent a scheme from being delivered, however with the 

exception of some flatted developments, the Council does not foresee many 

circumstances where this is the case. 

 

68) What risks and benefits would you expect this policy to have? Please 

explain your answer. The government is particularly interested in 

views on the potential impact on SME housing delivery, overall housing 

delivery, land values, build out rates, overall social and affordable 

housing delivery, and Registered Providers (including SME providers). 

Shropshire Council considers that such a mechanism raises very real concerns 

about segregation within communities. Such a mechanism would also reduce 

the number of outlets on a site, which has the potential to delay rather than 

speed-up development. 

 

69) What guidance or wider changes would be needed to enable Local 

Planning Authorities to spend commuted sums more effectively and 

more quickly? Please explain your answer.  

In order to create inclusive communities Shropshire Council considers 

affordable housing contributions should be provided on site unless an o ff-site 

delivery on an alternative nearby site would optimise the quality or quantity of 

homes built or a cash payment in lieu of on or off-site provision can be justified 

robustly. 

 

Page 80



 

40 | P a g e  

 

70) Would further guidance be helpful in supporting authorities to 

calculate the appropriate value of cash contributions in lieu?  

Yes 

a) If so, what elements and principles should this guidance set out? 

Please explain your answer. For example, guidance could make clear 

that contributions in lieu should be an amount which is the equivalent 

value of providing affordable housing on site, based on a comparison of 

the Gross Development Value of the proposed scheme with the Gross 

Development Value of the scheme assuming affordable housing was 

provided onsite.  

Whilst Shropshire Council considers a cash payment in lieu of on or off-site 

provision should be the exception, clear parameters of how such a payment 

should be calculated will support consistency. However, this calculation should 

serve to disincentivise such an approach. 

 

71) Do you support proposals to enable off site delivery where affordable 

housing delivery can be optimised to produce better outcomes in terms 

of quality or quantity? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is of the opinion that consideration of such opportunities are 

already allowed for in the approach involving a clear preference for on-site 

delivery, with allowances for off-site delivery on an alternative nearby site 

where this would optimise the quality or quantity of homes built, or a cash 

payment in lieu of on or off-site provision can be justified robustly. 

As such, irrespective of the scale of development, in order to create inclusive 

communities Shropshire Council considers affordable housing contributions 

should be provided on site unless one of the allowances for an alternative 

approach is demonstrated. 

 

72) Do you agree the with the criteria set out regarding the locations of 

specialist housing for older people? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Page 81



 

41 | P a g e  

 

Shropshire Council generally supports the approach to specialist housing 

outlined in policy HO9. However, to ensure that resultant specialist housing 

provides appropriate living conditions for residents it is recommended that: 

a. Policy HO9(1)(a)(i) details specific acceptable distances to services and 

public transport links. 

b. Policy HO(1)(a)(ii) includes greater clarity on when specialist housing for 

older people should achieve M4(3) accessibility standards. 

c. Policy HO9(1)(a) includes reference to specialist housing for older people 

achieving HAPPI (Housing our Ageing Population Panel for Innovation) 

principles and dementia friendly housing standards. Both are about 

ensuring design, layout and materials are responsive to the needs of older 

people, result in nominal additional costs for developers but ensure that 

accommodation best meets the short and longer term needs of older 

people. 

 

73) Do you agree with the criteria set out regarding the locations of 

community-based specialist accommodation, including changes to the 

glossary? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council generally supports the approach to community-based 

specialist accommodation outlined in policy HO9. However, to ensure that 

resultant housing provides appropriate living conditions for residents it is 

recommended that policy HO9(b)(ii) details specific acceptable distances to 

services. 

 

74) Do you agree with the criteria set out regarding the locations of 

purpose-built student accommodation and large-scale shared living 

accommodation, including changes to the glossary? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council generally supports the approach to locations of purpose-

built student accommodation and large-scale shared living accommodation 

outlined in policy HO9. However, to ensure that resultant housing provides 

appropriate living conditions for residents it is recommended that policy 

HO9(c)(i) details specific acceptable distances to services and public transport 

links. 

Page 82



 

42 | P a g e  

 

 

75) Do you agree the proposals provide adequate additional support for 

rural exception sites? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, including what other changes may be 

needed to increase their uptake? 

Shropshire Council has a strong track record in supporting exception housing, 

recognising their important role in meeting the needs of our rural communities. 

As such, the Council is generally supportive of the principles of policy HO10.  

However, it is recommended that for clarity within the development industry 

and amongst communities that distinction is drawn between exception sites 

and cross-subsidy sites (upon which a small proportion of market housing may 

be appropriate).  

The expectation should be that schemes consist of exception sites, with cross-

subsidy schemes requiring further justification regarding local need and 

development viability, consistent with the requirements of policy DM5, 

including policy DM5(3) which explains neither the price paid for land, nor the 

price intended to be paid through an option agreement, should be a 

justification for cross-subsidy provision rather than exception site provision. 

Furthermore, a maximum quantum of market housing (for instance 20%) must 

be specified to provide certainty to communities that such schemes remain 

affordable housing-led. 

Policy HO10(2)(a) addresses suitable locations for exceptions sites. Shropshire 

Council considers that clarification should be provided on what is meant by 

“physically well-related” to a settlement.  

Policy H010(2) (b) exception sites are predicated on the basis on evidenced 

local needs (H010 1.a) and therefore size restrictions fetter the discretion of 

local authorities to respond to settlement pattern and size.  Site size 

restrictions may result in small rural sites being unviable to develop for 

Registered Providers. The definition of RES within the glossary should remove 

the word ‘small’ to allow the necessary flexibility. 

Shropshire Council notes the inclusion of Gypsy and Traveller exception sites in 

this policy which seeks to create parity of approach to addressing the needs of 

the Gypsy and Traveller and settled communities. However, the Council 

considers that other than where pitches on sites will be for social rent, 

additional guidance on the criteria and mechanisms to secure affordability and 

distinguish affordable exception sites from general sites is needed, noting that 

planning permissions for Gypsy and Traveller sites are generally already 

subject to restricted occupancy with a correspondingly restricted market for 

resale.  

Page 83



 

43 | P a g e  

 

Furthermore, Policy S5(1)(g) includes development to address unmet need for 

traveller sites with footnote 25 indicating that (subject to policy HO12) this is 

not limited to where there is a lack of 5 year supply of deliverable sites. The 

Council assumes that such need represents circumstances where there is no 

alternative accommodation available despite a 5 year supply existing - in the 

way that PPTS paragraph 25 references availability or lack of alternative 

accommodation for applicants as a relevant matter. However, this is not clear 

in either policies S5 or HO12 – the Council considers such clarity is essential or 

it risks creating unnecessary debate and delay during the determination of 

planning applications.  

 

76) Do you agree with proposals to remove First Homes exception sites as 

a discrete form of exception site? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Neither agree nor disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

No comment. 

 

77) Do you agree proposals for a benchmark land value for rural exception 

sites will help to bring forward more rural affordable homes? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Strongly disagree  

a) If so, which approach and value as set out in the narrative for policy 

HO10 of the consultation document is the most beneficial for 

government to set out? 

No comment. 

 

 

78) Do you agree the proposals to set out requirements for traveller sites 

at policy HO12 adequately capture relevant aspects from Planning 

Policy for Traveller Sites, whilst ensuring fair treatment for traveller 

sites in the planning system? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree 

nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

79) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Page 84



 

44 | P a g e  

 

Shropshire Council recognises the importance of meeting the needs of 

travellers. To ensure provision meets needs, it is considered that greater 

specificity is required regarding appropriate locations for such provision, having 

regard to access to transport infrastructure to support traditional lifestyles and 

access to services and facilities. For these reasons, it is considered that 

reference to specific distances to appropriate road infrastructure (B roads or 

higher) and distances to and the ability to use sustainable modes of transport 

to access settlements identified in the Development Plan should be included 

within this policy. 

Furthermore, Shropshire Council considers that further clarification of what 

constitutes ‘enabling access’ is required in policy HO12(1)(b), to provide 

certainty and ensure provision meets the needs of the traveller community. As 

such, specific distances and the ability to use sustainable modes of transport 

should be detailed.  

Notably, it is not clear if policy HO11 provides a limitation on Gypsy and 

Traveller sites in isolated locations. If the limitation does not apply, policy HO10 

which provides for exception sites is potentially stricter than policy HO12 in 

requiring a location adjacent or physically well related to settlements. The 

Council considers the consistency of approach between these three policies 

needs further consideration – specifically the Council would suggest the 

locational requirements of policy HO12 are aligned with policy HO10. 

Policy S(5)(1)(g) includes development to address unmet need for traveller 

sites with footnote 25 indicating that (subject to policy HO12) this is not limited 

to where there is a lack of 5 year supply of deliverable sites. The Council 

assumes that such need represents circumstances where there is no alternative 

accommodation available despite a 5 year supply existing - in the way that 

PPTS paragraph 25 references availability or lack of alternative accommodation 

for applicants as a relevant matter. However, this is not clear in either policies 

S5 or HO12 – the Council considers such clarity is essential or it risks creating 

unnecessary debate and delay during determination of planning applications. 

PPTS currently includes the objectives of reducing tensions between settled and 

traveller communities and integrated coexistence. The Council considers this 

principle, alongside regard for local infrastructure capacity, is in part achieved 

by an appropriate scale of development relative to the location (as in PPTS 

paragraphs 14 & 26). Thus consideration of scale should be incorporated into 

policy HO12 as these remain appropriate objectives.  

Policy HO12(3) addresses development impacting Gypsy and Traveller sites but 

this (unlike PPTS paragraph 22 in respect of major development projects) does 

not specifically identify that it is the applicant who is required to identify and 

provide an alternative site. The Council considers this should be incorporated 

into policy HO12(3). 

Existing sites can be vulnerable to conversion to general caravan sites or other 

uses. Policy HO12 fails to capture the opportunity for securing the retention of 

Page 85



 

45 | P a g e  

 

existing sites. The Council strongly considers that Policy HO12 would be more 

positive and effective if it included a presumption against the loss of Gypsy and 

Traveller sites given the acknowledged under provision nationally and 

difficulties in securing new locations for development.  

 

80) Do you agree the proposals in policy HO13 will help to ensure 

development proposals are built out in a reasonable period? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council does not consider that the proposals in policy HO13 

represent any real change to the current approach. Furthermore, it is critical 

that Government recognises that build-out rates are largely beyond the control 

of Local Planning Authorities. 

Unless mechanisms are introduced by Government which result in 

consequences for developers where they fail to achieve specific levels of 

development, then these measures are unlikely to have any significant impact.  

It is critical to recognise delays to build-out are in the majority of circumstances 

are not due to the planning system, but instead factors such as developer 

aspirations, availability of labour/materials, and fluctuations in the market. 

 

81) Do you agree the requirements to take a flexible approach to the 

consenting framework for large scale residential and mixed-use 

development is sufficient to ensure the opportunities of large scale 

development are supported? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcome the flexible approach to the consenting framework 

for large scale residential and mixed use development and consider that this 

coupled this with a limitation on the requirement for reserved matters schemes 

to be considered by planning committees would further expedite the process.  

 

82) Are any more specific approaches or definitions needed to support the 

delivery of very large (super strategic) sites, including new towns? Yes, 

no 

No 

Page 86



 

46 | P a g e  

 

a) Please provide your reasons. 

N/A 

 

83) Do you agree with the proposed changes to the Housing Delivery Test 

rule book? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A. 

 

84) Do you agree that more emphasis should be placed on relevant 

national strategies and the need for flexibility in planning for economic 

growth, as drafted in policy E1? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree 

nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Policy E1 should emphasise relevant national strategies to reflect its purpose as 

the national policy on providing the conditions for long term economic growth.  

This places obligations on central government to keep the national strategy 

under review, to support and resource its implementation and to ensure the 

effective delivery of the strategies. 

Policy E1 must correctly frame and support these national strategies in ways 

which enable a broad range of local authorities to contribute to their delivery.  

Many local authorities can only implement these national objectives through a 

proportion of the economic development they deliver with the balance of their 

strategy meeting local business needs. 

Freight, logistics and modern economy sectors have very specific development 

needs and locational demands and preferences which variously affect local 

authorities across England.  At present the specific spatial geographies of these 

investment demands are unclear and further investigations will be required.  

Central government should consider the need for additional resources at the 

local level to support the understanding and effective delivery of land to 

support these sectors and for the effective delivery of development. 

The promotion of national strategies is however not the only critical element of 

Policy E1. The policy also advocates the preparation and delivery of a clear 

economic vision for the Development Plan, the identification of solutions to 

overcome any barriers to investment, the allocation of sufficient land to provide 

an appropriate range of sites in suitable locations to support the economic 

Page 87



 

47 | P a g e  

 

vision and considering the growing ‘logistics’ industry and modern industrial 

sectors, also demands from other inward investors in the regional or national 

markets and local business needs.  The combination of these policy objectives 

will provide the conditions for long term economic growth and are the key 

policy objectives for any discussion of Policy E1. 

Local authorities would benefit from a clearer explanation of the expectations 

arising from these objectives, particularly in relation to evidence gathering, 

their expression in the Vision and Strategy and through the examination of 

Local Plans.  Local authorities would particularly benefit from the provision of 

further plan making resources to properly investigate and effectively deliver 

these conditions for long term economic growth. 

Policy E1 advocates for local authorities to meet a broad spectrum of locational 

and sectoral demands including freight and logistics and for emerging sectors in 

the modern economy and to deliver sites and premises which are flexible and 

adaptable. These objectives are things that only some local authorities will be 

able to fully investigate in detail and to effectively deliver from their current 

resources. 

The certainty which is expected from the Local Plan Economic Vision, Strategy 

and Strategic Policies requires local authorities to have sound intelligence on 

the range of locational, sectoral and property market demands likely to be 

experienced in the Local Plan area. Acquiring sound intelligence places 

significant demands on the resources required to deliver a sound Local Plan.   

First and foremost, a local planning authority must meet the recognised needs 

of their existing local businesses and core growth sectors.  The further 

exploration of the effects of the modern economy and the growth in the freight 

and logistics industry, which is simply to reduce delivery times for goods, will 

have additional resource implications and costs when assessing the type and 

scale of demands expressed in any locality. 

The requirements of national strategies and the responsibilities placed on local 

authorities and their resources to deliver the conditions for long term economic 

growth would be greatly assisted by support and resources for local authorities 

to undertake local assessment to better understand and to meet the objectives 

of relevant national strategies. 

This may be further assisted by MHCLG providing additional financial support to 

Local Planning Authorities to enable them to commission appropriate evidence 

capable of supporting a sound economic vision and strategy, similar to the 

funding provided to support Green Belt Reviews.    

 

85) Do you agree with the approach to meeting the need for business land 

and premises in policy E2? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Page 88



 

48 | P a g e  

 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes Policy E2 and agrees with the objectives of the 

policy.  The Council also considers there are matters where Policy E2 might 

better articulate its objectives and provide better guidance for decision making. 

Shropshire Council recognises the principal objective of the Draft NPPF, along 

with other planning reforms, to deliver a significant increase in the supply of 

homes to help meet the nation’s social and economic needs.   

The current NPPF (2024) continued the previous national strategy of requiring 

that: ‘significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic 

growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and 

wider opportunities for development’.  The proposal to move to a new position 

is welcomed where: ‘substantial weight should be given to the economic 

benefits of proposals for commercial development which allow businesses to 

invest, expand and adapt’.   

It is considered that the nature and scope of the ‘economic benefits’ of 

commercial development which may be given ‘substantial weight’ in planning 

judgements should be more clearly defined.  This will assist decision makers to 

reach planning judgements which will be consistent and which reflect the 

objective to deliver long term economic growth of true benefit to local 

communities and the economy.  This will also clearly articulate to developers 

the requirements placed on them to justify the ‘weight’ to be afforded to their 

development proposals. 

In terms of identifying ‘economic benefits’ not every investment or expenditure 

of capital required within a commercial development is necessarily an 

‘economic benefit’.  There is a need to evidence the nature, scale and longevity 

of those ‘economic benefits’ which may be afforded ‘substantial’ weight. 

This might take the form of a definition of ‘economic benefits’ which address 

matters to be identified in the Local Plan and also the delivery of infrastructure 

improvements, the modernisation of commercial floorspace, the modernisation 

of agriculture or farm enterprises, business growth, employment growth, 

improvements to the productivity or performance of the local economy or 

demonstrable contributions to the regional or national economy. This definition 

of the concept of ‘economic benefits’ in national policy may be provided either 

within Policy E2, within the NPPF Glossary, within an Annex to the Framework 

or in more detailed guidance within the PPG. 

There is a parallel between the addition of a definition for ‘economic benefits’ 

and the current provisions in Policy E2(2) to demonstrate whether an unmet 

need exists.  Both of these provisions are really technical guidance for the 

implementation of Policies E2, HO8, S5 and other national policies.   

Page 89



 

49 | P a g e  

 

Shropshire Council also welcomes the policy objective to give ‘substantial’ 

weight to the benefits farm and agricultural modernisation for domestic food 

production, animal welfare and the environment.  This is welcomed in principle 

and in the context of experiences during Brexit and Covid.  These experiences 

highlight the continuing need to improve UK economic sustainability and in 

Shropshire, actually delivered improving indicators within the local economy. 

Many rural areas, such as Shropshire, continue to be a largely agricultural 

based economy with significant potential for ‘value added’ processing, 

manufacturing and marketing of agricultural produce to improve the GVA 

returns in the local economy.  These areas will continue to perform an 

expanding and important contributory role to improving the sustainability and 

productivity of domestic food production and including the livestock sectors.  It 

is appropriate that the agriculture based economy should also benefit from the 

changes in Policy E2. 

 

86) Do you agree with the proposed new decision-making policy 

supporting freight and logistics development in policy E3? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the policy requirement for sufficient and secure 

parking for lorries or other vehicles to serve freight and logistics developments.  

This will improve security at freight and logistics development against the 

impacts of crime and other risks to the operators and their staff. 

Shropshire Council also consider the requirement for sufficient and secure 

parking should reference the location and design of this parking.  This will 

support policy objectives to manage the environmental impacts of freight and 

logistics developments and any impacts on residential amenity in locations 

close to existing housing or other potential impacts on surrounding land uses. 

Shropshire Council consider the principles of policy E3 raise some need for 

clarity about the type and level of evidence required by LPAs and/or 

developers. It would be helpful if the NPPF and/or NPPG could clarify this.  

Policy E3 in criterion 1 is founded on an apparent assumption that freight and 

logistics development is a universal economic need driven by the requirements 

from most sectors of the economy for the effective and efficient movement of 

goods. Whilst this is true within the national economy, this does not establish a 

universal need for freight and logistics development and therefore, a 

presumption in favour of this development in every local authority area and in 

any location. 

Page 90



 

50 | P a g e  

 

There is a requirement to evidence that an unmet need exists for freight and 

logistics development.  This is established in a cross reference from Policies S5 

in criterion 1(j) and 1(j)(ii) to E3 for development outside settlements.  Freight 

and logistics operators are required to evidence an unmet need for their 

development proposal.  This would use guidance in Policy E2 in criterion 2 

which explains how an unmet need should be demonstrated.  

This policy requirement should be explicitly established and possibly explained 

within Policy E3 which itself should include a cross reference to the spatial 

requirements of Policy S5 and the technical requirements in E2. 

This will properly direct the decision maker in planning judgements on freight 

and logistics development and equally will direct developers on the appropriate 

methods to justify their development proposals especially in locations outside 

settlements.  This will balance the apparent in principle presumption in favour 

of freight and logistics developments implied in Policy E3 in criterion 1. 

Policy E3 in criterion 1(a) appears to direct decisions makers to consider the 

different types of freight and logistics developments and their specific needs 

especially in relation their accessibility and the capacity of the transport 

networks they will use.   

Policy E3 or other parts of the NPPF should provide a typology of freight and 

logistics development to assist decision makers with this significant material 

consideration.  This should identify the broad range of freight and logistics 

facilities including national distribution centres and rail freight interchanges, 

regional distribution centres, local (‘final mile’) centres and freight haulage 

hubs and yards.  This will improve the effectiveness, efficiency and consistency 

of decision making from Policy E3. 

This will further improve the relationship between Policies E3 and S5 by 

highlighting a greater potential for larger be located outside settlements.  This 

will further emphasise the significant capacity of scale and use of larger freight 

and logistics operations to impact surrounding land uses and the environment. 

Judgements required in national decision making policy on the economy would 

benefit from the definition of the scope and nature of those ‘economic benefits’ 

which may be given substantial weight under Policy E2.  This should be 

supported by evidence of the needs and locational demands of the freight and 

logistics sectors. 

This would be greatly assisted by support and resources for local authorities to 

undertake local assessments to better understand and to meet the objectives 

of the freight and logistics sectors. 

This may be further assisted by MHCLG separately commissioning studies to 

assess the growth potential, broad scale needs and locational demands or 

preferences of these sectors. 

 

Page 91



 

51 | P a g e  

 

87) Do you agree with the approach to rural business development in 

policy E4? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Whist Shropshire Council welcomes the specific reference to rural business 

development within national policy, it is considered amendments are required 

to make this policy more useable and to ease tensions with other parts of the 

NPPF.  

Policy E2 requires substantial weight to be given to development for farm and 

agricultural modernisation which benefits domestic food production, animal 

welfare and the environment.  Unfortunately, the inclusion of this same 

objective in Policy E4 merely requires that support be given [but not substantial 

weight] to these developments to deliver sustainable growth in rural 

businesses.  This is an internal policy tension which should be addressed.  

Policy E2 and not Policy E4, should address the benefits for agricultural 

modernisation arising from agricultural technology research and development 

and the manufacturing of products and equipment for these new technologies.  

Policy E2 might equally afford substantial weight to agricultural technology 

processes either for their benefits to domestic food production, animal welfare 

and the environment or to the benefits of the commercial development for 

business investment, expansion or adaption or to both of these outcomes. 

It is recognised that the remaining elements of Policy E4 would largely present 

the current objectives of NPPF (2024) in paragraphs 88 and 89.  Policy E4 

integrates and streamlines the current guidance to a new national decision 

making policy.  It is unclear whether any true benefits arise from these 

changes. 

Policy E4 in criterion 1(a) should be clarified to avoid the assumption that 

criterion 1(a) only deals with the conversion of existing or the conversion of 

new buildings.  In criterion 1(a), the words ‘the construction of’ might usefully 

be inserted before the phrase ‘well designed new buildings’. 

Policy E4 in criterion 1(c) presents two provisions from NPPF (2024) paragraph 

88 at points (c) and (d).  Policy E4 now combines these two provisions but the 

benefits of doing so are unclear.  Shropshire Council would suggest that each 

point in paragraph 88 (c) and (d) is better made as a separate policy objective 

in Policy E4 in criterion 1. 

In Policy E4 in criterion 2(a) the NPPF provision of a policy definition for the 

word ‘settlement’ in Policies S4, S5 and the Glossary has a negative effect on 

decision making.  Policy E4 in criterion 2(a) should promote sites that are 

physically well related to any existing settlement but now must relate the site 

to any existing development surrounding an application site.   

Page 92



 

52 | P a g e  

 

This creates an issue in defining what types of existing development might 

appropriately be considered when justifying the suitability of development 

proposals under Policy E4.  This will be challenging for decision makers to 

interpret effectively and consistently. 

The former test of relating sites to existing settlements cannot now be used.  

Policy S4 requires settlements to be defined in the Local Plan with this 

definition limiting the number of ‘defined’ settlements in any local authority 

area.  Defining the term ‘settlement’ in Policy S4 and the NPPF Glossary, 

therefore limits the scope for testing the relationship between development 

proposals for rural business needs and the existing settlement pattern. 

To improve the effective operation of Policy E4, it would be better for Policy S4 

and the Glossary to use either the term ‘defined settlement’ or 

‘development settlement’ which would permit the word ‘settlement’ to be 

used generally in Policies E4 and S5 in its ordinary meaning. 

Policy E4 in criterion 2 is also less effective because it uses the general test for 

decision makers to have ‘regard to the character of its surroundings’ when 

determined whether the siting and design of rural business development is 

appropriate.  This test in Policy E4 in criterion 2 is less effective because it 

excludes significant material considerations previously presented in NPPF 

(2024) in paragraph 89.  These significant material considerations firstly, seek 

to ensure rural business development does not have an unacceptable impact on 

local roads and secondly, requires rural business development to exploit 

opportunities to make a location more sustainable.  Shropshire Council suggest 

these two material considerations should still be included in Policy E4(2). 

 

88) Do you agree with the proposed changes to policy for planning for 

town centres? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council partly agrees with the proposed changes because they 

reflect existing operational planning reforms to support a wider range of 

commercial uses in town and district centres through Use Class E (with the 

impacts considered in response to Question 90) and the simpler planning 

regime for changing the use of commercial floorspace to residential use.  These 

provide for simpler changes of use between various commercial uses or for 

residential use and together provide for a positive diversification of uses in 

town and district centres. 

Shropshire Council agrees with the overall policy approach to planning for town 

centres but considers there are aspects of the approach which could use further 

clarification. For instance, a more obvious statement within TC1(1) to the need 

Page 93



 

53 | P a g e  

 

to protect and regenerate defined centres would be beneficial. This stronger 

approach should clearly establish the protection of town and district centres for 

main town centre uses as a national planning objective.  This should also 

articulate the intention to protect town and district centres even where town 

centre policies in a Local Plan may not be up to date. 

Shropshire Council acknowledges that Policy TC1 sets out the need for a town 

centre strategy and the requirements and benefits of doing this are described 

in a satisfactory manner.  This would seek to achieve the first objective for 

Chapter 8 which is to ensure town and district centres are identified as the 

‘priority locations’ for main town centres uses to ‘promote’ their vitality and 

viability. This then complemented by the objectives to diversify land uses and 

to intensify the scale of development 

In further supporting consistency between TC1 and TC2-4, it is considered that 

explicit reference priority status and acknowledgement of the importance of 

LPAs developing a town centre strategy (TC1 1) a)) would be enhanced if this 

was explicitly referenced in TC2 Development in Town Centres.  This should be 

established despite the existing Use Class E and the residential use of 

commercial floorspace to bring further benefits to town centre vitality and 

viability. 

Shropshire Council consider that this further policy work should clearly 

establish the protection of town and district centres for main town centre uses 

as a national planning objective to be maintained and achieved by national 

decision making policies. 

 

89) Do you agree with the approach to development in town centres in 

policy TC2? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) If not, please explain how you would achieve this aim differently? 

See the response to Question 88 above. 

 

90) What impacts, if any, have you observed on the operation of planning 

policy for town centres since the introduction of Use Class E? 

It is considered that the introduction of Use Class E has not had a detrimental 

impact on the vitality of centres within this LPA area.  Indeed, there is general 

acknowledgment that centres need to widen their offer to encourage footfall as 

shopping patterns and behaviour changes.     

The effect has been more broadly based because Use Class E has the same 

capacity to effect other commercial locations (like established employment 

areas or out of centre retail and leisure locations) with similar impacts to those 

Page 94



 

54 | P a g e  

 

expressed in town centres.  This has meant that, development proposals within 

Use Class E have a significantly higher freedom of movement (subject to their 

scale) into or across town centre boundaries either to move into the retail 

centre or outwards into other commercial locations. 

This has had some benefits in town centres where a higher diversity of uses is 

generally welcomed in order to ensure vitality and viability, and speaks to the  

continuing significance of town centres as a ‘trading’ location.   

 

91) Do you believe the sequential test in policy TC3 should be retained? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree. 

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

See the response to Question 88 above. 

Shropshire Council strongly considers the use of the sequential approach to 

determining edge and out of centre proposals for main town centre uses should 

be retained, where these proposals are contrary to the development plan. 

The policy has allowed LPAs to provide suitable levels of scrutiny to edge and 

out of centre proposals, whilst allowing flexibility to scale and format to ensure 

a degree of proportionality in application.  It is noted that failure to comply with 

the test is considered a reason for refusal (TC3 (4)) which the Council supports.   

 

92) Do you agree with the approach to town centre impact assessments in 

policy TC4? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council consider that it is entirely appropriate that retail and leisure 

uses located outside town centres should be accompanied by an impact 

assessment if the proposal exceeds a floorspace threshold.  This threshold 

should be set out in an up-to-date Local Plan and this policy requirement is 

supported by this authority. 

Shropshire Council also considers that, where a Local Plan is not up to date, 

there are no benefits to the communities served by town and district centres, in 

removing the finer scale of protection provided by locally defined thresholds in 

Local Plans. 

Page 95



 

55 | P a g e  

 

The continuing protection of significant town centres, where a Local Plan might 

not be up to date, should therefore be a national planning objective that is 

maintained and achieved through the national decision making policies. 

This national objective to maintain and achieve the continuing protection of 

significant town centres alongside the operation of Local Plans should be 

achieved by Policy TC4.  Whilst in many areas, the default national threshold of 

2,500sqm is too excessive, and therefore it is evident this is a policy areas 

where Local Plans will be able to set more suitable thresholds.   

 

93) Do you agree that the updated policies provide clearer and stronger 

support for the rollout of 5G and gigabit broadband? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

No comment. 

 

94) Do you agree the requirements for minimising visual impact and 

reusing existing structures are practical for applicants and local 

planning authorities? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

No comment. 

 

95) Do you agree the supporting information requirements are 

proportionate and sufficient without creating unnecessary burdens? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

No comment. 

 

96) Do you agree with the approach to planning for energy and water 

infrastructure in policy W1? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

Page 96



 

56 | P a g e  

 

a)    Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree, what 

alternative approach would you suggest?   

No comment. 

 

97) Do you agree with the amendments to current Framework policy on 

planning for renewable and low-carbon energy development and 

electricity network infrastructure in policy W2? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

No comment. 

 

98) Do you agree with the proposed approach to supporting development 

for renewable and low carbon development and electricity network 

infrastructure in policy W3? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree, and any 

changes you would make to improve the policy. 

        

99) Do you agree with the proposed approach to supporting development 

for water infrastructure in policy W4? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment.  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

No comment.  

 

100) Do you agree with the proposed prohibition on identifying new coal 

sites in policy M1, and to the removal of coal from the list of minerals 

of national and local importance? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the proposed approach to coal in policy M1 and 

the removal of coal from the list of minerals of national and local importance. 

This provides clarity and aligns with wider Government aspirations. 

Page 97



 

57 | P a g e  

 

 

101) Do you agree with how policy M1 sets out how the development plan 

should consider oil and gas? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the proposed approach to oil and gas in policy 

M1. This provides clarity on approach, which aligns with the wider Government 

intention not to  issue new licences for onshore oil and gas extraction. 

 

102) Do you agree with the proposed addition of critical and growth 

minerals to the glossary definition of ‘minerals of national and local 

importance’? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council recognises that ‘minerals of national and local importance’ 

are necessary to meet society’s needs. However, it considers that the definition 

could include a clearer distinction between construction aggregate minerals and 

industrial minerals. 

The importance of maintaining a robust supply of construction aggregates is 

crucial to delivering development. It is important that companies who supply 

this aggregate have the confidence to invest for the long term to meet 

demand. Without this confidence, projects could be delayed whilst aggregates 

are identified and then extracted.   

 

103) Do you agree criteria b of policy M2 strikes the right balance between 

preventing minerals sterilisation and facilitating non minerals 

development? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers policy M2 strikes an appropriate balance between 

preventing minerals sterilisation and facilitating non minerals development. 

 

Page 98



 

58 | P a g e  

 

104) Do you agree policy M3 appropriately reflects the importance of critical 

and growth minerals? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

 Shropshire Council considers policy M3 appropriately reflects the importance of 

critical and growth minerals. However, the Council considers the relationship 

between policies M3 and M4 need to be more clearly expressed. One option 

would be to integrate into a single policy. 

 

105) Do you agree with the exclusion of development involving onshore oil 

and gas extraction from policy M3? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

106) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers this approach ensures consistency with policy M1. 

It also aligns with the wider Government intention not to  issue new licences for 

onshore oil and gas extraction. 

 

107) Do you agree policy M4 sufficiently addresses the impacts of mineral 

development, noting that other national decision-making policies will 

also apply? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

108) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers policy M4 is generally appropriate.  

However, the Council considers M4(1)(a) should be expanded to include 

reference to landscape and visual impact, open space, land stability, soil 

resource including best and most versatile agricultural land, water quality and 

flood risk, vehicular movements (including the impact of heavy lorry traffic on 

the transport network and the potential to transport minerals by rail) and the 

ability to achieve an appropriate access into the site. 

The Council also considers M4(1)(b) would benefit from reference to light 

pollution. 

Furthermore, the Council considers M4(1)(c) would benefit from reference to 

phased restoration, to encourage a strategic approach to the working and 

Page 99



 

59 | P a g e  

 

restoration of a mineral site in order to maximise efficiency and minimise 

impact. 

The Council also considers the relationship between policies M3 and M4 need to 

be more clearly expressed. One option would be to integrate into a single 

policy. 

 

109) Do you agree with approach to coal, oil and gas in policy M5? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers this approach ensures consistency with policy M1. 

It also aligns with the wider Government aspirations on these forms of fossil 

fuels. 

 

110) Are there any other exceptional circumstances in which coal extraction 

should be permitted? Yes/No 

No 

111) If yes, please outline the exceptional circumstances in which you think 

coal extraction should be permitted. 

N/A 

 

112) Do you agree policy M6 strikes the right balance between preventing 

the sterilisation of minerals reserves and minerals-related activities, 

and facilitating non-minerals development? Strongly agree, partly agree, 

neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Whilst Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the principles safeguarding 

of mineral resources and infrastructure in policy M6, the Council considers that 

this safeguarding needs to be more robustly expressed. As such: 

a. Policy M6(1)(a) should be expended to recognise the potential for 

development adjacent to a mineral safeguarding area boundary to impact 

on mineral resources within the mineral safeguarding area. 

b. Policy M6(1)(b) should be expended from preventing the use of existing, 

planned or potential sites to preventing or unduly constraining the use of 

existing, planned or potential sites.  

Page 100



 

60 | P a g e  

 

c. To provide certainty on the safeguarding of key infrastructure (including rail 

facilities/sidings, access roads to mineral site, haul roads within mineral 

sites, mineral processing plant and mineral extraction areas), M6(1)(b) 

should identify specific buffer zones. 

Shropshire Council would also recommend that policy M6 outlines the 

circumstances in which a planning application will be refused for reasons of  

mineral safeguarding. For instance, the policy could specify that applications for 

non-mineral development which could have the effect of preventing or unduly 

constraining the use of existing, planned and potential sites will be refused 

unless it is demonstrated that either the mineral resource concerned is not of 

economic value or prior extraction can occur without causing unacceptable 

adverse impacts. 

Furthermore, to avoid delays in the determination of planning applications, 

Shropshire Council would suggest that policy M6 specifies that where relevant, 

applicants will be expected to provide a proportionate assessment to 

demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Mineral Planning Authority that mineral 

interests have been adequately considered and that known mineral resources 

will be prevented, where possible, from being sterilised or unduly restricted. 

 

113) Does policy M6 provide sufficient clarity on the role of Minerals 

Consultation Areas? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

114) Do you agree policy L1 provides clear guidance on how Local Plans 

should be prepared to promote the efficient use of land? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

115) If not, what further guidance is needed? 

Whilst Shropshire strongly supports the principle of making the effective use of 

available land, including the appropriate re-use of previously developed land, it 

is considered the guidance set out in L1 presents overly generic aspirations for 

redevelopment and expectations regarding increases of densities.  As written, 

the concerns is that there is little expectation of consideration of wider issues, 

such as local character and the potential loss of local employment sites or other 

functions which support community sustainability, especially as a result of the 

application of L1(1)(a)(i). 

Page 101



 

61 | P a g e  

 

A further concern is that the policy L1 is urban focussed and may not 

sufficiently provide for a more locationally differentiated approach which, for 

example, recognises the challenges of PDL in more remote rural locations 

where high density development may not be compatible with a strategy for a 

sustainable pattern of development.  

Whilst design guidance and codes are identified in L1 as mechanisms for 

establishing design principles, identification of this mechanism does not reflect 

the likely challenges for Local Planning Authorities, such as Shropshire Council, 

of delivering a range of suitable design guidance across a large diverse local 

authority area.  Furthermore, it is considered that identified common design 

principles in policy L1(a)(ii), requiring for example redevelopment of residential 

plots and higher buildings on street corners, are unlikely to be universally 

appropriate as suggested by policy L1 and revised policy wording to reference 

appropriateness to the local area would be beneficial    

In combination with DM policies such as policy L3(2) there is a danger that 

guidelines in policy L1, as currently drafted, will potentially deprioritise the 

delivery of development appropriate to a local area, and the achievement of 

well-designed places as expected in Chapter 14.  Shropshire Council suggests 

that the interaction between these different objectives should be considered in 

the final drafting of policy L1.  

 

116) Do you agree policy L2 provides clear guidance on how development 

proposals should be assessed to ensure efficient use of land? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers policy L2(3) is too vague, and clarification would 

be welcome particularly regarding the phrase ‘optimise a sites development 

potential’. Without further criteria and guidance Shropshire Council considers 

this part of the policy is too subjective and open to interpretation resulting in 

inconsistent decision making and unnecessary debate.  

 

117) Do you agree policy L2 identifies appropriate typologies of 

development to support intensification? Strongly agree, partly agree, 

neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment.  

a) If not, what typologies should be added or removed and why? 

No comment. 

Page 102



 

62 | P a g e  

 

 

118) Do you agree the high-level design principles provided in policy L2(d) 

appropriate for national policy? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree 

nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers policy L2(d) to have a significant urban focus in 

its promotion of types of design such as mansard roofs, roofline infill, where 

such designs tend to be more appropriate in dense urban environments. The 

policy does not consider the impacts on more rural environments, edge of 

settlement locations or take into not account the impact on sensitive 

environments, including historic settings, conservation areas, and valued 

landscapes such as national landscapes.  

 

119) Do you agree policy L2 (d)(i) achieves its intent to enable appropriate 

development that may differ from the existing street scene, 

particularly in cases such as corner plot redevelopment and upwards 

extensions. Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council acknowledges the intention of policy L2(d)(i), however has 

concern that the policy is very urban focused and does not adequately take into 

account the impact of allowing larger buildings/upwards extensions in more 

rural contexts or edge of settlement locations.  Shropshire Council is concerned 

that in such locations the introduction of such developments could significantly 

harm settlement pattern and rural character.  

Shropshire Council is also concerned the policy does not account for sensitive 

environments, including historic settings, conservation areas, and valued 

landscapes such as national landscapes, where increases to height and massing 

could have significant negative visual, landscape or heritage impacts. 

Shropshire Council would welcome revisions to policy L2(d)(i) to ensure larger 

buildings/upwards extensions do not result in adverse impact on landscape 

sensitivity and heritage significance.   

 

120) Do you agree with the proposed safeguards in policy L2 that allow 

development in residential curtilages? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly disagree 

Page 103



 

63 | P a g e  

 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Footnote 43 to L2(d)(ii) provides a definition of an existing building which is not 

consistent with the existing definition of an original building in the current NPPF 

or as established through case law, which is ‘as constructed or at 1 July 1948’.  

L2(d)(ii) as drafted and in using the date of the publication of the NPPF as the 

baseline for the existing building provides insufficient safeguards, failing to 

recognise, for example,  that the existing building may have already been 

significantly extended from its original form and the remaining curtilage 

insufficient to accommodate further development without detriment to 

character and amenity.  

To avoid unintended consequences Shropshire Council strongly recommends 

this definition uses the baseline date at 1 July 1948 and aligns with that utilised 

elsewhere. 

 

121) Do you agree policy L3 provides clear guidance on achieving 

appropriate densities for residential and mixed-use schemes? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree. 

Partly disagree 

a) If not, please explain how guidance could be clearer? 

The objectives of Policy L3 in Criterion 1 are material considerations that are 

appropriate to ensure the delivery of a sustainable pattern of development. 

The key policy objective to ensure an appropriate and higher density of 

development is consistent with safeguarding the viability of a development 

scheme, to deliver the necessary infrastructure and required public benefits 

and to ensure that any environmental impacts from a development may be 

managed appropriately. 

The key objective to ensure an appropriate density of development is however, 

presented as a conditional outcome that may be difficult to achieve in practice.   

The outcome is presented in Criterion 2 as contributing to an increase in the 

established density of an area and presumably to a measurable degree.  This is 

a significant policy requirement that may only be measurable within larger 

scale developments. 

This outcome is also conditional on a significant number of factors identified in 

Criterion 1 including the type of land use and its specific purpose(s), local 

market conditions, infrastructure delivery including transport, the connectivity 

of the site with service and transport implications and the need to invest in the 

design and character of the development. 

Page 104



 

64 | P a g e  

 

The likely practical difficulties in securing this conditional outcome from Policy 

L3, where the practical difficulties identified in Criterion 1 are not an exhaustive 

list, would question whether Policy L3 provides significant justification to 

establish the principle of refusing development proposals where they do not 

make an efficient use of land. 

Policy L3 also does not have a satisfactory ‘metric’ to ensure the consistent 

measurement and assessment of the density of development.  Criterion 2 

indicates two subjective assessments which are: the established local density of 

an area and the existing local character of an area.  Whilst these may facilitate 

a speedy assessment of density by a decision maker, they may not ensure the 

consistency of decisions both between different decision makers or between 

similar applications in the same locality assessed by the same decision maker. 

This would again suggest that Policy L3 does not provide significant justification 

to establish the principle of refusing development proposals where they do not 

make an efficient use of land. 

A more consistent test for an appropriate density is to establish an average 

density rate for the broader locality.  This would provide a sounder basis for 

such decisions and their defence at appeal.  An average density rate for the 

broader locality would however, provide a well defined pass/fail outcome for 

any density assessment.  In instances where developments failed the density 

test, and with Policy L3 seeking to elevate the significance of density, this is 

likely to distract attention from the cumulative effects of those factors which 

affect the use of the site or the nature of the development proposal.  Such 

factors may include recognised constraints that are beyond the control of the 

developer.  This would again suggest that Policy L3 does not provide significant 

justification to establish the principle of refusing development proposals where 

they do not make an efficient use of land. 

It is considered that the test of whether a development scheme delivers an 

appropriate density of development is the expression of a range of material 

considerations that need to be assessed in the ‘balanced’ planning judgement 

required of the decision maker.  It is not ‘in principle’ a justifiable reason to 

refuse an otherwise acceptable development proposal.  This is especially the 

case where the developer cannot address the issues affecting the density or 

doing so, would itself, affect the viability of the scheme. 

It is considered that Policy L3 seeks to achieve sound and justifiable objectives 

for the delivery of a sustainable pattern of development but does not provide 

sufficient justification for density to become an ‘in principle’ reason to refuse 

development. 

 

122) Do you agree with the minimum density requirements set out within 

policy L3? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Page 105



 

65 | P a g e  

 

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Whilst Shropshire Council is very supportive of the principle of making efficient 

use of land and recognises that setting minimum site densities have a role to 

play in achieving this, it is concerned that the densities specified in L3(3) fail to 

account for the varied settlements in which railway stations are located. 

Specifically, whilst a minimum density of 40dph is entirely appropriate for a 

station in a city or town, for stations in very rural locations this would be wholly 

out of keeping with the character of the community and contradict policy DP3. 

For this reason, Shropshire Council would advocate the introduction of a series 

of minimum densities for development in proximity to railway stations – 

responsive to the characteristics of the settlements within these stations are 

located. 

b) Could these minimum density requirements lead to adverse impacts on 

Gypsies and Travellers and other groups with protected 

characteristics? Please provide your reasons, including any evidence 

The Council considers that introducing a series of minimum density standards 

more responsive to their location will reduce the potential for any adverse 

impacts on groups with protected characteristics. 

 

123) Do you agree that using dwellings per hectare is an appropriate metric 

for setting minimum density requirements? Additionally, is our 

definition of ‘net developable area’ within the NPPF suitable for this 

policy? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Where minimum densities are established for residential development, 

dwellings per hectare is the most appropriate metric. However, the Council is 

concerned that the definition of net developable area will result in unnecessary 

debate leading to delays in the determination of development.  

As such, the Council would advocate a more prescribed approach to defining 

net developable areas, entailing use of ‘standard assumptions’ regarding the 

proportion of different scale sites required for other uses. 

 

124) Do you agree with the proposed definition of a ‘well-connected’ station 

used to help set higher minimum density standards in targeted growth 

locations? In particular, are the parameters we’re using for the number 

of Travel to Work Areas and service frequency appropriate for defining 

Page 106



 

66 | P a g e  

 

a ‘well-connected’ station? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons and preferred alternatives. 

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the definition of a well-connected 

railway station, which aligns with the definition used in the footnotes to policy 

S5 and GB7. 

However, further clarity on what constitutes a reasonable prospect that planned 

upgrades / agreement with a rail operator that service provision will increase 

(as stated in the footnote), is considered necessary to avoid ambiguity and 

unnecessary delays regarding interpretation.  

 

125) Are there other types of location (such as urban core, or other types of 

public transport node) where minimum density standards should be set 

nationally? Yes/No 

No 

a) If so, how should these locations be defined in a clear and 

unambiguous way and what should these density standards be?  

Shropshire Council considers the proposed approach, of emphasising the 

importance of the efficient use of land and encouraging local standards within 

Local Plans is appropriate and sufficiently flexible to allow for the consideration 

of local circumstances during the preparation of Local Plans. 

 

126) Should we define a specific range of residential densities for land 

around stations classified as ‘well-connected’?  

Yes 

127) If so, what should that range be, and which locations should it apply 

to? 

Shropshire Council considers introducing a series of minimum density 

standards for well-connected stations that are more responsive to their location 

is more appropriate than a single standard. Such an approach will ensure 

consistency with policy DP3. 

 

128) Do you agree policy L4 provides clear high-level guidance on good 

design for residential extensions? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

Page 107



 

67 | P a g e  

 

129) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers that if policy L4 is to address residential 

extensions, it should do so more comprehensively. Currently the wording is 

overly vague and fails to address all considerations for residential extensions. 

Failing to address these concerns implies that wider considerations are no 

longer relevant for residential extensions. 

With regard to examples of the vagueness of the policy: 

a. L4(1)(a) addresses blending into immediate surroundings – is this the plot, 

neighbouring properties, the wider street scheme or all of the above? 

b. L4(1)(b) addresses maintaining acceptable living standards – is this for 

residents of the associated dwelling, neighbouring properties or all of the 

above? 

Examples of considerations not addressed could include issues raised above 

dependent on the intended interpretation of their scope. Other examples 

include appropriate separation distances; being subordinate to the existing 

property; relationship to the building line; need to maintain appropriate garden 

space; and materials, finishes and fenestration. 

There is also a missed opportunity to highlight the potential to incorporate 

water and energy efficiency measures and renewable energy generation when 

undertaking extensions – as this is when it is most cost effective to do so. 

Shropshire Council suggest replacing the word ‘effectively’ with ‘sensitively’ or 

‘harmoniously’ to better align with wider design policies. 

Footnote 46 provides a definition of an existing building. This is not consistent 

with the definition provided in footnote 49 of the draft NPPF, the existing 

definition of an original building in the current NPPF or as established through 

case law, which is ‘as constructed or at 1 July 1948’. To avoid unintended 

consequences Shropshire Council strongly recommends this definition aligns 

with that utilised elsewhere. 

Therefore, whilst Shropshire Council is supportive of the principle of this policy, 

it is considered that its scope needs to be expanded in order to be effective and 

to avoid unintended consequences. 

 

130) Do you agree that policy GB1 provides appropriate criteria for 

establishing new Green Belts? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree 

nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

131) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers that the proposed criteria for when it is 

appropriate to establish new Green Belt are generally appropriate. However, 

Page 108



 

68 | P a g e  

 

the Council would suggest the amendment of policy GB1(1)(c) to include 

specific reference to sustainable in the context of long-term growth ambitions. 

 

132) Do you agree policy GB2 gives sufficient detail on the expected roles 

spatial development strategies and local plans play in assessing Green 

belt land? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council supports the principle that a Green Belt assessment should 

be undertaken where required to inform / facilitate the vision, objectives and 

spatial strategy (including achievement of minimum growth expectations) of an 

SDS / Local Plan. 

However, the Council is concerned there is currently insufficient consideration 

of proportionality in policy GB2, contrary to the principles in policy PM8. This 

includes recognition of circumstances where it may be appropriate to re-use an 

existing Green Belt assessment (where consistent with the methodology in 

Annex E) and circumstances where such an assessment is not required (where 

Green Belt release is not required to achieve the vision, objectives and spatial 

strategy).  

As such, the Council considers policy GB2 should be appropriately modified so 

that it aligns with policy PM8 regarding the principle of proportionality. 

 

133) Do you agree with proposals to better enable development opportunities 

around suitable stations to be brought forward? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is concerned about the unintended consequences of policy 

GB3 in its approach to development of land around stations. Specifically, policy 

GB3 specifies that Green Belt boundaries “should be altered” where it would 

enable development of land around stations. This is irrespective of whether 

such development is required to achieve the vision, objectives and spatial 

strategy (including achievement of minimum growth expectations).  

The Council is concerned that such a requirement undermines the ability for a 

Local Plan vision, objectives and spatial strategy to be locally responsive and 

procedurally could constitute pre-determination (a particular issue during the 

Strategic Environmental Assessment process). 

Page 109



 

69 | P a g e  

 

Notably, such a release of Green Belt land would not require demonstration of 

exceptional circumstances, as is the case with other releases. 

 

134) Do you agree the expectations set out in policy GB5 are appropriate 

and deliverable in Local Plans? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree 

nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

135) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is supportive of the principles identified in policy GB5. 

However, the Council does have some concern about achievability of certain 

principles. Specifically: 

a. With regard to policy GB5(1)(a) how do SDS’s and Local Plans secure 

improved public access to greenspaces within the Green Belt, if such land is 

not promoted for these purposes? 

b. With regard to policy GB5(1)(d) how do SDS’s and Local Plans secure 

compensatory improvements to the Green Belt through enhanced 

environmental quality / accessibility if the promoter of such sites do not 

own wider land interests in the Green Belt and alternative land is not 

promoted for these purposes? 

The Council would therefore either welcome further guidance on these matters 

or their achievability reconsidered. 

 

136) Do you agree policies GB6 and GB7 set out appropriate tests for 

considering development on Green Belt land? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of policy GB6. However, the Council 

has a number of concerns with policy GB7. Specifically: 

a. Policy GB7(g)(iv) and GB7(h)(v) include reference to major residential 

development. Given the introduction of the new medium scale development 

category, to avoid unnecessary debate the Council considers greater clarity 

is required that this applies to schemes of 10 or more dwellings or 0.5ha site 

size – perhaps by way of a footnote. 

b. Policy GB7(h) specifies housing and mixed-used development well related to 

and within walking distance of a well-connected station in not inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt. Notably, this is applicable irrespective of 

Page 110



 

70 | P a g e  

 

whether there is an identified ‘unmet need’ or not. The Council strongly 

considers that such development should only be considered not 

inappropriate where it is to meet an identified ‘unmet need’ – consistent with 

the approach to grey belt. To do otherwise risks undermining the principles 

of the Green Belt and conflict with or pre-determination of the vision, 

objectives and spatial strategies in SDS’s and Local Plans. 

 

137) Do you agree policy GB7(1h) successfully targets appropriate 

development types and locations in the Green Belt, including that it 

applies only to housing and mixed-use development capable of meeting 

the density requirements in chapter 12? Strongly agree, partly agree, 

neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

138) Please provide your reasons, including any evidence that this policy 

would lead to adverse impacts on Gypsies and Travellers. 

Shropshire Council does not consider that policy GB7(h) needs to be extended 

to apply to other forms of development. 

However, the Council strongly considers that policy GB7(h) should specify that 

the forms of development it addresses (housing and mixed-used development 

well related to and within walking distance of a well-connected station) is only 

considered not inappropriate where it is to meet an identified ‘unmet need’ – 

consistent with the approach to grey belt. To do otherwise risks undermining 

the principles of the Green Belt and conflict with or pre-determination of the 

vision, objectives and spatial strategies in SDS’s and Local Plans. 

 

139) Do you agree that site-specific viability assessment should be 

permitted on development proposals subject to the Golden Rules in 

these three circumstances? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

The current golden rules do not include any circumstances where site-specific 

viability assessment is permitted. Given these rules have only been in place for 

a short period of time (only a year), it is considered premature to determine 

that they have been ineffective.  

Furthermore, the intention of the golden rules is to demonstrate that 

development in the Green Belt provides greater community benefit than 

equivalent development elsewhere, but introduction of circumstances where 

site-specific viability assessment is permitted undermines this clear principle. 

Page 111



 

71 | P a g e  

 

Ultimately, the Council is concerned that introduction of circumstances where 

site-specific viability assessment is permitted will lead to equalisation of land 

value expectations with non-Green Belt locations, eroding the ability to achieve 

the golden rules and the intention of additionality from development in the 

Green Belt.  

Shropshire Council would therefore advocate for the continuation of the current 

approach, which it considers can be successful if given sufficient opportunity. 

 

140) With regards to previously developed land, are there further changes 

to policy or guidance that could be made to help ensure site-specific 

viability assessments are used only for genuinely previously developed 

land, and not predominantly greenfield sites? 

Shropshire Council would note that the definition of previously developed land 

is diverse. Whilst this is entirely appropriate, reflecting the diverse built 

environment, there is a risk that this leads to mis-application of relief 

mechanisms when referenced in context of site-specific viability assessments. 

As such, the Council would suggest that such mechanisms, where appropriate, 

are limited to forms of previously developed land that have genuine abnormals 

that effect the development process. Examples include where previously 

development has led to significant contamination or stability issues. 

 

141) Do you agree with setting an affordable housing ‘floor’ for schemes 

subject to the Golden Rules accompanied by a viability assessment 

subject to the terms set out? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

142) Please explain your answer, including your view on the appropriate 

approach to setting a ‘floor’, and the right level for this? 

Shropshire Council advocates for the continuation of the current approach to 

the golden rules, which does introduce any circumstances within which viability 

assessment is appropriate. 

However, if this is to be departed from, then it is critical that an appropriate 

affordable housing ‘floor’ is established below which development will simply be 

considered inappropriate – so as to ensure that development in the Green Belt 

provides greater community benefit than equivalent development elsewhere. 

The Council considers that this ‘floor’ should be set at a percentage (ideally 

15%) above the highest contribution expected elsewhere in the Local Planning 

Authority, again so as to demonstrate that development in the Green Belt 

provides greater community benefit than equivalent development elsewhere. 

 

Page 112



 

72 | P a g e  

 

143) Do you agree with local planning authorities testing viability at the 

plan-making stage using a standardised Benchmark Land Values 

scenario of 10 times Existing Use Value for greenfield, Green Belt land? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree 

a) Please explain your answer. 

Shropshire Council strongly considers that the standardised Benchmark Land 

Values scenario of 10 times Existing Use Value for greenfield Green Belt land is 

inappropriate. This is because such a scenario is entirely applicable to non-

Green Belt land (indeed the NPPF would benefit from specifying this). 

If this approach is applied to Green Belt land, then it would fail to recognise the 

reduced ‘hope value’ for land in the Green Belt and the expectation that there 

is additionality (through the golden rules) for such development. 

The Council therefore strongly considers a lower multiplier should be provided 

to allow for the achievement of additionality and achievement of golden rules. 

 

144) Do you have any other comments on the use of nationally standardised 

Benchmark Land Values for local planning authorities to test viability 

at the plan-making stage? 

Shropshire Council considers the NPPF would benefit from specifying that a 

standardised Benchmark Land Values scenario of 10 times Existing Use Value 

should be applied for greenfield sites outside the Green Belt. 

 

145) Do you agree that proposed changes to the grey belt definition will 

improve the operability of the grey belt definition, without 

undermining the general protections given to other footnote 7 areas? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council agrees that the proposed changes to the grey belt definition 

make identification of grey belt clearer. However, the Council does have 

concerns about the resultant clarity of protections to footnote 7 areas, given 

there is now no reference to them in either the definition or policy GB7(1)(g). 

The Council would therefore recommend specific reference to these areas is 

included in policy GB7(1)(g). 

 

Page 113



 

73 | P a g e  

 

146) Do you agree that policy DP1 provides sufficient clarity on how 

development plans should deliver high quality design and placemaking 

outcomes? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers policy DP1 is clear on how design and place-

making should be approached in Development Plans.  

 

147) Do you agree with the approach to design tools set out in policy DP2? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council recognises the contribution that good quality design guides, 

design codes and masterplans can have to ensure a well-designed place. Policy 

DP2 appears to be reflective of existing design led planning objectives, which 

are generally supported. However, Shropshire Council have concerns around 

the resource burden the monitoring and review process within policy DP2(1)(d) 

would introduce, there is risk this will not be carried out which could weaken 

design tools in the longer term. 

   

148) Do you agree policy DP3 clearly set out principles for development 

proposals to respond to their context and create well-designed places? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council recognises the importance of good design. The policy seeks 

reflects existing principles of good design set out in the National Design Guide 

and on this basis is generally supported by Shropshire Council. However, the 

Council would make the following observations: 

a. Policy DP3(1)(a) does not reference landscape character. 

b. Policy DP3(1)(c) does not reference nature-based solutions (green roof/ 

walls, trees cover for cooling, SuDs for drainage etc… only references 

‘landscaping’ with regard to climate mitigation. 

Page 114



 

74 | P a g e  

 

c. Policy DP3(1)(d) appears to contain a ‘typo’ as policy NE3, which does not 

exist, is referenced. Shropshire Council presumes this should instead 

referenced policy N3 regarding trees? This section of the policy also 

references climate resilience features, which it is considered would be more 

appropriate as part of DP3(1)(c) and its focus on direct features to mitigate 

climate change as opposed to DP3(1)(d) which has more focus on 

development contributions to the broader strategic Green 

Infrastructure/nature recovery.    

d. Policy DP3(1)(h) could be strengthened through reference to use of design 

guide, design codes where available to reduce subjectivity. 

 

149) Do you agree with the proposed approach to using design review and 

other design processes in policy DP4? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree  

a) If not, what else would help secure better design and placemaking 

outcomes? 

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of the principle that design should be 

integrated into all parts of the planning and implementation process. However, 

the Council is concerned about unintended consequences of Policy DP4(2)(c). 

Specifically, this could be interpreted as expecting Local Planning Authorities to 

actively monitor the implementation of approved development is not materially 

diminished between permission and completion. Such an expectation would be 

unduly resource intensive.  

As such, the Council would suggest this policy expectation is clarified and 

further guidance provided regarding the post permission process and how to 

assess whether a proposed change is ‘materially diminishing’.  

 

150) Do you agree that policy TR1 will provide an effective basis for taking a 

vision-led approach and supporting sustainable transport through 

plan-making? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the requirement for early engagement to shape a 

sustainable transport strategy. Shropshire Council considers that Policy TR1 

would introduce a good structural basis to support the vision led approach and 

embed transport planning into plan making from the beginning. The overall 

effectiveness of this policy will however depend on how robustly local planning 

Page 115



 

75 | P a g e  

 

authorities are able to apply the requirements. This could vary, depending on 

issues around resource burdens and the availability of sufficient, quality data to 

inform the strategy.  

 

151) Do you agree that policy TR2 strikes an appropriate balance between 

supporting maximum parking standards where they can deliver 

planning benefits, and requiring a degree of flexibility and 

consideration of business requirements in setting those standards? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council supports the objective to create a balance in relation to the 

application of parking standards. However, Shropshire Council is concerned the 

policy does not go far enough in acknowledging that there needs to be a degree 

of flexibility when applying parking standards. Shropshire Council have 

preference for ‘guidance’ as opposed to ‘standards’ which could be too rigid. 

This approach would better reflect that conditions and connectivity can change 

over the plan period and during the build out of development.   

 

152) Do you agree with the changes proposed in policy TR3(1a), including 

the reference to proposals which could generate a significant amount 

of movement, and the proposed use of the Connectivity Tool? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Partly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Changing the focus to ‘significant amount of movement’ rather than ‘significant 

development’ would result in a more behaviour focused approach and would 

enable assessment of a wider range of development, including that which 

maybe small in scale but generate a high number of trips. However, there is 

potential for disagreement as to what is meant by a ‘significant amount of 

movement’ which could lead to unnecessary debate and inconsistency in 

decision making and further clarification of this matter would be welcome. 
 

153) Do you agree that proposed policy TR4 provides a sufficient basis for 

the effective integration of transport considerations in creating well-

designed places? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree  

Page 116



 

76 | P a g e  

 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council would expect TR4 to align with the principles of the 

forthcoming Manual for Streets 3 publication, specifically wording of Section 

T4(1)(b) and T4(1)(c).  

 

154)  Do you agree with policy TR5 as a basis for supporting the provision 

and retention of roadside facilities where there is an identified need? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

155) Do you agree that the amended wording proposed in policy TR6 

provides a clearer basis for considering when transport assessments 

and travel plans will be required, and for considering impacts on the 

transport network?  Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council does not consider that the proposals in policy TR6 provide 

any significant further clarity than already provided in paragraph 118 and 

glossary annexed to the published NPPF, December 2024.  

Shropshire Council welcomes the amendment to the wording to include the 

‘likely to’ impacts and enable the consideration of future scenarios. It is also 

welcomed that the policy widens the scope to include the whole of the 

transport network rather than just the road network.  

The additional clarification in relation to travel plans providing a fall-back 

position is welcomed and provides an opportunity for further mitigation to be 

introduced if objectives are not achieved. However, Shropshire Council would 

welcome further guidance on how this would be expected to be monitored and 

enforced and has concerns over the additional resource burdens this may 

introduce for local authorities.  

 

156) Do you agree the proposed text in policy TR7 provide an effective basis 

for assessing proposals for marine ports, airports and general aviation 

facilities? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Page 117



 

77 | P a g e  

 

No comment.  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

157) Do you agree with the additional policy on maintaining and improving 

rights of way proposed in policy TR8? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the clear expectations for public rights of way and 

the associated guidance in policy TR8. 

 

158) Do you agree with the approach to planning for healthy communities in 

policy HC1, including the expectation that the development plan set 

local standards for different types of recreational land, drawing upon 

relevant national standards? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the flexibility for locally specific standards to be 
set for different types of recreational land as a more tailored approach to this 
will allow for consideration of different contexts. However, clear guidance as to 
the data and evidence which should be used to understand the ‘deficiencies’ in 
an area would be welcomed.   

 

159) Do you agree that Local Green Space should be ‘close’ to the 

community it serves? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council agrees Local Green Space should be genuinely local to the 

community it serves. However, there are reservations as to whether the minor 

change to the wording from ‘reasonably close’ to ‘close’ would achieve this 

objective. A clear definition as to what is meant by ‘close to’ would help to 

avoid unnecessary debate on this matter.  

 

Page 118



 

78 | P a g e  

 

160) Do you agree that the proposed policies at HC3 and HC4 will support 

the provision of community facilities and public service infrastructure 

serving new development? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council agrees with objectives of HC3 and HC4. Whilst Shropshire 

Council welcomes the aim of encouraging early engagement with local 

communities in the design process for public services infrastructure, there are 

reservations as to how successfully this could be applied. Given the proposed 

collaborative approach in HC4(2), consideration and clarification are needed of 

where the burden of resources may lie and how resource requirements would 

be met, particularly around who would be responsible for leading and funding 

such engagements.  

Shropshire Council note the definition of community facilities within Annex B: 

Glossary and would recommend the inclusion of local shops to that definition, 

as for a rural area these can be important community facilities. This 

amendment would also resolve an apparent conflict between the glossary 

definition and the inclusion of local shops in policy HC6(2).  

 

161) Do you have any views on whether further clarity is required to 

improve the application of this policy, including the term ‘fast food 

outlets’, and the types of uses to which it applies?  

Shropshire Council would welcome a clear definition of what is meant by 

‘reasonable walking distance’ and considers a definition of ‘fast food outlets’ 

would be helpful to ensure consistency of decision making and avoid 

unnecessary debate. 

 

162) Do you agree with the proposed approach to retaining key community 

facilities and public service infrastructure in policy HC6? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Policy HC6(2) – regarding the wording ‘the last of its type in the area 

concerned’ – it is unclear what the definition of ‘the area concerned’ is. Is this 

the settlement the facility is located in, or the area the facility serves? 

Shropshire Council would welcome clarification on this aspect.  

Shropshire Council notes that policy HC6(2) includes local shops as an example 

of a key community facility, however this appears to conflict with definition for 

Page 119



 

79 | P a g e  

 

Community facilities within Annex B: Glossary where local shops are not listed.  

For many rural communities local shops are an important facility and 

Shropshire Council would welcome the inclusion of local shops within the 

definition of Community facilities.  

 

163) Do you agree with the approach taken to recreational facilities in policy 

HC7, including the addition of ‘and/or’ with reference to quantity and 

quality of replacement provision? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council considers the provision of good quality and accessible 

recreational facilities including open space plays an essential part in 

encouraging healthy lifestyles and communities. It is acknowledged that there 

would be some benefit to allowing flexibility and considers the provision of such 

space should not always be purely driven by quantity which tends to become a 

mathematical calculation. However, Shropshire Council have concerns that the 

use of ‘and/or’ creates a degree of ambiguity and overly broadens the range of 

policy compliant ‘acceptable’ outcomes. That is, such ambiguity could lead to 

cherry picking of either quantity or quality which may not result in the best 

outcome for the community.  There is concern that if quantity reduces and 

quality is only marginally uplifted (or vice versa) there would still be a loss to 

the community.  

Shropshire Council would suggest the policy includes a clause which requires 

any reduction in quantity to demonstrate a proportionate improvement in 

quality and vice versa.  

Additionally, Shropshire Council would welcome clear guidance to clarify what 

would constitute better quality, what evidence should be provided to support 

claims of quality improvement and guidance as to what would be the minimum 

acceptable level of quantity or quality reduction. 

 

164) Do you agree with the clarification that Local Green Space should not 

fall into areas regarded as grey belt or where Green Belt policy on 

previously developed land apply? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council agrees with the clarification that Local Green Space should 

be treated as if Green Belt (but not as previously developed land or grey belt 

Page 120



 

80 | P a g e  

 

within the Green Belt) as outlined in policy HC8. However, for the sake of 

clarity, the Council would not support proposals that limit the ability to 

designate Local Green Space within the Green Belt as somewhat implied by this 

question. 

 

165) Do you agree with policy P1 as a basis for identifying and addressing 

relevant risks when preparing plans? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

neither agree nor disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

No comment. 

 

166) Are any additional tools or guidance needed to enable better decision-

making on contaminated land? 

No comment.  

 

167) Do you agree with the criteria set out in proposed policy P3 as a basis 

for securing acceptable living conditions and managing pollution? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree. 

Neither agree or disagree. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

There is an interaction between this policy and policy DM7. Shropshire Council 

has commented that it is very supportive of the principles within policy DM7 

and the clarity it provides regarding the inter-relationship between the planning 

application process and other regulatory regimes. However, the Council has 

highlighted that the ability to rely on other regulatory regimes has been 

undermined by legal challenge (The King (on the application of Alison Caffyn) v 

Shropshire Council regarding Planning Application 17/05151/EIA). This would 

need to be addressed, to secure a nationally consistent approach to considering 

planning applications.   

As a practical measure, robust, nationally agreed adopted thresholds and 

standards, such as those used by Natural Resource Wales which have aligned 

thresholds and emission standards across planning and permitting regimes, 

could provide consistency and reduce opportunities for legal challenge. On this 

basis Part 3 of P3 could be strengthened by referencing the appropriateness of 

national standards which will provide the foundation for determining levels of 

acceptability.  

Page 121



 

81 | P a g e  

 

 

168) Do you agree policy P4 makes sufficiently clear how decision-makers 

should apply the agent of change principle? Strongly agree, partly agree, 

neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

169) Do you agree policy P5 provides sufficient basis for addressing possible 

malicious threats and other hazards when considering development 

proposals? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree. 

Shropshire Council would welcome clarification as to the definition of open 

bodies of water for the purposes of policy P5 – for example should SUD 

attenuation ponds (which are common feature of housing developments) be 

included as open bodies of water?  

Clear guidance as to what would be considered an expected/acceptable level of 

‘proportionate mitigation’ would be welcome to avoid inconsistency and 

increase certainty for decision makers and those designing development 

proposals.    

 

170) Do you agree that substantial weight should be given to the benefits of 

development for defence and public protection purposes? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

 

171) Do you agree with the proposed changes set out in policy F3 to 

improve how Coastal Change Management Areas are identified and 

taken into account in development plans? Strongly agree, partly agree, 

neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

N/A 

Page 122



 

82 | P a g e  

 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

172) Do you agree with the proposed clarifications to the sequential test set 

out in policy F5? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

173) Do you agree with the proposed approach to the exception test set out 

in policy F6? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree 

N/A 

 

174) Do you agree with the proposed requirement in policy F8 for 

sustainable drainage systems to be designed in accordance with the 

National Standards? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council would welcome further strengthening of this policy to 

ensure sustainable drainage systems are designed to manage both everyday 

and extreme rainfall events, including climate change allowances. Shropshire 

Council has also experienced post development problems with regards to 

enforcing maintenance and adoption arrangements and would welcome further 

guidance and a strengthening of F8(2)(b) to require a full maintenance plan to 

aligned with ‘whole lifecycle design’ of national standards and guidance on the 

use of planning conditions/obligations to assist with enforcement.     

175) Do you agree with the proposed new policy to avoid the enclosure of 

watercourses, and encourage the de-culverting and re-naturalisation of 

river channels? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

Page 123



 

83 | P a g e  

 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

176) Do you agree with the proposed changes to policy for managing 

development in areas affected by coastal change? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

177) The National Coastal Erosion Risk Map sets out where areas may be 

vulnerable to coastal change based on different scenarios. Do you have 

views on how these scenarios should be applied to ensure a 

proportionate approach in applying this policy? 

N/A 

 

178) Do you agree with the proposed new additions to Table 2: Flood Risk 

Vulnerability Classifications? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Should any other forms of development should be added? Please give 

your reasoning and clearly identify which proposed or additional uses 

you are referring to. 

No comment. 

 

179) Do you agree that the proposed approach to planning for the natural 

environment in policy N1, including the proposed approach to 

biodiversity net gain, strikes the right balance between consistency, 

viability, deliverability, and supporting nature recovery?   Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

Page 124



 

84 | P a g e  

 

180) In what circumstances would it be reasonable to seek more than 10% 

biodiversity net gain on sites being allocated in the development plan, 

especially where this could support meeting biodiversity net gain 

obligations on other neighbouring sites in a particular area? 

No comment.  

 

181) Do you agree policy N2 sets sufficiently clear expectations for how 

development proposals should consider and enhance the existing natural 

characteristics of sites proposed for development? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree  

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council support the clarity policy N2(2) will bring for decision 

makers and managing applicant and developer expectations.  

 

182) Do you agree the policy in Policy N4 provides a sufficiently clear basis 

for considering development proposals affecting protected landscapes 

and reflecting the statutory duties which apply to them? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly agree   

a) Please provide your reasons, including how policy can be improved to 

ensure compliance. 

Shropshire Council is concerned the wording of the final part of draft policy 

N4(1) introduces ambiguity and it could be interpreted that less weight should 

be given to the protection of wildlife and cultural heritage within national 

landscapes. This could lead to inconsistency in decision making. Shropshire 

Council would welcome clarification within the policy that wildlife and cultural 

heritage considerations apply to all protected landscapes. 

Shropshire Council notes policy N4(2) differs from the existing wording in 

paragraph 190 of the current NPPF through removal of the word ‘and’. Whilst 

minor, this removal suggests exceptional circumstances is the public interest 

rather than exceptional circumstances being a separate policy test. It is unclear 

if this is intentional and the Council would therefore welcome clarification.   

Shropshire Council suggests Policy N4(3) could be strengthened through 

replacement of ‘should’ with ‘must’. 

 

183) Do you agree policy N6 provides clarity on the treatment of 

internationally, nationally and locally recognised site within the 

Page 125



 

85 | P a g e  

 

planning system? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Neither agree nor disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the inclusion of local nature sites within this 

policy. However, the Council considers the use of and/or between policy N6(1) 

a(i) and (ii) could be confusing and lead to misinterpretation.  

The Council is also concerned that policy N6(2) is at odds with the Environment 

Agency’s regulatory regime which currently allows 100% deposition of 

ammonia on ancient woodlands. To avoid duplication or delay to the 

determination of planning applications the Council considers there needs to be 

a stronger reliance on the threshold values used by other regulators so that 

decision makers can rely on a nationally agreed adopted standard. A positive 

example of this is in Wales, where Natural Resource Wales has aligned 

thresholds and emission standards across planning and permitting regimes.  

 

184) Are there any further issues for planning policy that we need to 

consider as we take forward the implementation of Environmental 

Delivery Plans? 

Shropshire Council considers clear guidance is required regarding setting an 

appropriate levy and how the Council should take the levy into account when 

conducting viability assessment.  

 

185) Do you agree the government should implement the additional regard 

duties under Section 102 of the Levelling-Up and Regeneration Act? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons. 

Shropshire Council strongly recommends that government implements s102 of 

the LURA. This would provide clarity for local planning authorities by ensuring 

that the need to give special regard to their preservation or enhancement is a 

statutory duty as well as a policy requirement. 

Shropshire Council also strongly urges the government to commence s230 of 

the LURA in relation to Historic Environment Records. 

 

186) Do you have any evidence as to the impact of implementing the 

additional regard duties for development? 

Page 126



 

86 | P a g e  

 

No – however Shropshire Council think this would provide greater clarity. 

 

187) Do you agree with the approach to plan-making for the historic 

environment, including the specific requirements for World Heritage 

Sites and Conservation Areas, set out in policies H1 – H3? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council broadly welcomes these policies. 

However, it is considered that, as currently worded, Policy HE1(1)(d) implies 

that any kind of non-designated heritage asset could be included on a local list, 

rather than locally noteworthy historic buildings as is currently normally the 

case.  This section of the policy also implies that such a list will be a mandatory 

requirement.  Concern is therefore expressed that establishing, maintaining 

and reviewing such a local list in a large, rural authority area like Shropshire, 

which does not currently have a local list, will have very substantial resource 

implications for the local planning authority.  Greater clarity and flexibility could 

therefore be provided by amending the wording of this part of the policy to 

include a reference to Historic Environment Records.  Shropshire Council would 

suggest the following rewording for HE1(1)(d): 

d) Be supported by an up-to-date Historic Environment Record, and when 

available a local list of historic buildings, to identify non-designated heritage 

assets that are important to the local community. 

Shropshire Council welcomes Policy HE3 in advance of the commencement of 

s230 of the LURA.  However, the government is also strongly urged to 

implement this section of the act as soon as possible. 

 

188) Do you agree with the approach to assessing the effects of 

development on heritage assets set out in policy H5? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council broadly welcomes this policy but would make the following 

comments and observations. 

The positive approach to heritage assets in HE5 (2)(a) is welcomed but, as 

currently drafted, is awkwardly worded.  The following amendment is therefore 

suggested. 

Page 127



 

87 | P a g e  

 

a) Have a positive effect that enhances the heritage asset, or its significance 

better revealed;  

The spectrum of harm set out in HE5 (2) (b – d) is a useful addition.  However, 

it is queried why the term ‘less than substantial harm’ is omitted? Whilst this 

may assist in clarifying the common misconception that ‘less than substantial 

harm’ can be diminished/ dismissed, it has now gained widespread currency, and 

its application has been carried through case law.  In this latter respect, its 

omission could create uncertainty and result in further legal debate at appeal and 

through the courts. 

Policy HE5 (5) would be strengthened, and made consistent with HE5 (1), if 

reference to the need to employ appropriate expertise to undertake 

archaeological desk-based assessments and field evaluation is included.  This 

would assist local planning authorities to ensure that this work is conducted in 

line with recognised professional codes, standards and guidance.  

 

189) Do you agree with the approach to considering impacts on designated 

heritage assets in policy HE6, including the change from "great weight" 

to "substantial weight", and in particular the interactions between this 

and the statutory duties? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor 

disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council generally welcomes this policy and recognises that the 

change from "great weight" to "substantial weight” will provide greater 

consistency across the Framework.  Taking account of footnote 74, it is 

considered that this will not diminish the weighting, stemming from the duties, 

which should be attached in the planning balance when this test is engaged. 

Shropshire Council considers that, as currently drafted, the wording of footnote 

75 is confusing.  It appears that the intention is that it should apply to non-

designated heritage assets with archaeological interest, as per the existing 

footnote 75 in the current NPPF.  However, the proposed new version could be 

read as applying to other types of non-designated heritage asset which the 

local planning authority considers to be of national importance.  It therefore 

requires rewording to clarify its intent and reduce the potential for uncertainty 

in this respect. 

 

190) Do you agree with the new policies in relation to world heritage, 

conservation areas and archaeological assets in policies HE8 – HE10? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree.  

Page 128



 

88 | P a g e  

 

Partly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council supports proposed policies HE8 and HE9 relating to World 

Heritage Sites and Conservation Area and considers they provide greater clarity 

than the current version of the NPPF.  In particular HE8 makes the significance 

of World Heritage Sites clearer, with Outstanding Universal Value now 

embedded within the policy itself, and explicit acknowledgement not only the 

setting but also any buffer zones. 

It is assumed that HE10(1) refers to pre-determination archaeological 

evaluation/assessment in order to reinforce the requirements of HE5 (5), and 

HE10 (2) to archaeological mitigation and/ or investigation secured via planning 

conditions (and should therefore be read in conjunction with HE11 (1)(b)).  If 

this is the case, this is welcomed. 

It is recommended that the phrase “based on evidence” in HE10 (1) be 

removed in reference to undiscovered archaeological heritage assets. 

Alternatively, it should be clarified that professional judgement would also be a 

factor in determining archaeological potential for undiscovered archaeological 

heritage assets.  The term “reasonable potential” is also problematic, 

particularly for large development sites, where the aim of pre-determination 

evaluation may be to establish the potential for undiscovered significant 

archaeological remains in areas where limited or no previous archaeological 

investigations have been undertaken, which is frequently the case in 

Shropshire. 

It is suggested that ‘effect’ is substituted with ‘impact’ in this policy HE10.  

If policy HE10 is meant to provide further clarification/ complement on HE5 (5) 

then there needs to be consistency in the terminology used (“evaluation / 

investigation”), and it could cross-reference back to HE5.5 to underline this 

intention (as a footnote or parenthetical reference to HE5 5).  

The final sentence of HE10 (1) should be amended to read “…inform the 

design…”.  The phrase "...and implementation of the development" could be 

deleted as superfluous within the policy and to improve its clarity. 

Shropshire Council welcomes the requirement in HE10 (2) that archaeological 

investigation, recording, dissemination and archiving should be undertaken by 

“…suitably-qualified individuals or organisations.” 

 

191) Do you have any other comments on the revisions to the heritage 

chapter?  

No 

 

Page 129



 

89 | P a g e  

 

192) Do you agree with the transitional arrangements approach to decision-

making? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council has three significant concerns about the proposed 

traditional arrangements outlined in Annex A – paragraph 2. These are: 

a. It has the very real potential to result in the NPPF conflicting with both 

Section 79(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act which states that when 

determining Planning Applications regard must be given to “the provisions 

of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application” and also 

Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act which specifies 

when doing so “determination must be made in accordance with the plan 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.” 

b. Through reference to policies being “in any way inconsistent” it fails to 

account for that fact that such inconsistencies are often a response to local 

circumstances which in many instances justify a more locally tailored 

approach to a matter. 

c. Through reference to policies being “in any way inconsistent” being given 

“very limited weight” it fails to comply with case law which has clearly 

established that inconsistency of part of a policy does not necessarily mean 

that the entire policy is inconsistent.  

The Council is however generally supportive of paragraphs 1 and 3 of Annex A. 

 

193) Do you have any further thoughts on the policies outlined in this 

consultation? 

There is an option for Policy HO10 to introduce use of the Planning Permission 

in Principle (PIP) process for residential schemes, thereby reducing an element 

of risk, time and cost for the Registered Provider. However, Shropshire Council 

is unlikely to support a generic Permission in Principle for a residential proposal 

given that there is no requirement to specify tenure mix. 

It is unclear if policy HO11 applies to Gypsy and Traveller site development or 

development in the Green Belt. The Council would suggest that greater clarity 

on how this policy relates to these matters should be included to avoid 

unnecessary debate and time during determination of planning applications. 

With specific regard to applicability of policy HO11 to Gypsy and Traveller site 

development, this issue is of further significance given the approach to the 

consideration of proposals where an unmet need for a site is identified in policy 

S5.  

Page 130



 

90 | P a g e  

 

Shropshire Council supports policy N3(1)(a), however there is concern that the 

examples quoted for suitable locations other than new streets (‘such as parks 

and community orchards’) are perhaps overly-specific or ‘niche’, in the case of 

community orchards. Shropshire Council recommends that reference be made 

instead to the desirability and long-term benefits of planting in communal open 

space or the public realm in general, as opposed to tree planting in private 

gardens, where the future retention and maintenance of the planted trees 

cannot be guaranteed. 

  Shropshire Council considers N3(1)(b) could be strengthened by including 

reference to the need to ensure that the planting is sustainable and the newly 

planted trees have access to sufficient quantity and appropriate quality of 

rooting medium to sustain them to biological maturity. This is particularly 

important where trees pits are located within areas of hard surface, such as 

pavements, courtyards, squares, or car parks, for example, where soil 

conditions tend to be unfavourable for tree health and growth. 

Shropshire Council would welcome clarification of the expectation to “make 

provision for the long-term maintenance of both existing and newly planted 

trees” in policy N3(1)(c), as this is overly ambiguous. In particular, the Council 

would welcome clarification of the meanings of ‘provision’ and ‘long term’. 

The definition of Ancient or Veteran Tree differs from that in the current NPPF, 

in that it now applies to “a tree which because of its age, size or condition, is of 

exceptional biodiversity, cultural or heritage value.” Shropshire Council 

considers the minor change in wording could have a significant impact in that 

the word ‘or’ potentially allows the designation of a far greater number of trees 

within or adjacent a development site as ‘ancient or veteran’ - any tree in very 

poor structural condition (with decay, deadwood, hollows, splits or cavities, for 

example), but not necessarily of great age or size, might now qualify as a 

veteran tree and as such be classed an ‘irreplaceable habitat’.  

Shropshire Council is concerned that this could effectively sterilise large areas 

of land within a development site, where veteran trees may be cited as a 

reason to refuse planning permission (see policy N6(2).  

Under the proposed wording, a Local Planning Authority is likely to have to 

more often defend or rebut classification of trees on a development site as 

‘veteran’ status, focused on the definition and understanding of the meaning of 

the words ‘exceptional’ (in terms of biodiversity, cultural or heritage value). 

This is a specialist area of arboriculture that will require either specific training 

for local planning authority tree officers or the hiring external specialist 

consultants, either if which brings increased pressure on a Council’s limited 

resources. 

 

194) Do you agree with the list of Written Ministerial Statements set out in 

Annex A to the draft Framework whose planning content would be 

Page 131



 

91 | P a g e  

 

superseded by the policies proposed in this consultation? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

195) Do you consider the planning regime, including reforms being delivered 

through the Planning and Infrastructure Act, provide sufficient 

flexibility for energy generation projects co-located with data centres 

to be consented under either the NSIP or TCPA regime? Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

No comment. 

a) Please give reasons. 

N/A 

 

196) Would raising the Planning Act 2008 energy generation thresholds for 

renewable projects that are co-located with data centres in England 

(for the reason outlined above) be beneficial? Yes/No 

No comment. 

a) If so, what do you believe would be the appropriate threshold? Please 

provide your reasons.  

N/A 

 

197) Do you have any views on how we should define ‘co-located energy 

infrastructure’? Please provide your reasons. 

No comment. 

 

198) Do you think the renewable energy generation thresholds under 

Section 15 of the Planning Act 2008 for other use types of projects 

should be increased, or should this be limited to projects co-located 

with data centres?  Yes/No 

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons.  

N/A 

Page 132



 

92 | P a g e  

 

 

199) What benefits or risks do you foresee from making this change? Please 

provide your reasons. 

No comment. 

 

200) Would you support the use of growth testing for strategic, multi-phase 

schemes? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

Shropshire Council considers the use of growth testing for larger scale 

development offers the opportunity to reflect changing development viability 

over the build of a development and through this ensure compliance with policy 

requirements. 

However, there is a risk that this could be exploited if growth forecasting 

anticipates developer costs will increase at proportionally higher rates that 

development values. Furthermore, such an approach risks increasing the 

complexity of viability assessment – which risks increasing timescales and cost 

for the determination of planning applications. 

As such, the Council supports the use of growth testing on the proviso that 

these risks are appropriately addressed. 

 

201) Would you support the optional use of growth testing for regeneration 

schemes? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly agree.  

Shropshire Council considers that the use of growth testing for larger scale 

development offers the opportunity to reflect changing development viability 

over the build of a development and through this ensure compliance with policy 

requirements. 

However, there is a risk that this could be exploited if growth forecasting 

anticipates developer costs will increase at proportionally higher rates that 

development values. Furthermore, such an approach risks increasing the 

complexity of viability assessment – which risks increasing timescales and cost 

for the determination of planning applications. 

As such, the Council supports the use of growth testing on the proviso that 

these risks are appropriately addressed. 

 

Page 133



 

93 | P a g e  

 

202) Do you agree greater specificity, including single figures, which local 

planning authorities could choose to diverge from where there is 

evidence for doing so, would improve speed and certainty? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) Please explain your answer. If you agree, the government welcomes 

views on the appropriate figure – for example, whether 17.5% would 

be an appropriate reflection of the industry standard for most market-

led development. 

Shropshire Council recognises that specification of a single figure rather than a 

range for developer returns within viability assessment would provide greater 

clarity than the current range, reducing delays due to unhelpful discussion on 

this matter. However, such an approach places greater importance on setting a 

‘correct’ figure. On balance, the Council considers the positives outweigh the 

negatives. 

With regard to an appropriate figure, Shropshire Council would advocate for 

this being 15%, reflecting the lower point of the current range and positively 

responding to Government aspiration that development maximises the benefits 

for existing and new communities. 

 

203) Are there any site types, tenures, or development models to which 

alternative, lower figures to 15-20% of Gross Development Value 

might reasonably apply?  

Yes 

a) Please explain your answer. The government is particularly interested 

in views on whether clarifying an appropriate profit of 6% on Gross 

Development Value for affordable housing tenures would make 

viability assessments more transparent and speed up decision-making.   

As recognised by Government, there are various forms of development that 

operate different ‘models’ which means the short-term developer return is less 

determinative on whether development is actually viable. This applies to such 

development as build to rent, affordable housing, specialist housing for older 

people and those with disabilities and special needs, and non-residential 

development. The Council considers that specific developer return figures 

should be identified for these uses, at a rate lower than that for market-led 

development, so as to provide greater clarity and reduce delays due to 

unhelpful discussion on this matter. 

 

Page 134



 

94 | P a g e  

 

204) Are there further ways the government can bring greater specificity 

and certainty over profit expectations across landowners, site 

promoters and developers such that the system provides for the level 

of profit necessary for development to proceed, reducing the need for 

subjective expectations? 

Yes 

a) Please explain your answer. 

Shropshire Council considers that there is justification for setting a lower 

developer return figure for sites within the Green Belt / release from the Green 

Belt, recognising that it is appropriate for both landowners and developers to 

‘share’ the reduced ‘hope value’ associated with development in such locations 

so as to support the delivery of additional community benefit. 

 

205) Existing Viability Planning Practice Guidance refers to developer return 

in terms a percentage of gross development value. In what ways might 

the continued use of gross development value be usefully 

standardised? 

Through specification of a single figure rather than a range for developer 

returns. 

 

206) Do you agree there are circumstances in which metrics other than 

profit on gross development value would support more or faster 

housing delivery, or help to maximise compliance with plan policy? 

Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, 

strongly disagree. 

Partly disagree 

a) Please explain your answer. 

Shropshire Council is concerned about the implications for introducing other 

metrics to assess developer returns into viability assessment.  

There is already the concern, whether factual or perception, that viability 

assessment is too sensitive to minor amendments to inputs and deliberately 

obfuscates inputs / calculations in order to achieve desired outcomes and 

reduce potential for challenge. Introducing further metrics for developer returns 

will only enhance complexity and thereby increase these concerns. 

 

207) Are there types of development on which metrics other than profit on 

gross development value should be routinely accepted as a measure of 

Page 135



 

95 | P a g e  

 

return e.g. strategic sites large multi-phased schemes, or build to rent 

schemes?  

Potentially 

a) Please explain your answer. 

As detailed in response to questions 203 and 203a, there are various forms of 

development that operate different ‘models’ which means the short-term 

developer return is less determinative on whether development is actually viable.  

Whilst Shropshire Council would not support introduction of various measures 

of developer return for such development (for the same reasons as detailed in 

response to question 207a) it would support the use of a single alternative 

metric to measure appropriate developer return – where this is more 

responsive to the form of development, transparent and derived from evidence 

on the ground. 

 

208) Do you agree that guidance should be updated to reflect the fact a 

premium may not be required in all circumstances? Strongly agree, partly 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Partly agree 

a) In what circumstances might a premium, or the usual premium, not be 

required? 

Circumstances where the premium or the usual premium may not be required 

include where land is owned by a public sector body or where the landowner 

(such as estates) are altruistic and seeking to meet the development needs of 

the community. 

However, increasing financial pressure on public sector bodies, particularly 

Local Authorities, means circumstances where premiums may not be required 

are reducing and this must be recognised in the NPPF.  

b) What impact (if any) would you foresee if this change were made? 

This change would allow for viability assessment to respond to the aspirations 

of the landowner. 

 

209) Do you agree that extant consents should not be assumed to be 

sufficient proof of alternative use value, unless other provisions 

relating to  set out in plans are met? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither 

agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree. 

Strongly agree 

a) Please explain your answer. 

Page 136



 

96 | P a g e  

 

Shropshire Council is aware that too often land values are inflated due to 

alternative uses that have no realistic prospect of progressing and therefore 

such values are not realistically achievable. 

The Council would advocate clear and transparent ‘tests’ governing the limited 

circumstances where it is appropriate for alternative uses to inform land values 

– these should be the exception rather than the rule. 

 

210) If extant consents were not to be assumed as sufficient proof of 

alternative use value, should this be at the discretion of the decision-

maker, or should another metric (e.g. period of time since consent 

granted) be used? Decision maker discretion / Another metric / Neither 

Decision maker and another metric 

a)  If another metric, please set out your preferred approach and 

rationale. 

Shropshire Council considers that decision maker discretion has value, but is 

concerned this could lead to unnecessary challenge and delay. For this reason, 

it is considered that another metric should be used in combination. 

Specifically, a series of metrics should be identified to inform the decision 

maker discretion on whether alternative uses should be considered when 

establishing land value. 

These metrics should include time since consent being granted, costs 

associated with bringing forward the alternative use, and evidence of demand 

for the alternative use / the alternative use is a realistic alternative as provided 

by the landowner. 

 

211) What further steps should the government take to ensure non-policy 

compliant schemes are not used to inform the determination of 

benchmark land values in the viability assessments that underpin plan-

making? 

No comment. 

 

212) Do you agree that the residual land value of the development proposal 

should be cross-checked with the residual land values of comparable 

schemes; to help set the viability assessment in context. Strongly agree, 

partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.  

Partly agree 

a) Please explain your answer. 

Page 137



 

97 | P a g e  

 

Shropshire Council can see value in such an approach, but it represents an 

additional resource burden on Local Planning Authorities. For this reason, the 

Council would advocate that a national database is established for this purpose, 

which can be drawn on by Local Planning Authorities. This approach has the 

added benefit of considering residual land values of comparable schemes in 

comparable areas. 

 

213) Do you agree that a 2.5 hectare threshold is appropriate? Strongly 

agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly 

disagree.  

Strongly disagree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

Shropshire Council is surprised at the proposal to increase the site size 

threshold within the definition of medium sized sites. This runs contrary to 

Governments wider intentions of ensuring efficient use of land and introducing 

minimum site densities in specified circumstances. 

The Council is concerned this proposal will encourage the inefficient use of land 

– potentially with the intention of ‘filling in gaps’ in the future so as to avoid 

more significant scrutiny and developer contributions. For this reason, it is 

considered that the site size threshold within the definition of medium sized 

sites should remain 1ha. 

 

214) Do you agree that a unit threshold of between 10 and 49 units is 

appropriate? Strongly agree, partly agree, neither agree nor disagree, partly 

disagree, strongly disagree.  

Strongly agree 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

It is considered to represent medium scale development. 

 

215) Do you foresee risks or operability issues anticipated with the 

proposed definition of medium development? Yes/No.  

Yes 

216) If so, please explain you answer and provide views on potential 

mitigations. 

Shropshire Council already experiences the sub-division of schemes and 

planning applications so as to reduce/remove CIL liabilities or delay timescales 

for their payment. There is no reason to assume other opportunities to achieve 

similar effects would not be capitalised upon by the development industry. 

Page 138



 

98 | P a g e  

 

Under the current definitions there is an overlap where the same scheme could 

fall under both major and medium definitions and without guidance as to which 

would take precedent there is ambiguity which could lead to inconsistent 

approaches.   

 

217) Do you have any views on whether the current small development 

exemption should be extended to cover a wider range of sites – 

indicatively to sites of fewer than 50 dwellings, or fewer than 120 

bedspaces in purpose-built student accommodation?  

Shropshire Council is generally supportive of this principle. 

a) Please provide your reasons. 

The developers of such schemes have generally not developed schemes to 

which the building safety levy will be applied. 

However, to be clear the Council would strongly oppose any proposals that 

sought to align this proposed approach to the building safety levy for other 

forms of developer contribution (such as affordable housing). The viability of 

small and medium scale development and its ability to contribute to affordable 

housing and other infrastructure is best established through the plan-making 

process. 

 

218) If the exemption were to be extended, do you have any views on 

whether the development of 120 purpose-built student accommodation 

bedspaces is an appropriate equivalent to a development of 50 

dwellings for the purposes of the levy exemption? 

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons. 

N/A 

 

219) If the exemption were to be extended, do you have any views on 

whether the exemption should be based solely on the existing metrics 

(dwellings/bedspaces) or whether there should also be an area 

threshold.  

If introduced, for consistency with other exemptions the metric would need to 

address units and site size. 

 

220) If you do have views on possible changes to the small developments 

levy exemption, please specify the potential impact of the possible 

Page 139



 

99 | P a g e  

 

change of the levy exemption on people with protected characteristics 

as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

No comment. 

 

221) What do you consider to be the potential economic, competitive, and 

behavioural impacts of possible changes to the levy exemption? Please 

provide any evidence or examples to support your response. 

No comment. 

 

222) Do you agree with the proposal to extend the Permission in Principle 

application route to medium development? Strongly agree, partly agree, 

neither agree nor disagree, partly disagree, strongly disagree.   

No comment. 

a) Please provide your reasons, particularly if you disagree. 

N/A 

 

223) Do you have views about whether there should be changes to the 

regulatory procedures for these applications, including whether there 

should be a requirement for a short planning statement? 

No comment. 

 

224) Do you have any views on the impacts of the above proposals for you, 

or the group or business you represent and on anyone with a relevant 

protected characteristic? 

No comment. 

a) If so, please explain who, which groups, including those with protected 

characteristics, or which businesses may be impacted and how.  

No comment. 

 

225) Is there anything that could be done to mitigate any impact identified? 

No comment. 

 

Page 140



11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  1 

 

 Committee and Date 
 
11th March 2026, Cabinet 

 Item 
 
Strategic Partnerships 
and Spatial 
Development Strategies 
 
 
Public 

 

    
 

 

Strategic Partnerships and  

Spatial Development Strategies 

Responsible Officer: Tanya Miles 

email: tanya.miles@shropshire.gov.uk     

Cabinet Member (Portfolio 
Holders): 

Cllr David Walker and Cllr Rob Wilson 

 
 

1. Synopsis 
 
This report outlines new duties on the Council to work collaboratively at a sub-regional 
level to produce a Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) and sets out a recommended 
response to a government consultation on the preferred geographies for completing an 
SDS. 

 
2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1. The English Devolution White Paper 2024 and the Planning and Infrastructure Act 
2025 set out the Government’s plans for strategic planning at a sub-regional level. 
 

2.2. To meet the Government’s aims of ‘Getting Britain Building Again’ and delivering 
1.5 million homes during this parliament, there is an acknowledgement of the need 
to plan on a larger than local scale, to complement Local Plans prepared by 
individual Local Planning Authorities. Through the Planning and Infrastructure Act 
(2025), the Government has introduced Spatial Development Strategies (SDS) in 
England to achieve this. 

 

2.3. The December 2025 consultation draft of the Government’s revised National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) provides further policy direction on Spatial 
Development Strategies. It makes clear that they are of strategic importance, 
setting out a positive vision for future growth and change at a sub-regional scale 

Page 141

Agenda Item 12

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk
mailto:tanya.miles@shropshire.gov.uk


11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  2 

 

for at least 20 years. They are intended to provide a clear spatial framework for 
investment and growth, including new housing, commercial development and 
infrastructure and enable the long term alignment of labour markets and workforce 
capacity to support delivery. Development of an SDS provides opportunity to work 
collaboratively on development and the use of land, working across borders to set 
out an investment framework that will give certainty and confidence to public and 
private sector investors.   

 
2.4. Whilst formally part of the Development Plan for Shropshire, the SDS is expected 

to be succinct and not get into locally specific detail. It will highlight broad locations 
for growth, but the detailed allocation of land and associated policies will continue 
to be the role and purpose of Shropshire’s Local Plan. However, there is a 
requirement that the Local Plan will need to be in conformity with the SDS. 

 

2.5. With a clear desire to move at pace and achieve national coverage of SDS in a 
reasonable time, the Government has released a consultation on ‘Areas for 
producing spatial development strategies’. Shropshire Council has been 
categorised within a group of authorities where the Government would like to hear 
proposals for an appropriate SDS geography. The Council therefore needs to 
provide a response within the consultation deadline of 26th March 2026. 

 

3. Recommendations 
 

Cabinet agree to: 
 

3.1. Delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Portfolio 
Holders for both Planning and Transport and Economic Growth, responsibility to 
respond to the Government consultation on SDS geographies by 26th March with a 
preferred proposal for Shropshire. 

 
3.2. Delegate to the Chief Executive, and, once appointed, the Executive Director for 

Communities, Growth & Partnerships, responsibility for undertaking proactive 
strategic partnership engagement with neighbouring local authorities within 
England to understand SDS proposals. 

 
3.3. Delegate to the Chief Executive, and, once appointed, the Executive Director for 

Communities, Growth & Partnerships, responsibility to undertake proactive 
strategic partnership engagement with infrastructure providers via formation of a 
Strategic Infrastructure Forum. 

 
3.4. Delegate to the Chief Executive, and, once appointed, the Executive Director for 

Communities, Growth & Partnerships, in consultation with the Leader and Portfolio 
Holders for Planning and Transport and Economic Growth, responsibility for taking 
forward work on the preparation of an SDS, including but not limited to building a 
strategic planning team to lead the SDS and work alongside the team preparing 
Shropshire’s Local Plan, in accordance with government requirements and 
regulations. 

  

Page 142

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk


11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  3 

 

Report 
 

4. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 
 

4.1. The Government consultation on preferred geographies for preparing an SDS 
launched on 12th February and requires the Council to provide an immediate 
response on which other English local authority areas Shropshire will work with to 
prepare an SDS. The consultation deadline is the 26th March 2026.  Whilst initial 
conversations with neighbouring local authorities are ongoing, these have been 
awaiting further steer from government on the scale and scope of the SDS 
requirements in order to help formalise proposals.  There is therefore a risk that 
the Council needs to make a recommendation on a preferred direction for 
Shropshire before fully understanding the ambitions and opportunities for 
collaboration with neighbouring local authority areas.  

 
4.2. The Council needs to carefully consider its response to the consultation alongside 

resourcing an acceleration of strategic partnership working to engage with other 
local authorities and infrastructure providers. Whilst the Council’s recent 
declaration of a financial emergency necessitates a favouring of short-term 
decision making, there is a critical need to resource strategically and meet duties 
under new SDS regulatory requirements. 

 
4.3. Whilst it is a statutory requirement under the Planning and Infrastructure Act 2025, 

the setting of a direction for sustainable growth will enable the Council to convene 
the right people to support delivery and showcase the potential of Shropshire to 
unlock investment. This work is critical to the Council’s transformation under the 
recently adopted Improvement Plan. It is one the main mechanisms through which 
inward investment and economic growth can be achieved and will help to set a 
long-term vision for a new sustainable direction. 

 

4.4. Without a strategic focus, the Council will miss out on regional economic growth 
alongside the Government investment that is intended to stimulate growth. This 
will impact the Council’s longer term financial sustainability and delivery of core 
statutory duties, including the development of a deliverable and sustainable 
Development Plan. 

 

4.5. Whilst there are costs associated with this strategic planning role, MHCLG has 
identified a funding package up to 2028/29 to support new duties requiring the 
preparation of an SDS. Full funding allocations will not be awarded until 
geographies for producing an SDS are confirmed. It is therefore important that 
Shropshire Council is proactive in responding to the current government 
consultation and in engaging strategically with neighbouring local authorities and 
infrastructure providers. This work can utilise existing expertise across the 
strategic partnerships, planning and economic growth functions albeit there is an 
important need to twin track with the preparation of Shropshire’s Local Plan. 
Resourcing the work on the SDS should not risk Local Plan work but is 
complementary strategic planning and partnership activity that requires its own 
additional resourcing. 

 

4.6. In tandem with the development of Shropshire’s Local Plan, work on an SDS will 
provide clarity on the growth and infrastructure delivery focus for the Council. It will 

Page 143

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk


11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  4 

 

ensure that limited staff and funding resources are deployed in the most effective 
and efficient manner to maximise benefits to Shropshire businesses and 
communities, aligned to the Council’s Improvement Plan and People Plan.  

 

4.7. A proactive and targeted approach to strategic place making provides opportunity 
for the Council to identify the strategic priorities and growth opportunities that 
matter most to Shropshire. It will drive collaboration that supports delivery and 
ensure that there is a move away from a focus on project specific funding 
opportunities. This work will ensure alignment of resources on the strategic 
direction and priorities for the council and county as a whole. 

 

5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1. Shropshire Council continues to manage unprecedented financial demands, and a 
financial emergency was declared by Cabinet on 10 September 2025. The overall 
financial position of the Council is set out in the monitoring position presented to 
Cabinet on a monthly basis. Significant management action has been instigated at 
all levels of the Council reducing spend to ensure the Council's financial survival. 
While all reports to Members provide the financial implications of decisions being 
taken, this may change as officers and/or Portfolio Holders review the overall 
financial situation and make decisions aligned to financial survivability. All non-
essential spend will be stopped and all essential spend challenged. These actions 
may involve (this is not exhaustive):   

• scaling down initiatives,   

• changing the scope of activities,   

• delaying implementation of agreed plans, or   

• extending delivery timescales. 
 

6. Climate Change Appraisal 
 

6.1. The SDS provides a strategic and integrated approach to future planning for the 
sub region.  This includes a specific requirement to consider the needs of the 
natural environment and address strategic challenges such as climate change. 
 

6.2. As a key document within the Development Plan for Shropshire, it will work 
alongside Shropshire’s Local Plan to provide the policy framework for future 
growth including the use of land and infrastructure.  It is therefore a key 
mechanism for addressing climate adaptation and resilience. 

 

7. Background 
 

7.1. To meet the Government’s manifesto commitment of ‘Getting Britain Building 
Again’ there is a national focus on planning for growth on a larger scale. To 
address this, the government believes it is necessary to introduce new 
mechanisms for cross boundary strategic planning. 
 

7.2. The English Devolution White Paper (Dec 2024) established the intention to 
introduce mandatory strategic planning through the preparation of Spatial 
Development Strategies (SDS). The Planning and Infrastructure Act (Dec 2025) 
added further detail and placed new responsibilities on combined authorities, 
combined county authorities, upper tier councils and unitary authorities to prepare 

Page 144

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk


11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  5 

 

an SDS, The Government’s ambition is to have full SDS coverage within this 
Parliament.  
 

7.3. As a unitary authority for an area that does not form part of a combined authority, 
Shropshire Council has a new statutory responsibility to prepare an SDS either for 
the county of Shropshire or with others. 

 

7.4. An SDS plays a key role in the government’s central mission of supporting 
economic growth, by setting a positive vision for future growth and change at a 
sub-regional scale and providing a clear spatial framework for investment and 
growth, including new housing. It will play an important role in achieving the 
Government’s objective of delivering 1.5million homes across this Parliament. 

 

7.5. The draft National Planning Policy Framework provides an outline scope for the 
content of an SDS, indicating that the content should be strategic in nature by: 

• Setting a sustainable pattern of growth covering at least 20 years. 

• Identifying broad locations for strategic development (but not site 
allocations). 

• Supporting economic growth by providing a cross boundary spatial 
framework for strategic investment, including alignment with employment, 
skills and labour market priorities, and giving spatial expression to Local 
Growth Plans. 

 

8. Identifying areas of potential change to Green Belt boundaries to 
inform Local Plans. 

• Identifying broad locations for nature conservation, habitat enhancement, 
restoration and creation.  

• Setting the type, extent and broad location of strategic infrastructure 
needed to enable development – transport, social and waste, utilities, 
flood risk, minerals. 

    
8.1. The recent consultation government document makes clear that an SDS should 

not be viewed as a big Local Plan but does form part of the Development Plan. It 
must therefore be monitored and kept up to date as well as be consulted on in a 
similar manner to local plans and be publicly examined and approved by the 
Secretary of State. 

 

8.2. The initial step of producing an SDS involves establishing appropriate 
geographies. Under the Planning and Infrastructure Act 2025, combined, 
combined county upper tier and unitary authorities (not within a combined 
authority) are considered ‘principal authorities’ and as such are strategic planning 
authorities. They can join together to form a Strategic Planning Board (SPB) 
forming multiple authorities in a joint committee to work together to prepare an 
SDS. 

 

8.3. The Secretary of State has the power to intervene to form a Strategic Planning 
Board, where they consider it is needed, including where they deem insufficient 
progress is being made on establishing an appropriate geographical basis for 
preparing an SDS. However, the government consultation launched on the 12th 
February asks local authorities to provide a response on their preferred geography 
for completing an SDS.   

 

Page 145

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk


11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  6 

 

8.4. For a number of English authorities further ahead with government conversations 
and priority programmes for English devolution, the consultation document sets 
out the suggested geography for their SDS coverage.  The below map illustrates 
these government groupings. 

 

 
 

8.5. In Shropshire’s case, government has not provided a steer but categorised the 
county within a grouping of ‘remaining areas where government wants to hear 
proposals for an appropriate SDS geography’. The Council has until the 26th 
March to provide a response to government, setting out a preferred approach 
and reasoning for this suggested geographical area. 
 

8.6. In considering suitable geographies, Government has acknowledged the 
preparation of an SDS is likely to be precursor for a potential future devolution 
structure, with the intention to see progress towards national coverage of mayoral 
combined authorities. This is why the criteria we are now being asked to consider 
aligns with those in the English Devolution White paper (Dec 2024): 

Page 146

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk


11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  7 

 

• have combined populations of over 1.5million, wherever possible; 

• support alignment of public service boundaries such as Integrated Health 
Boards, Police and Crime Commissioners and Fire and Rescue 
Authorities; 

• ensure that areas are not left as ‘islands’ whereby they are too small to 
go it alone or don’t have a natural partner.  

 
8.7. Considering the groupings provided by MHCLG in the consultation document, it 

is evident that Shropshire has limited options available for consideration. 
 

8.8. As a unitary authority, the Council could consider taking forward the SDS 
requirements alone and using the county boundary as a suitable geography. 
However, this would not meet the government intention for an SDS to be high 
level and focused on genuinely strategic, cross boundary issues. It would also 
not achieve public service alignment. It risks leaving Telford and Wrekin authority 
as a potential ‘island’ and offers little benefit to the Council since the work on an 
SDS would likely replicate much of the more localised considerations that should 
be contained within Shropshire’s Local Plan. With a population of 323,600 (2021 
Census), the Shropshire Council area has well under the 1.5 million population 
proposed by government for Strategic Authority areas. As a consequence, there 
is a strong risk the Government would reject a proposal for Shropshire to produce 
an SDS alone. 

 

8.9. An alternative option is for Shropshire to seek collaboration with Telford and 
Wrekin Council. Given travel to work patterns and local labour markets, alongside 
the alignment of employment and skills systems, there are clear 
interdependencies between these areas. The collaboration would also support 
delivery of key functions given the two authorities already collaborate on wider 
statutory requirements such as the Local Nature Recovery Strategy; a key 
strategy that a future SDS must take account of and the Local Visitor Economy 
Partnership. The partnering would ensure a proposed geography that is 
contiguous and does not create a devolution ‘island’. However, feedback would 
need to be sought in terms of whether this geography meets the ambition of 
strategic scale, given the combined population would be c500,000 rather than the 
1.5million proposed by government. 

 

8.10. A third option for Shropshire would be to seek collaboration with both Telford and 
Wrekin Council and Herefordshire Council. There is an historic partnering across 
the geography through the former Marches Local Enterprise Partnership and 
therefore an identity that local residents and partners are familiar with. However, 
the combined population would remain at c700,000 and therefore still below the 
strategic scale sought by government. Strategic engagement is also required with 
Herefordshire Council to understand their partnering preferences, particularly 
given that their other neighbouring areas such as Worcestershire and 
Gloucestershire have also been identified under the government’s group 4 
categorisation of ‘remaining areas where government wants to hear proposals for 
an appropriate SDS geography’. 

 

8.11. To meet the Government’s ambition of scale, the final option for Shropshire 
would be to seek a larger collaboration across Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin, 
Herefordshire, Worcestershire and Gloucestershire. This area has a combined 
population of c1.2million and therefore nearer the 1.5million scale sought by 
government.  There is also some logic in terms of the identity for this regional 

Page 147

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk


11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  8 

 

geography, with all authorities being rurally based and following the River Severn 
and Wye river basin, as evidenced through the strategic partnership work already 
underway through the River Severn Partnership. However, there is potentially 
less alignment with existing public service boundaries such as health. 

 

8.12. Given the lack of maturity in the existing conversations with neighbouring areas 
over their SDS plans (particularly following the launch of the recent government 
consultation) there is critical need for Shropshire to undertake strategic 
partnership working across all options. However, this will be ongoing work whilst 
there is an immediate need to meet the government consultation deadline of 26th 
March. 

 

8.13. On this basis, the recommended approach for the Council is to provide a 
response to meet the consultation deadline but test the government’s view on 
strategic scale. This should focus on understanding whether a partnering at a 
smaller scale, such as Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin would be supported. 
This response should then be twin tracked with proactive engagement across all 
strategic partnership options with neighbouring local authorities to understand 
areas of shared interest and preferred options for future SDS geographies. 

 

8.14. Subject to agreement on this paper and the Council’s subsequent response to 
the government consultation, the feedback on preferred approaches will be used 
to identify prospective strategic planning authorities with responsibility for 
producing an SDS. This will allow collaboration as a strategic planning board and 
enable preparatory work on an SDS. However, SDS areas will not be formally 
agreed until after the draft secondary legislation has been laid in Parliament 
which is expected in summer 2026. 

 

8.15. It is also important that the Council continues to proactively shape its strategic 
planning and partnership approach in readiness for an SDS. The consultation 
document sets out further steps local authorities should be taking to prepare, 
including engaging with infrastructure providers and potentially establishing a 
strategic infrastructure board or forum. 

 

8.16. Shropshire Council previously convened a Strategic Infrastructure Forum for 
Shropshire in which localised intelligence was shared with key partners using 
forward looking projections to 2050. The aim of the forum was to provide a 
coordinated basis for joint infrastructure and investment planning. It was very well 
received by partners as a framework for alignment across investment plans and 
as a means to focus more strategically on future needs and opportunities. Whilst 
resource constraints have meant this work hasn’t been prioritised over recent 
years, the approach does provide an established model for engaging with 
infrastructure providers as part of the SDS. It could also provide additional value 
to the Council in terms of helping to shape a robust investment pipeline and 
associated delivery plan. 

 

9. Conclusions 
 

9.1. Preparation of an SDS is a new statutory requirement set out within the Planning 
and Infrastructure Act (2025). Whilst secondary legislation is planned for summer 
2026 to formalise the arrangements for SDS development, a current government 
consultation is seeking an urgent steer on preferred geographies for this strategic 
planning requirement. 

Page 148

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk


11th March 2026 Cabinet, Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies 

Contact:  Hayley Deighton, hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk  9 

 

 
9.2. Whilst it is important the Council undertakes strategic partnership working with 

neighbouring local authorities to understand shared ambitions and opportunity for 
collaboration on an SDS, there is an urgent need to submit a response to 
government on the current consultation. 

 

9.3. Most of the options for Shropshire only meet some of the criteria from government 
on suitable geographies for completing an SDS. In all cases, the scale of the 
proposed geographical option falls below a suggested scale of 1.5million 
population. This reflects the rural nature of Shropshire and neighbouring local 
authority areas. 

 

9.4. On this basis, the recommended approach for the Council is to respond to meet 
the consultation deadline but test the government’s view on strategic scale. This 
should focus on understanding whether a partnering at a smaller scale, such as 
Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin would be supported. 

 

9.5. This response should be twin tracked with proactive strategic partnership 
engagement with neighbouring local authorities and infrastructure providers to 
provide a more considered approach to future strategic planning for the sub-
region. It must ensure the necessary frameworks and resourcing is in place to take 
forward the Council’s strategic planning duties.  

 
 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information) 

None. 

Local Member:  All members 

Appendices [Please list the titles of Appendices] 

None. 

 

Page 149

mailto:hayley.deighton@shropshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	9 Local Nature Recovery Strategy
	Appendix 1 LNRS Consultation Overview Report Jan 26v2
	Appendix 2 EJ Response from PrePublication Panel Final Signed_

	10 Shropshire Council response to draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
	Appendix 1 Shropshire Council Response - Proposed Reform of the NPPF

	12 Strategic Partnerships and Spatial Development Strategies



